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Mouchel is a consulting and business 
services group that improves the 
day-to-day lives of millions of people  
by providing many of the design, 
management and operational skills 
needed to maintain our essential 
infrastructure and services.

Our aims are to deliver better quality 
public services; to improve the way in 
which public infrastructure is planned, 
designed, constructed and operated;  
to play a part in creating the sort of 
communities in which people want to live; 
and to make a positive and sustainable 
difference through what we do.

We go the extra mile – and more – to do 
the right thing for our clients, lead the 
way in our markets, keep our promises  
to our people and make a fair return for 
our investors. 
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Highlights

Highlights Financial highlights
•		Revenue	growth	of	13%,	increasing	revenues	to	

£740.6m,	including	organic	revenue	growth	of	9%;

•		Underlying	operating	profit1	up	13%	to	£47.3m,	with	
underlying	operating	margins1	maintained	at	6.4%;

•		Exceptional	items	include	significant	restructuring	and	
asset	impairment	charges	totalling	£50.0m	arising	as		
a	result	of	restructuring	the	Group’s	activities	in	the	
Middle	East,	Management	Consulting	and	Rail;

•		Adjusted	earnings	per	share1,2	increased	3%	from		
25.7p	to	26.4p	and	dividend	per	share3	for	the	year	
maintained	at	6.10p;

•		Year-end	net	borrowings	reduced	from	£111.6m		
to	£101.3m	since	the	half-year;	and

•		Continuing	good	visibility	of	future	earnings	with	forward	
order	book	of	£1.9bn	and	bidding	pipeline	of	£2.2bn.

Business highlights
•		Good	progress	made	in	addressing	challenges	

encountered	during	the	year,	with	most	now		
largely	resolved:

	 –		Middle	East	contract	receivables	being	collected,		
with	£15.0m	impairment	charge	made	against	assets	
considered	at	risk,

	 –		Management	Consulting	strengthened	through	
appointment	of	new	senior	team	and	restructuring		
of	the	business	to	reflect	current	market	conditions,

	 –		Rail	market	withdrawal	substantially	completed		
having	now	largely	concluded	outstanding	client	
commitments,

	 –		Contract	win-rate	for	the	second	half	of	the	year	
restored	to	within	target	range	of	one-in-three	to	
two-in-five	of	opportunities	tendered	by	value.	

•		Core	business	continuing	to	perform	strongly,	including	
good	progress	in	extending	major	local	authority	
partnership	contracts.

1		Underlying	operating	profit,	underlying	operating	margins	and	adjusted	earnings		
per	share	exclude	those	items	which	the	Group	presents	as	exceptional	items	in	the	
accounts	(including	the	annual	amortisation	of	intangible	assets	arising	from	business	
combinations)	–	see	note	3	of	the	Financial	Statements	for	further	details.	

2		Adjusted	earnings	per	share	is	calculated	after	adding	back	shares	held	by	the	
employee	share	trusts	to	the	weighted	average	number	of	shares	and	adjusting	
earnings	for	exceptional	items	(net	of	taxation).

3	Includes	paid	and	proposed	dividends	in	respect	of	the	year.
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Mouchel at a glance

Mouchel 
at a glance

Mouchel is a consulting and business services group that 
improves the day-to-day lives of millions of people by 
providing the design, management and operational skills 
needed to transform essential public services and sustain 
vital infrastructure. 

We provide safer, more reliable roads. We create better 
learning environments and more sustainable waste 
solutions. We provide cleaner water and improved public 
health. We help authorities improve their citizen services and 
reap the rewards of new technology. We help companies 
become greener and share in the dividends of sustainability. 

At Mouchel, we touch the lives of almost every citizen in 
Britain, day and night.

Government Services

Regulated Industries

Highways

Percentage of Group revenue

>	Revenue:	£303.8m
>	Underlying	operating	profit:	£14.5m
>	Order	book1:	£1,116m	
>	Number	of	staff1:	4,741

41%

Percentage of Group revenue

>	Revenue:	£180.9m
>	Underlying	operating	profit:	£13.0m
>	Order	book1:	£217m
>	Number	of	staff1:	2,172

24%

Percentage of Group revenue

>	Revenue:	£255.8m
>	Underlying	operating	profit:	£19.8m
>	Order	book1:	£530m
>	Number	of	staff1:	3,997

35%

1	At	31	July	2009
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Chairman’s Statement  We believe that we will continue to benefit 
from sustained public expenditure in  
our markets and from our strong focus  
on the provision of essential services  
and maintenance of vital infrastructure. 
 
There is no reason why we should not see  
the challenges of the last year as a one-off 
occurrence for Mouchel; and a pause for 
breath. We therefore remain confident about 
our future prospects.

This	has	been	a	difficult	year	for	Mouchel;	the	most	challenging	
since	our	flotation	on	the	London	Stock	Market	in	2002.	Some		
of	these	challenges	have	been	caused	by	the	conditions	in	the	
markets	in	which	we	operate;	and	some	have	been	particular	
to	Mouchel.	The	impact	has	been	that	in	June	we	guided	the	
market	to	expect	profits	around	15%	lower	than	we	had	originally	
expected;	and	in	these	year-end	accounts	we	have	reported	
exceptional	costs	of	£53.6m	associated	with	restructuring	some	
businesses	in	the	Group	(£7.4m	of	this	is	the	amortisation	of	
intangible	assets	arising	from	business	combinations	and	£17.1m		
is	the	write-off	of	goodwill	and	intangible	assets	as	a	result	of	our	
decision	to	substantially	exit	the	rail	sector).	This	has	obviously		
been	very	disappointing	for	everyone	associated	with	Mouchel.	
But	it’s	important	to	keep	this	disappointment	in	perspective.	

In	the	year	to	31	July	2009,	Group	revenue	grew	by	13%	to	
£740.6m.	Underlying	operating	profit	also	grew	by	13%	to	£47.3m.	
Operating	margins	were	unchanged	at	6.4%	although	we	still	aspire	
to	margins	of	8%	for	the	Group	as	a	whole	in	the	medium-term.	
Adjusted	earnings	per	share	were	26.4p,	an	increase	of	3%	on		
the	previous	year.	And	we	will	pay	a	dividend	for	the	year	of	6.10p;	
maintaining	the	same	level	as	the	prior	year.	Our	Highways	business	
became	the	number	one	player	in	its	market.	Mouchel	retained	its	
position	as	one	of	the	Sunday	Times	‘Top	20	Best	Big	Companies	
to	Work	For’	in	the	UK.	In	August	2009,	we	entered	the	new	financial	
year	with	an	order	book	of	£1.9bn	and	a	pipeline	of	bidding	
opportunities	of	£2.2bn.

At	Mouchel	our	standards	are	very	high,	largely	as	a	result	of		
our	past	performance	and	the	success	that	we	have	achieved;	
year-on-year	growth	in	revenue,	underlying	operating	profits		
and	earnings	per	share	all	average	more	than	20%	per	annum		
in	the	seven	years	since	flotation.	Our	performance	last	year	was	
influenced	by	our	withdrawal	from	the	rail	sector	and	by	the	impact	
of	the	economic	downturn	in	our	Middle	East	and	Management	
Consulting	businesses.	These	issues	clouded	what	was	otherwise	
another	year	of	growth	and	strong	performance	in	our	core	
business.	What	investors,	clients	and	staff	need	to	know	is	that		
we	have	taken	steps	to	address	these	issues,	making	us	better	
placed	to	face	the	challenges	ahead.

Chairman’s Statement

Bo Lerenius
Chairman

O
verview
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Chairman’s Statement

The challenges we have faced
Local	authorities,	responsible	for	around	two-thirds	of	our	revenue,	
are	probably	one	of	the	last	sectors	of	the	economy	to	enter	
recession;	the	latest	three-year	settlement	with	central	government	
means	that	much	of	their	funding	is	almost	certainly	secure	until	
March	2011.	However,	these	authorities	have	already	faced	falling	
developer	contributions,	reduced	parking	revenues,	lower	receipts	
from	business	rates	and	the	burden	of	extra	benefit	payments.	
Many	have	already	reined	back	expenditure	accordingly,	and	many	
are	facing	up	to	a	future	where	there	will	be	less	money	to	spend	
but	further	demands	for	yet	more	efficient	delivery	of	better	quality	
services.	The	response	of	many	authorities,	particularly	second-tier	
councils,	is	to	look	to	shared	services,	job	sharing	and	partnership	
as	a	way	of	meeting	these	requirements,	rather	than	cutting	
front-line	services.	These	trends	represent	significant	opportunity	
for	Mouchel.

A	key	impact	on	our	in-year	performance	has	been	the	sudden	
collapse	of	the	property	market	in	Dubai	towards	the	end	of	2008.	
In	the	early	part	of	this	decade	we	pulled	out	of	almost	all	of	our	
legacy	overseas	activities,	the	significant	exception	being	the	Middle	
East.	In	2003,	we	employed	less	than	50	staff	in	Dubai	and	Abu	
Dhabi;	by	the	autumn	of	2008	this	number	had	grown	to	nearly	
800,	fuelled	by	the	rapid	pace	of	development,	largely	in	Dubai.	This	
boom	ended	abruptly	in	November	last	year	and	we	were	forced	to	
lay-off	over	half	of	our	staff	in	the	region	as	projects	were	cancelled		
or	put	on	hold.	We	were	left	with	significant	debts	and	over	the	last	
nine	to	10	months	we	have	been	negotiating	a	settlement	with	our	
key	clients	in	Dubai,	the	anticipated	outcome	of	which	is	reflected		
in	the	accounts	for	the	year	ended	31	July	2009,	having	taken	an	
impairment	charge	of	£15.0m	against	contract	receivables.	

Some	departments	of	central	government	have	been	the	target	for	
the	so-called	‘fiscal	stimulus’.	We	have	benefited	in	the	year	from	
some	of	this	additional	expenditure,	most	notably	in	Highways.	But	
central	government	procurement	of	consulting	services	has	slowed	
markedly	and	this	started	to	affect	our	Management	Consulting	
business	at	the	end	of	2008.	This	business	lacks	the	visibility	of	other	
parts	of	the	Group	and	is	extremely	sensitive	to	top-line	fluctuations.	

The	speed	of	the	downturn	meant	that	we	did	not	reduce	staff	
costs	and	overheads	quickly	enough	to	match	the	lower	levels		
of	demand	and	this	impacted	profits.	We	were,	however,	able	to	
complete	the	right-sizing	of	the	business	in	the	spring.	At	the	same	
time	we	appointed	a	new	management	team	to	take	the	business	
forward	and	took	the	opportunity	to	revise	the	business	model	and	
reduce	overheads.	It	is	still	early	days	and	we	know	there	are	further	
challenges	ahead,	not	least	because	of	the	hiatus	that	a	general	
election	will	create	for	this	division.	But	we	have	started	the	new	
financial	year	well	and	are	optimistic	that	we	will	be	able	to	meet		
or	beat	the	more	cautious	budget	set	for	this	particular	business	
stream	in	2009/10;	and	provide	a	stepping	stone	to	improving	
further	in	2010/11.	

In	Rail,	our	efforts	to	achieve	a	more	significant	position	in		
Network	Rail’s	supply	chain	–	by	moving	(in	2005)	into	maintenance	
contracting	and	signalling	installation	–	has	not	been	successful.		
We	have	not	secured	the	volume	of	work	that	we	expected;	and		
the	work	we	have	secured	has	not	been	as	successful	as	we	would	
have	liked.	Investors	have	been	aware	of	this	for	some	time.	But	then	
in	April	2009	we	were	unsuccessful	in	the	retender	of	our	long-term	
structural	examination	and	assessment	contracts	with	Network	Rail.	
As	a	result	we	have	now	substantially	exited	the	rail	sector.	

Finally,	our	win-rate,	so	successful	throughout	the	period	since	
flotation,	had,	for	the	first	time,	slipped	outside	our	target	range		
of	one-in-three	to	two-in-five	(of	all	tenders	by	value),	during	the	
second	half	of	2007/08	and	the	first	half	of	2008/09.	This	meant	
that	turnover	has	not	grown	organically	as	fast	as	in	previous	
periods.	We	have	examined	the	reasons	behind	this	performance	
and	taken	a	number	of	steps	to	improve	the	situation.	Encouragingly,	
we	restored	the	win-rate	to	within	the	target	range	during	the	
second	half	of	the	year	and	the	signs	are	that	we	will	be	able	to	
maintain	this	improved	performance	into	2009/10	and	beyond.

The opportunities ahead
So,	as	is	often	the	case,	these	challenges	also	bring	opportunities.	
While	we	expect	less	buoyant	market	conditions	to	persist	for		
some	time,	it	is	important	to	remember	that	Mouchel	is	positioned	
defensively,	with	over	93%	of	our	contracted	revenue	being	derived	
from	long-term	contracts	with	the	UK	public	sector	and	public	
service	industries.	Furthermore,	almost	everything	we	do	is	
connected	with	sustaining	vital	infrastructure	and	maintaining	
essential	services.	This	work	will	continue,	whether	it	is	managing	
the	maintenance	of	motorways	and	schools	or	collecting	council	tax	
and	administering	payroll;	and	much	of	our	work	is	driven	by	safety,	
by	legislation	and	by	the	need	to	preserve	the	environment.

We	are	confident	that	the	continued	pursuit	of	a	strategy	that		
is	focused	on	outsourcing	and	on	the	provision	of	long-term	
managed	services	to	the	UK	public	sector	is	the	right	way	forward	
for	Mouchel.	The	next	Government	will	address	the	debt	burden	
through	a	range	of	measures	that	will	include	spending	less,	
disposing	of	assets,	raising	taxes	and	improving	efficiency.	Spending	
less	means	that	many	capital	schemes	and	grants	will	cease	or	
‘move	to	the	right’	–	we	do	not	expect	to	be	affected	significantly		
by	this.	Asset	disposals	present	opportunity	for	the	private	sector,	
particularly	those	companies	who	have	relevant	experience	and	
market	presence.	Raising	taxes	will	hit	individuals	and	businesses,	
but	we	don’t	expect	that	this	will	otherwise	adversely	impact	our	
day-to-day	activities;	indeed	it	could	possibly	be	favourable	to	
Mouchel	as	all	arms	of	government	examine	the	scope	for	top-up	
arrangements	or	systems	of	co-payment.	Improving	efficiency		
is	not	new;	but	it	will	surely	gather	pace.	This	will	manifest	itself		
in	many	ways;	shared	services,	cost	reduction	and	above	all,		
service	transformation.	

Chairman’s Statement
(continued)

O
verview
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 5,000
public buildings and  
3,000 schools maintained  
by Mouchel.

It	is	the	latter	that	excites	us	most,	as	local	authorities	look	to	
modernise,	rationalise	and	spend	less,	seeking	to	deliver	more	
efficiently	even	better	quality	services	to	citizens	and	communities.	
Our	acquisition	of	HBS,	the	Business	Process	Outsourcing		
(BPO)	specialists,	in	August	2007,	was	followed	by	that	of	Hedra,	
the	management	consultants,	in	March	2008.	Both	have	positioned	
us	very	well	for	the	growing	number	of	opportunities.	

In	our	view,	the	talk	of	impending	melt-down	in	public	sector	
spending	has	been	very	much	overdone.	There	will	be	job	cuts	and	
a	slowdown	in	capital	works;	and	a	fresh	look	at	which	services	are	
a	priority.	However,	with	our	focus	primarily	on	the	management,	
maintenance	and	enhancement	of	existing	assets,	services	and	
infrastructure,	we	expect	a	repeat	of	previous	recessions,	whereby	
outsourcing	opportunities	increase.	Indeed,	we	are	already	seeing	
many	signs	that	this	will	be	the	case,	with	a	growing	pipeline	of		
BPO	and	‘bundled’	service	bidding	prospects	coming	to	market		
in	the	next	year.

On	top	of	this,	highways	and	traffic	will	continue	to	be	a		
growth	sector	for	Mouchel.	We	have	successfully	developed	this	
business	in	recent	years,	from	study	and	design,	to	maintenance	
management	and	to	the	design	and	implementation	of	measures	
which	provide	greater	capacity	from	the	infrastructure	assets,		
often	involving	the	use	of	advanced	technology.	The	latter	includes	
control	and	communications,	traveller	information,	speed	controls,	
traffic	flow	regulation,	road-user	charging	and	parking	enforcement.	
The	UK	Highways	Agency	has	embarked	upon	a	programme	of	
investment	in	‘Managed	Motorways’	which	embraces	many	of	
these	techniques	–	private	sector	ownership	and	operation	of	the	
asset	may	be	the	next	step.	We	are	a	market	leader	in	many	of	
these	areas	and	foresee	huge	opportunity	to	deploy	our	expertise	
and	skills.	

The	water	utility	sector	is	nearing	the	end	of	its	current	five-year	
Asset	Management	Planning	(AMP)	cycle	and,	predictably,	has	
slowed	down	as	the	individual	water	companies	manage	their		
highly	geared	balance	sheets	and	prepare	for	the	new	AMP5	cycle,	
which	begins	in	April	2010.	We	expect	to	see	a	corresponding	
increase	in	activity	in	this	sector	once	the	Regulator	approves		
the	new	spending	proposals	of	the	water	companies	and	the	new	
cycle	begins.	The	likelihood	is	that	the	utility	companies	will	have	
more	to	spend	in	AMP5	than	in	the	last	quinquennium,	especially		
in	the	major	urban	areas.	Mouchel	is	a	top	two	provider	in	this	
sector	and	as	such	we	are	well	placed	to	assist	with	this	activity.

People
It	has	been	a	privilege	for	me	to	be	appointed	as	Chairman	of	
Mouchel.	I	want	to	thank	my	predecessor,	Richard	Benton,	on	
behalf	of	the	Board	for	his	determination	and	leadership	since	the	
Group’s	flotation.	He	can	be	rightly	proud	of	his	achievements.	My	
objective	is	to	work	with	the	Board	and	the	executive	team	to	build	
on	the	foundations	that	have	been	laid	since	2002,	taking	Mouchel	
into	new	territory	in	terms	of	scale.

Our	people	all	have	a	passion	and	enthusiasm	for	public	services,	
for	making	everyday	life	better	for	citizens	and	for	making	a	real	
difference	in	society.	The	breadth	of	our	activities	and	the	depth		
of	our	experience	are	truly	amazing	and	I	have	been	tremendously	
impressed	by	the	range	of	talent	that	the	Company	possesses.		
At	31	July	2009,	Mouchel	employed	11,121	people,	some	2%		
less	than	at	the	same	time	a	year	ago,	reflecting	the	lay-offs	in		
the	Gulf,	some	reduction	of	headcount	in	the	UK	and	also	the	
increased	efficiency	with	which	we	have	been	able	to	deliver	
earnings	growth.	This	was	partly	offset	by	growth	in	headcount		
from	new	commissions	which	started	during	the	year.

Outlook
The	economic	outlook	clearly	remains	challenging;	and	there		
will	be	a	general	election	next	year.	This	brings	uncertainty	but	also	
opportunity	for	Mouchel.	We	believe	that	we	will	continue	to	benefit	
from	sustained	public	expenditure	in	our	markets	and	from	our	strong	
focus	on	the	provision	of	essential	services	and	maintenance	of	vital	
infrastructure.	We	are	also	increasingly	seeing	opportunities	to	help	
public	sector	organisations	transform	service	delivery,	save	costs		
and	provide	public	services	more	efficiently.	Our	prospects	continue	
to	be	underpinned	by	the	visibility	of	a	strong	order	book	and	by	the	
confidence	we	derive	from	a	very	healthy	bidding	pipeline.	

We	don’t	expect	to	be	short	of	opportunity	–	winning	work	will	
therefore	continue	to	be	the	number	one	issue	for	us,	converting	not	
just	the	big	ticket	bids	but	also	the	everyday	business	opportunities	
that	arise	from	our	reputation	in	the	industry	and	from	our	standing	as	
a	trusted	partner	to	the	public	sector	and	public	service	organisations.	
We	have	an	outstanding	team	of	people.	As	a	result,	I	have	every	
confidence	that	Mouchel	will	continue	to	prosper.	There	is	no	reason	
why	we	should	not	see	the	challenges	of	the	last	year	as	a	one-off	
occurrence	for	Mouchel;	and	a	pause	for	breath.	We	therefore	
remain	confident	about	our	future	prospects.

Bo Lerenius
Chairman

O
verview
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Business Review
Overview

In	2008/09	Mouchel	has	faced	challenging	economic	conditions		
in	its	core	markets,	arising	from	the	global	slowdown	and	the	
resulting	pressure	on	public	sector	finances.	In	addition,	we	have	
needed	to	address	some	specific	challenges	in	our	own	business;		
a	rapid	decline	in	Middle	East	orders,	the	failure	of	our	Rail	business	
to	secure	a	sustainable	volume	of	new	work,	and	integration	
difficulties	following	the	acquisition	of	management	consulting	
practice,	Hedra,	in	the	last	financial	year.	

Despite	these	challenges	we	have	achieved	good	revenue	growth	
and	an	underlying	pre-tax	profit	exceeding	that	of	previous	years.		
We	have	ended	the	year	with	a	robust	order	book	and	pipeline		
and	a	business	that	has	a	more	diverse	service	mix	than	ever		
before.	We	have	a	strong	and	effective	management	team,	and		
a	workforce	that	is	motivated,	capable	and	lean,	and	a	business	
model	that	remains	relevant	and	sustainable	to	the	market	in		
which	we	now	operate.	

We	owe	this	position	to	the	people	right	across	the	business,		
who	have	collectively	turned	our	plans	and	ideas	into	value-adding	
services,	and	to	our	clients,	who	have	placed	their	trust	and	
confidence	in	our	ability	to	deliver	essential	services	to	their	public,	
day-in,	day-out.	

Few	could	have	predicted	the	scale	of	economic	change	that	has	
taken	place	in	our	markets	during	the	past	12	months	but	in	change	
there	is	opportunity	and	for	Mouchel	this	will	be	as	a	result	of	our	
proven	ability	to	strengthen	and	improve	performance	in	client	
organisations.	Going	forward,	the	emphasis	in	the	UK	public	sector	
will	be	on	efficiency,	value-for-money,	better	asset	utilisation,	and	
the	remodelling	of	public	services	to	balance	long-term	budgetary	
constraints	with	rising	citizen	expectations.	Mouchel’s	ability	to	
combine	strategic	advice	and	transformational	services,	advanced	
technological	capabilities,	and	an	established	track-record	as	a	
delivery	partner	in	each	of	our	core	sectors	is	fundamental	to	our	
offer	and	equips	us	to	build	a	business	that	adds	value	to	both	our	
shareholders	and	to	society.	This	is	becoming	a	clear	differentiator	
for	the	Group	and	remains	central	to	our	business	model		
going	forward.	

Richard Cuthbert
Chief	Executive

Kevin Young
Group	Finance	Director

Mouchel’s ability to combine strategic  
advice and transformational services, 
advanced technological capabilities,  
and an established track-record as a  
delivery partner in each of our core  
sectors is fundamental to our offer.
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Objectives
Mouchel’s	principal	business	objective	is	to	win	and	deliver	
profitable	business	through	long-term	partnerships	with	public	
sector	and	public	service	industries;	bringing	about	sustainable	
shareholder	value,	clear	visibility	of	future	earnings,	fruitful	and	
dynamic	customer	relationships,	and	employee	confidence		
and	loyalty.	

We	will	continue	to	develop	a	business	that	is	highly	cash-	
generative,	and	that	targets	margins	of	around	8%.	We	will	continue	
to	provide	consulting	and	business	services,	predominantly	to	the	
UK	public	sector	and	public	service	industries;	markets	in	which		
we	can	provide	multiple	service	offers	and	the	vertical	integration		
of	consulting,	design	and	asset	delivery	expertise	in	front-line	and	
back-office	environments.	

Purpose
Mouchel’s	stated	purpose	is	to	improve	day-to-day	life	for	millions		
of	people	by	helping	to	transform	essential	public	services	and		
by	sustaining	the	vital	infrastructure	upon	which	society	depends.

These	are	services	for	which	demand	remains	relatively	inelastic,	
even	in	times	of	economic	recession.	These	are	services	that	
provide	the	fundamental	components	of	modern	society	and		
are	a	‘given’	for	the	majority	of	citizens.	

Mouchel	supports	the	many	local	authorities,	central	government	
departments	and	agencies,	and	companies	regulated	by	
government.	We	provide	safer,	more	reliable	roads,	better	teaching	
and	learning	environments,	healthier	communities,	cleaner	drinking	
water	and	more	accessible	citizen	services.	We	help	our	clients	to	
find	better	ways	to	run	their	own	services,	to	make	better	use	of	
public	funds,	and	to	gain	more	from	investment	in	new	technologies,	
products	and	systems.	

In	this	way	Mouchel	will	continue	to	meet	its	business	objectives	
while	enriching	and	improving	the	lives	of	the	citizens	in	our		
society.	This	is	a	company	driven	by	a	passion	to	‘do	the	right		
thing’	for	the	millions	of	people	whose	lives	are	touched	daily	by		
our	services,	while	protecting	the	interests	of	our	shareholders,	
clients	and	employees.	

3,371
incidents attended to by 
Mouchel in the Highways 
Agency Area 13 network  
in 2008/09. 

Business Review
Objectives and purpose

Mouchel will continue to meet its business 
objectives while enriching and improving  
the lives of the citizens in our society.
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Business Review
Strategy

Mouchel’s	strategy	is	to	win	and	retain	long-term	managed		
service	and	outsourcing	contracts,	especially	in	sectors	where		
there	is	a	transfer	of	staff	from	the	public	sector.	Mouchel	utilises		
its	consulting	services	to	extend	the	scope	and	value	of	its	
relationships	with	clients	and	to	differentiate	itself	from	other	
managed	service	providers.	

Although	the	current	environment	is	challenging,	Mouchel	expects		
to	continue	to	achieve	good	levels	of	year-on-year	growth	in	markets	
which,	though	not	immune	to	the	effects	of	global	slowdown,	are	
generally	associated	with	the	provision	of	asset	management	and	
maintenance	and	citizen	services	across	society.	These	markets	are	
becoming	increasingly	dependent	upon	private	sector	participation	to	
meet	the	more	demanding	performance	expectations	of	government	
and	citizens	alike.	

Our	business	model	is	based	upon:

•	 	maintaining	a	balanced	portfolio	of	managed	services	and	
consultancy	activities	in	the	public	sector	and	public	service	
industries;	in	highways,	in	utilities,	in	local	government,	in	central	
government,	in	education,	in	health	and	internationally;

•	 	achieving	good	contract	renewal	and	win-rates,	combined	with	
strong	market	penetration,	to	provide	our	existing	mix	of	services	
in	partnership	with	new	clients	in	our	existing	market	sectors;

•	 	increasing	the	level	of	integration	between	our	existing	areas	of	
business	to	build	new,	combined	service	offers	that	meet	the	
wider	needs	of	our	client	base;

•	 	introducing	–	through	organic	growth	and,	in	certain	cases,	
acquisition	or	joint	venturing	–	other	new	services	and	products	
to	meet	the	developing	needs	of	the	current	client	base;	and

•	 	extending	Mouchel’s	existing	services	into	new,	related	markets	
within	the	public	sector	and	public	service	industries.

This	strategy	has	underpinned	Mouchel’s	business	strategy	for	over	
five	years.	It	was	conceived	to	provide	resilience	against	the	cyclical	
nature	of	the	economy	and	the	public	service	markets.	While	few	
could	have	foreseen	the	rapid	rate	of	change	in	the	economy,	and	
its	effects	on	public	sector	finances,	we	remain	confident	that	these	
business	principles	are	right	for	our	Company	now	and	will	remain	
so	in	the	foreseeable	future.	

Mouchel expects to continue to achieve  
good levels of year-on-year growth in 
markets which are generally associated  
with the provision of asset management  
and maintenance and citizen services  
across society.

 5,000
local residents in  
Northern Ireland attended  
12 exhibitions as part  
of the A5 public 
consultation  
exercise.
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Our three business streams serve the 
national and regional highways sector,  
the central and local government sector  
and industries regulated by government 
(water, energy, etc).

Business Review
Structure

Mouchel’s	operational	structure	is	market-facing	and	is	designed		
to	promote	intelligent,	specialist	relationships	in	our	principal	areas	
of	business.	Our	three	business	streams	serve	the	national	and	
regional	highways	sector,	the	central	and	local	government	sector	
and	industries	regulated	by	government	(water,	energy,	etc).	

Mouchel’s	Government	Services	business	–	which	includes	its	
Management	Consulting	division	–	provides	a	broad	range	of	
services	to	central	and	local	government	together	with	health	and	
education	authorities.	Its	differentiator	lies	in	a	mix	of	strategic	
consulting	and	transformation	expertise	that	is	informed	by,	and	
supports,	operational	service	delivery.	Its	focus	is	on	maximising	
citizen	value	through	long-term,	multi-dimensional	relationships		
with	client	organisations	and	on	the	joining	up	of	public	services	
with	innovative	service	propositions	that,	in	many	cases,	challenge	
conventional	thinking	in	these	markets.	It	ranks	as	one	of	the	UK’s		
top	operators	in	local	government	BPO	and	is	one	of	the	UK’s	largest	
independent	public	sector	management	consulting	practices.

Mouchel’s	Regulated	Industries	business	operates	in	the		
water	supply	and	wastewater,	waste	management,	energy		
and	environmental	sectors.	In	management	terms,	it	also	
incorporates	Mouchel’s	Middle	East	business,	which	delivers	
infrastructure	and	municipal	services	in	that	region.	The	Regulated	
Industries	business	stream	provides	a	portfolio	of	strategic	
consulting,	design,	asset	modelling	and	asset	management	and	–	
as	a	premier	league	provider	in	the	water	sector	–	it	continues	to	
lead	the	way	in	supporting	the	development	of	new	product	and	
systems	technologies	in	the	areas	of	leakage	management,	flood	
prevention,	water	treatment	and	public	health.	

Mouchel’s	Highways	business	–	the	number	one	provider	in	its		
core	market	–	delivers	a	holistic	planning,	design,	maintenance	and	
operations	service	to	highway	authorities.	During	the	past	few	years	
the	Group	has	extended	the	bandwidth	of	its	services	in	order		
to	help	authorities	optimise	the	value	of	their	networks	and	to	more	
effectively	manage	the	movement	of	people,	goods	and	services.	
The	focus	of	the	business	has	been	modified,	away	from	traditional	
highway	design	towards	technological	and	product	solutions	that	
improve	highway	utilisation.	
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Business review
Markets

In	the	past	12	months	the	world	has	changed	–	but	the	basic	
infrastructure	and	service	needs	of	society	have	not.	For	Mouchel,	
the	economic	turmoil	presents	opportunities	as	our	core	clients	
strive	for	step-change	improvement	in	efficiency	and	performance	
to	address	public	sector	spending	constraints.	Mouchel’s	markets	
are	relatively	inelastic;	the	services	we	deliver	support	the	essential	
infrastructure	of	society	and	the	ongoing	challenge	for	organisations	
like	Mouchel	will	be	to	devise	smarter	and	more	cost-efficient	ways	
of	delivering	more	for	less.	

Local government
Local	authorities	in	England	and	Wales	will	focus	a	significant	
proportion	of	their	budgets	on	local	services	including	citizen	
services	like	education,	social	services	and	adult	social	care;	asset	
and	infrastructure	management	in	areas	like	highways	and	property,	
and	business	support	services	such	as	ICT	and	procurement.	The	
local	government	BPO	market	is	expected	to	grow	more	rapidly	
than	the	overall	BPO	sector,	growing	from	28%	of	the	total	market	
to	40%	in	the	next	five	years.	The	market	is	maturing	and	there	will	
be	increased	opportunity	to	provide	transformational	capabilities	
across	a	broader	range	of	services	in	what	is	seen	as	the	next	
generation	of	partnering.

Local	government	faces	the	challenge	of	recessionary	pressure	on	
budgets	while,	at	the	same	time	needing	to	respond	to	rising	public	
expectations	on	service	levels.	A	complex	and	highly	fragmented	
market;	focus	in	the	future	will	be	on	efficiency	improvement,	cost	
reduction	and	private	sector	funding.	Opportunities	for	joint	
procurement	and	shared	services	are	expected	and	although	the	
market	is	highly	competitive,	Mouchel	expects	barriers	for	new	
entrants	to	increase	as	the	breadth	of	outsourced	services	increases.	
Competition	in	local	government	comes	from	the	larger	IT	companies	
such	as	IBM,	Fujitsu	and	BT	together	with	other	support	services	
providers	like	Serco	and	Capita	and	smaller	private	equity-backed	
BPO	firms	such	as	Vertex	and	Liberata.	

The	local	government	property	services	market	is	more	mature		
and	many	opportunities	are	now	second-generation	outsourced	
services	contracts.	However,	this	is	a	long-term	and	relatively		
stable	market	in	which	Mouchel	has	a	strong	existing	position.

Mouchel’s	Management	Consulting	business	enhances	the	
strategic	capacity	of	the	organisation	to	advise	and	deliver	
transformation	and	restructuring	programmes	in	local	authorities,	
where	the	combination	of	strategic	and	operational	experience	
differentiates	the	business	from	the	major	Limited	Liability	
Partnerships	(LLPs)	such	as	PwC,	KPMG	and	Deloitte.

Education
The	Government	continues	to	direct	considerable	expenditure	
towards	the	education	sector	through	investments	such	as	its	
Building	Schools	for	the	Future	(BSF)	programme	–	which	invests	
around	£2.5bn	per	annum	in	the	improvement	of	Britain’s	3,500	
primary	and	secondary	schools	–	and	in	grants	to	local	authorities.	

The	focus	of	our	Education	business	continues	to	be	on	the	
provision	of	education	improvement	and	property	services,	mainly	
via	the	City	Academy	and	BSF	programmes	and	to	local	authority	
schools	generally.	We	continue	to	leverage	our	existing	footprint	
across	the	local	and	regional	government	sector	through	our	
support	of	major	capital	programmes	like	BSF	and	using	our	
reputation	in	advisory	services	to	target	growth	in	key	areas		
of	education	services	support	and	change	management.	

Our	range	of	expertise	means	we	can	take	a	‘learning-led’	
approach	to	such	services,	while	offering	the	breadth	of	capability	
required	to	improve	educational	outcomes	and	to	reduce	the	
administrative	burden	associated	with	school	management,	
positioning	us	well	for	future	growth	in	this	market.

Emergency services
‘Blue-light’	authorities	–	the	fire,	police	and	ambulance	services	
throughout	the	UK	–	also	face	growing	pressure	on	costs	against		
a	background	of	rising	public	expectations.	Increasingly,	these	
authorities	are	turning	to	the	private	sector	for	support	in	the	
provision	of	non-core	functions	and	in	the	transformation	of		
their	overall	service	delivery.

Our	propositions	are	geared	specifically	to	help	police	forces	meet	
the	Government’s	Police	Reform	Programme	which	aims	to	reduce	
crime,	improve	public	confidence	and	satisfaction,	raise	detection	
levels,	improve	performance	and	deliver	value	for	money.

In the past 12 months the world has  
changed – but the basic infrastructure  
and service needs of society have not.
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Utilities
Water,	energy	and	waste	utility	companies	in	Britain	present		
a	current	addressable	market	of	£2.6bn	per	annum	for	Mouchel,	
rising	to	just	over	£4.0bn	per	annum	by	2012.	Mouchel	provides	
services	in	each	of	these	markets,	though	predominantly	within		
the	water	industry	at	present.

The	water	industry	in	Britain	is	regulated	by	government,	which		
sets	service	delivery	targets	and	places	revenue	generating	limits	
on	water	companies.	Water	companies	present	their	investment	
proposals	to	the	Regulator	in	the	form	of	five-year	asset	management	
plans	(AMP)	and	in	the	next	asset	management	cycle,	between	
2010	and	2015,	spending	of	circa	£20.0bn	is	predicted.	

Mouchel	is	one	of	the	UK’s	top	two	water	consultancies	by		
revenue	and	works	with	all	the	major	UK	water	and	wastewater	
companies	so	we	are	well-placed	to	benefit	from	this	increase	in	
expenditure.	The	focus	of	water	company	investment	is	changing,	
away	from	capital/construction	projects	and	towards	capital	
maintenance	and	operational	management	programmes,	which	
fits	well	with	Mouchel’s	business	model	and	allows	us	to	compete	
effectively	against	traditional	engineering	consultancies	like	MWH,	
Mott	MacDonald,	Atkins	and	Halcrow.	

The	need	for	effective	flood	prevention	is	becoming	ever	more	
pressing	in	Britain	and	there	is	a	growing	demand	for	services		
from	the	Environment	Agency,	local	authorities	and	Network	Rail.	
The	Pitt	Report,	which	assessed	the	impact	of	the	2007	floods,	
highlighted	the	need	for	increased	flood	defences	and	advocated	
spending	of	£1.0bn	per	annum	by	2011.	This	is	a	growing	source		
of	opportunity	for	Mouchel,	which	currently	has	just	a	2%	share		
of	the	addressable	market	but	which	has	seen	a	50%	increase		
in	earnings	in	this	area	in	the	last	four	years.	

The	Government’s	2007	Energy	White	Paper	highlighted	the	
importance	of	providing	sustainable	energy	at	an	affordable		
price	and	the	increased	need	for	carbon-efficiency	in	the	energy	
generation	process.	The	energy	sector	in	Britain	is	experiencing		
a	substantial	change,	with	the	move	towards	more	localised,	
carbon-driven	generation	driving	a	shift	in	operating	practices.	
Mouchel’s	growing	participation	in	this	sector	focuses	on	this	
changing	market	environment	and	on	providing	capital	design,	
strategic	consultancy	and	carbon	management	expertise.	

Central government
The	Julius	Review	identified	total	government	expenditure	on	
services	amounting	to	nearly	£80.0bn	per	annum.	Around	half	the	
support	sought	from	the	private	sector	involves	the	provision	of	
managed	services;	around	a	fifth	is	for	IT	services.	The	remainder		
is	associated	with	BPO,	construction,	facilities	management	and	
other	professional	services.

But	economic	events	of	the	past	year,	and	the	resulting	public	
sector	deficit,	have	forced	government	departments	to	reflect		
on	future	spending	needs	and	the	emphasis	going	forward	is	on	
cost-reduction	and	operational	efficiency.	Focus	is,	in	particular		
on	the	way	in	which	government	procures	back-office	and		
IT	shared	services,	and	on	property	running	costs.	

There	is	opportunity	in	the	current	state	of	affairs;	the	Julius	Review	
predicts	a	5%	to	8%	increase	in	the	use	of	the	private	sector	in	the	
delivery	of	central	government	services.	Mouchel’s	differentiator		
is	its	ability	to	de-risk	cost	reduction	measures,	providing	strategic	
consulting	support	that	can	readily	draw	upon	our	in-depth	
operational	know-how	to	prevent	damage	to	core	public	services.	

The	pace	of	policy	change	in	central	government	is	unremitting,	
reflecting	the	need	to	engage	with	citizens	in	new	and	different	
ways	on	matters	ranging	from	criminal	justice	and	immigration	to	
the	effects	of	an	ageing	population.	For	Mouchel	there	continues		
to	be	opportunities	to	translate	policy	into	action;	like	supporting	
shared	services	programmes	to	improve	performance	and	reduce	
the	cost	of	provision	or	technology	programmes	capable	of	
delivering	cashable	and	non-cashable	benefits.	

 25,806
tonnes of road salt spread  
in Highways Agency  
Area 3 during 
last winter.
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Markets
(continued)

Health
The	Department	of	Health’s	three	strategic	objectives	–	better	
health	and	wellbeing	for	all,	better	care	for	all,	and	better	value		
and	affordability	for	all	–	drive	its	investment	and	spending	strategy	
and,	in	consequence,	its	ongoing	demand	for	consultancy	and	
support	services.	NHS	spending	on	external	professional	services	
organisations	is	over	£300m	per	annum	and	some	£12.5bn	a	year	
is	currently	spent	on	central	administration	and	back-office	
services.	In	addition	Primary	Care	Trusts	(PCTs)	have	been	set	up		
to	create	independent	commissioning	and	provider	organisations,	
presenting	further	opportunities	for	private	sector	participation.

Mouchel	will	build	upon	our	portfolio	of	contracts	with	the	
Department	of	Health,	PCTs,	and	NHS	trusts,	providing	a	range	of	
services	that	will	extend	from	programme	management,	procurement	
and	strategic	consultancy,	through	ICT	implementation,	to	property	
and	asset	management.	Our	Health	business	draws	upon	skills		
and	expertise	from	our	Management	Consulting	and	Government	
Services	businesses.	Other	providers	to	this	market	include		
Capita	and	Serco,	as	well	as	the	management	consultancy	LLPs.

Middle East and International
The	number	of	infrastructure	projects	in	the	Middle	East’s	Gulf	
Cooperation	Council	(GCC)	has	increased	at	an	unprecedented	
rate.	From	2002	to	2008,	GCC	governments	awarded	
approximately	$720bn	worth	of	projects,	yet	spending	has	not	
always	kept	pace	with	economic	and	population	growth:	Kuwait		
still	lacks	capacity	for	peak	load	electricity	production,	Saudi	Arabia	
and	other	GCC	countries	face	water	shortages,	and	the	UAE	is	
experiencing	overloaded	sewage	plants	and	congested	highways.	

Following	the	economic	downturn	in	the	Middle	East,	currently		
there	is	minimal	demand	for	infrastructure	development,	particularly	
in	Dubai.	As	a	result,	Mouchel	will	focus	on	key	clients	in	Kuwait		
and	Abu	Dhabi	where	recent	reorganisation	of	local	government		
and	continued	capital	investment	is	providing	opportunity	for	our	
business.	To	capitalise	on	existing	infrastructure	there	is	a	move		
by	our	International	business	to	move	from	new	build	to	asset	
management	as	well	as	to	develop	our	Government	Services	
business	and	Management	Consulting	services.	

Highways and transportation 
The	addressable	market	in	highways	is	approximately	£2.5bn	
per	annum,	of	which	Mouchel’s	current	market	share	is	around	
10%.	Highway	design,	maintenance	and	operational	management	
services	are	readily	outsourced	to	the	private	sector	and	the	vast	
majority	of	highway	authorities	–	including	the	Highways	Agency,	
Transport	for	London,	and	many	local	authorities	–	opt	to	manage	
their	networks	in	this	way.	

The	focus	of	spending	has	changed	in	this	sector.	While	the	
emphasis	of	highway	authorities	is	on	achieving	increased	value	
for	money,	investment	in	technology-led	programmes	to	gain	
improved	utilisation	of	existing	network	capacity	has	taken	the		
place	of	larger	scale	capital	projects,	for	which	funding	is	scarce.		
In	January	2009,	the	Transport	Secretary	announced	a	£6.0bn	
investment	programme	to	improve	and	make	better	use	of	the	
strategic	road	network.	As	part	of	this,	340	lane	miles	of	English	
motorway	have	been	identified	for	Managed	Motorway	with	Hard	
Shoulder	Running	(HSR).	The	Managed	Motorway	HSR	concept,	
formerly	Active	Traffic	Management	(ATM),	utilises	the	hard	shoulder	
as	an	additional	running	lane	during	peak	hours	and	reduces	
incidents	by	employing	innovative	operational	regimes	supported	
by	technology.	

Mouchel’s	combination	of	traffic	engineering,	transportation	
planning,	design,	systems	and	operational	management	skills		
is	well-placed	in	this	environment,	allowing	us	to	provide	a	more	
holistic	solution	to	highway	service	delivery.	Our	emphasis	going	
forward	is	on	the	continued	broadening	of	the	‘bandwidth’	of		
our	service	offer,	differentiating	from	our	competitors	through	our	
ability	to	impact	at	each	stage	in	the	cycle	of	planning,	consulting,	
designing,	building,	maintaining,	operating	and	optimising	the	road	
network.	We	have	strong	credentials	in	the	‘managed	movement’	
arena	and	we	have	maintained	market	leadership	in	areas	ranging	
from	controlled	motorway	projects	to	parking	management	and	
traffic	restraint.	Competition	is	from	traditional	highway	consultants	
and	from	specialist	technology	companies	but	Mouchel’s	larger-	
scale	and	resource	depth	allows	it	to	retain	competitive	advantage.

A	large	proportion	of	Mouchel’s	Highways	business	involves	the	
provision	of	network	management	and	operations	services.	In	
general,	highway	authorities	now	expect	vertical	integration	of	
white-	and	blue-collar	services	within	a	single	partner	organisation.	
Generally	the	market	responds	through	joint-venture	companies,	
which	offer	the	underlying	strengths	of	parent	company	service	
depth	and	breadth.	Mouchel	works	alongside	Enterprise	plc	in	an	
incorporated	joint	venture	company	known	as	EnterpriseMouchel.	
This	organisation	currently	operates	in	two	of	the	Highways	Agency’s	
13	regions	but	is	tendering	for	work	in	a	third.	Competitors	in	this	
market	include	Atkins,	Amey,	Carillion	and	Balfour	Beatty.	
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Business Review
People

Guiding principles
Mouchel	is	a	business	with	a	strong	belief	in	itself.	Our	purpose		
is	to	provide	better	public	services;	to	improve	the	day-to-day		
lives	of	millions	of	people	by	sustaining	vital	infrastructure	and	
transforming	essential	services.	Our	strength	is	the	determination		
of	our	people	to	do	things	better,	to	lead	the	way,	to	go	the	extra	
mile,	and	to	keep	our	promises	with	clients	and	citizens	alike.	

People	in	Mouchel	seek	careers	which	are	worthwhile	and	fulfilling,	
taking	pride	in	their	ability	to	improve	and	reshape	our	communities	
for	the	people	who	live	and	work	in	them.	

The	guiding	principles	which	define	Mouchel	capture	the	culture	
and	ethos	of	the	business;	setting	out	a	simple	code	to	describe	
the	way	in	which	we	should	behave	and	perform.	In	Mouchel		
there	is:

a passion for success:
•	striving	for	excellence	in	everything	we	do
•	taking	responsibility	for	our	actions
•	celebrating	the	achievements	of	our	teams

a spirit of adventure:
•	having	a	sense	of	excitement	and	fun
•		being	inquisitive	in	nature,	inventive	in		

our	approach
•	embracing	change	as	an	opportunity

integrity at heart:
•		keeping	our	promises	and	doing	the	right	thing
•	appreciating	the	diversity	of	our	people
•	treating	everyone	with	compassion	and	care

Passion for success
Success	as	an	employer	means	building	a	satisfied,	diverse,	
capable	workforce	that	is	shaped	around	the	professional	skill	sets	
needed	to	meet	the	current	and	future	aspirations	of	Mouchel’s	
client	base.	

In	2008/09	staff	numbers	fell	by	about	2%	to	just	over	11,100	people	
at	31	July	2009.	This	was	due	to	the	downturn	in	the	Middle	East	
and	the	‘right-sizing’	of	activities	in	the	UK,	partly	offset	by	staff	
joining	us	following	contract	wins	during	the	year.	Staff	turnover	
reduced	to	less	than	10%	(13%	in	2007/08)	which	is	as	a	result		
of	a	less	buoyant	employment	market,	as	well	as	our	own	efforts		
to	retain	and	engage	a	solid	skills	base	in	the	organisation.	The	
workforce	has	become	more	diverse,	women	now	representing	
some	29%	(compared	to	26%	the	previous	year).	

For	the	second	year	running,	Mouchel	has	been	ranked	as	one		
of	the	Sunday	Times	‘Best	Big	Companies	to	Work	For’	league	of	
major	employers,	a	considerable	achievement	especially	in	view		
of	the	rapid	growth	of	the	Company.	

It	is	important,	even	in	times	of	challenging	market	conditions,		
to	celebrate	success	in	a	business.	Our	2008	Employee	Awards,		
a	celebration	of	personal,	team	and	corporate	achievement	that	
attracted	a	broad	range	of	entrants	from	across	the	organisation,	
gave	us	the	chance	to	reflect	on	the	many	ways	in	which	Mouchel	
people	had	gone	that	bit	further	to	make	a	lasting	difference.

Spirit of adventure
The	UK	public	service	sector,	in	2009,	is	a	changing	world	–		
and	Mouchel’s	ability	to	embrace	change	as	an	opportunity	is	
reflected	in	the	culture	and	leadership	of	the	firm.	A	programme	of	
senior	management	coaching	in	2008	challenged	the	company’s		
decision-makers	to	raise	their	game	in	strategic	business	thinking,	
motivational	leadership	and	relationship	development.	At	the	same	
time,	right	across	the	organisation,	an	engagement	programme,		
which	is	available	to	every	employee	in	every	office,	created	a	
common	purpose	in	the	organisation	and	ensured	that,	in	changing	
times,	Mouchel	can	remain	relevant	to	the	general	public	it	
continues	to	serve.	

Our strength is the determination of our 
people to do things better, to lead the way, 
to go the extra mile, and to keep our 
promises with clients and citizens alike.



14 2009 Annual Report and Accounts
Mouchel Group plc

P
erfo

rm
ance

 16
is our position for the 
second year running  
in the Sunday Times 
‘Best Big Companies  
to Work For’  
league table.

Business Review

The	message	from	the	top	in	Mouchel	is	that	it	is	acceptable		
to	challenge	and	that	initiative	and	drive	are	positive.	The	‘Taking		
the	Lead’	programme	–	which	has	now	run	in	Mouchel	for	
two-and-a-half	years,	has	been	received	by	over	1,000	employees	
and	an	‘Engaging	for	Growth’	strategy	will	promote	relationship	
building	across	the	business	and	our	clients’	organisations	to	
generate	new	opportunities	and	new	growth.	

Integrity at heart
Success	and	innovation	are	meaningless	without	integrity;	without	
the	opportunity	to	do	the	right	thing	for	the	people	and	society		
that	Mouchel	serves.	This	is	an	important	driver	for	employees		
in	Mouchel	who	create	tangible	benefits	by	transforming	the	way		
in	which	services	are	delivered;	doing	things	more	cost-effectively,	
more	sustainably,	more	quickly	and	more	transparently.	Engagement	
with	citizens	and	communities	is	a	key	element	in	the	daily	lives	of	
many	Mouchel	employees,	often	co-locating	with	clients	to	be	visible	
and	effective	at	grass-roots	level.	

Environmental	sustainability	is	an	important	aspect	of	the	service	
offer	for	Mouchel,	but	also	an	important	consideration	for	its	people	
who	have	elected	to	‘green’	the	lease	car	and	van	fleet,	to	reduce	
Mouchel’s	corporate	carbon	footprint	and	reduce	the	costs	of	travel.	
Providing	its	people	with	a	safe	working	environment	is	also	
imperative	and	in	2009	Mouchel	launched	an	innovative	behavioural	
safety	programme	designed	to	challenge	inappropriate	actions	and	
to	tackle	the	root	causes	of	workplace	accidents	and	ill-health.	

Continuing the journey 
In	2008	Mouchel	launched	its	new	Corporate	Plan	for	employees:	
entitled	‘Our	Journey:	the	Route	to	2012’.	This	set	out	a	direction		
for	the	business	to	2012	and	beyond,	and	remains	the	strategy	that	
drives	the	organisation	forward.	It	reminds	all	staff	of	the	company’s	
purpose	and	its	guiding	principles;	the	nature	of	its	work;	and		
the	Company’s	responsibilities	to	its	employees,	its	clients,	the	
communities	it	serves,	the	partners	and	suppliers	it	works	with,		
and	the	shareholders	who	invest	in	us.	It	presents	the	journey	
ahead	and	the	‘fantastic	environment’	for	its	people,	whether	just	
starting	out	on	their	careers	or	more	experienced	professionals.	

Mouchel’s	people	share	a	common	passion	and	belief	–	that	
committed,	high-calibre,	well-trained	professionals	can	continue		
to	raise	the	standards	of	efficiency	and	performance	with	which	
public	services	are	delivered	to	citizens.

Board 
On	30	January	2009,	we	announced	the	appointment	of		
Bo	Lerenius	to	the	Plc	board	as	a	Non-Executive	Director.	Bo	is		
the	former	Group	Chief	Executive	of	Stena	Line	(1992	to	1998)		
and	of	Associated	British	Ports	(1999	to	2007),	where	he	remained	
a	Non-Executive	Director	until	31	December	2007.	He	is	currently		
also	a	Non-Executive	Director	at	G4S	plc,	Land	Securities	Group	
plc	and	Thomas	Cook	Group	plc.	His	expertise	in	some	of	our	core	
markets,	and	extensive	experience	generally	will	be	a	significant	
benefit	to	the	Group.	Bo	succeeded	Richard	Benton	as	Chairman	
on	1	May	2009.

Richard	Benton	stood	down	after	11	years	with	the	Group.		
He	joined	us	as	a	Non-Executive	Director	in	1998	and	became	
Chairman	in	2001,	successfully	steering	Mouchel	through	its	
flotation	in	2002	and	subsequent	merger	with	Parkman	Group	plc	
in	2003.	Richard	has	made	a	huge	contribution	to	the	development	
and	growth	of	the	Group	and	we	wish	him	well	for	the	future.

Business Review
People
(continued)
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Overview
Mouchel	has	faced	a	number	of	challenges	in	the	second	half		
of	the	year	which	have	significantly	impacted	our	performance.		
Some	of	these	have	been	caused	by	the	conditions	in	the	markets		
in	which	we	operate	and	some	have	been	particular	to	Mouchel.		
We	have	struggled	for	some	years	to	expand	our	activities	in	rail		
and	we	decided	in	the	year	to	substantially	exit	that	market;	our	
Management	Consulting	division	has	been	impacted	by	the	
economic	downturn	and	we	have	responded	by	scaling	back	and	
restructuring	that	business;	and,	like	many	others,	we	got	caught		
up	in	the	Dubai	property	crash	which	left	us	with	over-capacity	and	
severe	working	capital	exposure.	These	exceptional	factors	have	
created	the	loss	that	we	have	announced.	But	it’s	important	to	keep	
this	disappointment	in	perspective	–	at	an	operating	level	the	Group	
has	again	performed	well,	with	double-digit	growth	of	both	revenue	
and	underlying	operating	profit,	although	the	latter	was	below	the	
expectations	we	set	in	the	spring	of	2008,	before	the	worst	impacts	
of	the	recession	had	begun	to	materialise.

Revenue	increased	by	13%	to	£740.6m,	compared	with	last	year.	
Excluding	the	impact	of	the	Hedra	acquisition	last	year,	revenue	
increased	by	9%	versus	the	prior	year;	maintaining	the	strong	organic	
growth	of	recent	years,	just	below	our	target	range	of	10%	to	15%	per	
annum.	Correspondingly,	underlying	operating	profit	also	increased	by	
13%	to	£47.3m	with	underlying	operating	margins	maintained	at	6.4%.	
Our	medium-term	target	for	underlying	operating	margins	remains	
unchanged	at	8%.

Profit	before	tax	and	exceptional	items	rose	by	3%	from	£38.8m	to	
£40.1m	after	taking	into	account	a	£4.3m	increase	in	the	overall	net	
interest	cost,	comprising	£2.0m	additional	interest	on	bank	borrowings	
and	a	£2.3m	adverse	movement	in	the	financing	element	of	the	
retirement	benefits	charge.	Excluding	the	movement	in	interest	on	
retirement	benefit	obligations,	which	is	a	non-cash	item,	profit	before	
tax	and	exceptional	items	increased	by	10%.

Although	in-line	with	our	revised	expectations,	underlying	profits		
were	significantly	below	what	we	had	anticipated	at	the	start	of		
the	year,	due	to	difficulties	faced	by	the	Group	in	the	Middle	East,	
Management	Consulting	and	Rail.	However,	in	spite	of	the	current	
economic	environment,	our	core	businesses	have	continued	to	perform	
strongly	given	that	our	activities	are	still	focused	mainly	on	the	UK	public	
sector	and	in	the	provision	of	essential	services	and	the	management		
of	vital	infrastructure.	We	are	also	benefiting	from	being	able	to	help	our	
clients	reduce	costs	and	deliver	public	services	more	efficiently.

Exceptional	costs	for	the	year	totalled	£53.6m	(2008:	£12.5m),	
including	£7.4m	(2008:	£5.7m)	for	the	amortisation	of	intangible	assets	
arising	from	business	combinations.	The	increase	in	amortisation	
compared	to	the	prior	year	was	due	to	the	acquisition	of	Hedra	in	
March	2008.	Of	the	balance,	£17.1m	(2008:	£nil)	related	to	a	one-off	
impairment	charge	for	goodwill	and	intangible	assets,	following	the	
decision	during	the	year	to	substantially	exit	the	rail	sector.	

Other	exceptional	items	amounted	to	£29.1m	(2008:	£6.8m)	and	
largely	comprised	the	costs	of	restructuring	the	businesses	in		
the	Middle	East,	Management	Consulting	and	Rail	(including	an	
impairment	charge	of	£15.0m	against	contract	receivables	in	Dubai),	
offset	in	part	by	a	gain	on	disposal	of	the	Group’s	former	head	office		
in	West	Byfleet	of	£3.8m.	Other	exceptional	items	in	the	prior	year	
mainly	included	integration	and	transition	costs	associated	with		
the	HBS	and	Hedra	acquisitions.

After	taking	into	account	exceptional	items,	the	loss	before	tax	for		
the	year	was	£13.5m	(2008:	profit	of	£26.3m).	Further	details	on	the	
exceptional	items	can	be	found	in	note	3.

Business Review

Business Review
Current and future 
development and performance

Key performance indicators 
Group
	 	 2009	 2008	 %	change

Revenue	(£m)	 740.6	 656.7	 13

Underlying	operating	profit	(£m)	 47.3	 41.7	 13

Operating	margins	(%)	 6.4	 6.4	 –

Operating	cash	flow	(£m)	 32.8	 38.0	 (14)

Cash	conversion	(%)	 69	 91	 –

Order	book1	(£m)	 1,863	 2,100	 (11)

Bidding	pipeline1	(£m)	 2,163	 2,200	 (2)

Contract	win-rate2	(%)	 25	 33	 –

Staff	numbers	(at	31	July)	 11,121	 11,341	 (2)	

Staff	turnover1	(voluntary)	(%)	 8	 13	 –

1	At	31	July	2009
2	Win-rate	is	calculated	by	contract	value

The Group has again performed well,  
with double-digit growth of both revenue 
and underlying operating profit.
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Key performance indicators 
Government Services

	 	 2009	 2008	 %	change

Revenue	(£m)	 303.8	 267.1	 14

Underlying	operating	profit	(£m)	 14.5	 14.4	 1

Operating	margins	(%)	 4.8	 5.4	 –	

Order	book	(£m)	 1,116	 1,218	 (8)

Bidding	pipeline1	(£m)	 896	 1,129	 (21)

Contract	win-rate2	(%)	 38	 27	 –

Staff	numbers	(at	31	July)	 4,741	 4,832	 (2)

Staff	turnover	(voluntary)	(%)	 9	 11	 –

1	At	31	July	2009
2	Win-rate	is	calculated	by	contract	value

Revenue	for	the	year	increased	from	£267.1m	to	£303.8m,	largely	
reflecting	the	full-year	impact	of	the	Hedra	acquisition	which	was	
completed	on	5	March	2008,	part	way	through	the	second	half	of	the	
last	financial	year.	Excluding	the	impact	of	the	acquisition,	revenues	
increased	from	£246.1m	to	£253.3m,	reflecting	commencement	of	
the	Building	Schools	for	the	Future	(BSF)	commission	in	Hackney,		
as	well	as	additional	activity	in	our	principal	local	authority	partnership	
contracts.	

Underlying	operating	profits,	at	£14.5m,	were	only	slightly	above		
the	£14.4m	reported	the	previous	year	due	largely	to	operating	
margins	reducing	from	5.4%	to	4.8%.	This	was	disappointing	and	
reflected	the	continuing	evidence	of	reduced	demand	for	consulting	
services	in	our	Management	Consulting	business,	which	we	first	
highlighted	in	our	half-year	announcement.	This,	and	the	investment	
within	Management	Consulting	in	supporting	the	expansion	and	
development	of	the	business	elsewhere	in	the	Group,	adversely	
impacted	the	near-term	profitability	of	the	consulting	business	in		
the	second	half.

As	a	result	of	the	challenges	within	Management	Consulting,	we	
took	steps	in	the	second	half	to	restructure	this	part	of	the	business	
in	order	to	improve	performance;	this	has	involved	the	appointment	
of	a	new	management	team	and	the	reduction	in	staff	numbers	to	
better	match	supply	and	demand	and	to	give	us	greater	flexibility.	

Business Review
Current and future 
development and performance
Government Services

The National Programme for IT – 
managing change to deliver 
improvements to patient care 

The challenge
The	NHS	is	under	tremendous	
pressure	to	modernise	and	reduce	
spending	while	improving	patient	
care.	Through	the	National	
Programme	for	IT,	the	NHS	is	
providing	organisations	across	
England	with	the	tools	they		
need	to	share	information	and	
deliver	care	using	recognised		
best	practice.	The	challenge	for		
the	NHS	was	to	implement	the	
programme	in	a	way	that	would	
deliver	benefits,	not	just	new	
systems.

The solution
Mouchel	is	the	business	change	
partner	in	the	CSC	Alliance,		
the	local	service	provider	that		
is	leading	the	implementation		
in	three	of	the	five	geographical	
regions	in	the	UK.	Mouchel	works	

with	local	NHS	organisations	to	
identify	ways	to	deliver	joined-up	
services	that	improve	the	patient	
experience,	design	new	business	
processes,	understand	the	impact	
of	change	and	engage	patients	
and	staff.

The outcome
Mouchel	has	helped	the	NHS	
deliver	improvements	that	are	
making	a	difference	to	patients	
and	front-line	staff.	These	include	
reduced	waiting	times	across		
NHS	organisations;	improved	
patient	care	through	increased	
information	sharing;	increased	
patient	safety	by	reducing	errors;	
improving	diagnoses;	and	
improved	financial	balance	
through	better	planning	and		
use	of	resources.
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Since	the	acquisition	of	HBS	and	Hedra,	we	have	become	one		
of	the	leading	providers	of	strategic	partnerships	and	outsourced	
services	to	the	local	authority	marketplace,	where	clients	are	under	
increasing	pressure	to	improve	services	and	reduce	costs.	The	
combination	of	the	skills	acquired	as	a	result	of	the	two	acquisitions	
is	proving	increasingly	powerful	in	pursuing	new	outsourcing	deals	
and	in	securing	programmes	of	work	to	help	clients	transform	
public	services.

Local authorities
We	continue	to	build	on	our	major	partnerships	with	local	authorities	
including	Middlesbrough,	Lincolnshire,	Rochdale,	Milton	Keynes,	
Oldham	and	Liverpool;	and	on	our	other	strategic	relationships	in	
Hertfordshire	and	the	London	Borough	of	Hackney.	This	year	we	
have	secured	a	further	four-year	contract	extension	in	Lincolnshire	
following	an	earlier	one-year	extension	and	the	result	of	a	successful	
transformation	exercise	which	helped	identify	significant	savings		
for	the	council.	Our	success	in	delivering	transformation	and	cost	
reduction	programmes	is	also	reflected	in	recent	consulting	projects,	
including	several	assignments	for	councils	in	the	Midlands,	where	
we	have	implemented	‘lean’	and	‘systems	thinking’	programmes.

Mouchel	has	been	a	partner	to	Lincolnshire	County	Council	for	
nearly	10	years.	At	the	time	of	appointment	this	was	regarded	as		
a	groundbreaking	BPO	partnership	implementing	major	change		
to	deliver	targeted	savings	of	around	£50.0m	over	a	10-year		
period,	commencing	in	2000.	As	a	result	of	the	two	extensions,		
the	contract	now	runs	to	2015	and	we	have	also	been	engaged	to	
support	the	council’s	efficiency	programme,	‘new	ways	of	working’	
initiatives,	and	a	wide	range	of	projects	within	the	children	and	adult	
services	departments.	

We	are	still	shortlisted	as	one	of	two	for	a	10-year,	bundled	services	
partnership	contract	with	North	East	Lincolnshire	Council,	which	
will	focus	on	urban	regeneration	and	economic	development	and	
deliver	property,	housing,	planning	and	transport	services.	We	have	
already	been	appointed	to	support	the	council	with	their	economic	
wellbeing	and	BSF	programmes,	building	on	our	earlier	success	in	
delivering	improved	educational	outcomes	for	the	authority.

We	are	in	the	advanced	stages	of	negotiation	with	Middlesbrough	
Council	on	a	five-year	extension	to	our	existing	contract,	which	
expires	in	2011,	and	we	expect	a	decision	on	this	later	in	the	year.	
Discussions	also	continue	with	the	client	in	Oldham	around	an	
expansion	in	the	scope	of	our	services	to	include	other	back-office	
activities	and	we	expect	to	secure	this	in	the	second	half	of	the	
current	financial	year.	We	have	worked	with	Oldham	and	Rochdale	
to	award	a	PFI	street-lighting	contract	across	both	boroughs	and	are	
now	developing	business	cases	for	further	shared	service	activities,	
including	highway	maintenance	and	parking	management.

More	local	authorities,	driven	by	the	need	to	become	more	efficient	
and	save	costs,	are	seeking	to	outsource	services.	As	a	result,	we	
have	either	been	shortlisted,	or	expect	to	be	shortlisted,	for	a	raft	of	
new	bundled	services	and	BPO	opportunities.

Elsewhere	in	the	local	authority	marketplace,	we	have	won	a	
number	of	new	contracts	during	the	year,	including	property	design	
and	maintenance	services	for	Kent	County	Council	and	support	to	
the	London	Borough	of	Ealing	with	its	‘Decent	Homes’	initiative.
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Education
The	focus	of	our	Education	business	continues	to	be	on	the	
provision	of	education	improvement	and	property	services,	mainly		
via	the	City	Academy	and	BSF	programmes	and	to	local	authority	
schools	generally.	We	continue	to	leverage	our	existing	footprint	
across	the	local	and	regional	government	sector	through	our	
support	of	major	capital	programmes	like	BSF	and	using	our	
reputation	in	advisory	services	to	target	growth	in	key	areas		
of	education	services	support	and	change	management.

This	year,	we	have	again	been	extremely	successful	in	tendering	for	
City	Academy	projects,	winning	contracts	at	Bournemouth,	Bristol,	
St	Helens,	Isle	of	Sheppey	and	Solihull	Academies.	Our	relationship	
with	the	Harris	Federation	of	Academies	continues	to	grow	and		
we	have	a	strong	pipeline	of	future	opportunities.	We	have	been	
involved	in	about	a	quarter	of	the	200	Academies	which	have	been	
opened	to	date.

In	the	BSF	area,	we	are	continuing	to	focus	on	client	side	advisory	
work,	particularly	through	the	provision	of	management,	property,	
ICT	and	education	consultancy	services.	Project	development	has	
started	on	the	second	phase	of	the	10-year	BSF	programme	in	
Hackney.	Work	on	the	first	phase	is	also	nearing	completion.	Also	
in	Hackney,	but	outside	education,	we	were	appointed	during	the	
year	as	a	framework	contractor	for	estates	and	valuation	services	
in	addition	to	our	existing	role	as	one	of	the	housing	management	
service	providers	in	the	area.	Our	work	installing	a	new	document	
management	system	for	the	council	is	also	nearing	completion.

Business Review
Current and future 
development and performance
Government Services
(continued)



192009 Annual Report and Accounts
Mouchel Group plc

P
erfo

rm
ance

Business Review

Emergency services and other public sector organisations
We	continue	to	focus	our	efforts	on	supporting	other	public	sector	
delivery	organisations	and	are	seeing	a	growing	workload	with	the	
‘blue	light’	service	organisations.	As	a	result,	we	are	now	working	
with	almost	half	of	the	police	forces	in	England	and	Wales,	including	
commissions	recently	secured	with	Gwent,	Dyfed	Powys	and	
Wiltshire	constabularies.	We	have	an	emerging	presence	in	fire	and	
rescue	services	and,	in	particular,	a	strong	presence	in	Essex	where	
we	have	been	supporting	the	client’s	IT	transformation	programme.

We	work	with	over	100	PCTs	across	the	country	and	have		
recently	assisted	the	PCTs	in	Yorkshire	and	Humber	to	redesign	
and	implement	their	patient	referral	and	clinical	decision-making	
processes.

Management Consulting
The	acquisition	of	Hedra	plc	resulted	in	a	step-change	in	both		
the	size	and	capabilities	of	our	Management	Consulting	business.	
However,	integration	of	the	Hedra	business	was	more	problematic	
than	originally	envisaged,	as	was	its	trading	performance	in		
the	current	economic	environment.	We	have	now	restructured		
the	business	and	strengthened	the	management	team,	giving		
us	a	stronger	base	to	build	on	going	forward.	The	one-off	costs	
associated	with	this	restructure	have	been	separately	disclosed		
as	exceptional	items.

During	the	year	the	business	has	supported	significant	cost	reduction	
and	transformation	programmes	for	our	major	partnerships	in	
Lincolnshire,	Middlesbrough	and	Oldham.	Similar	services	are		
being	developed	for	our	commission	with	Rochdale	Council	and		
our	change	management	and	business	transformation	capability		
will	continue	to	position	us	for	sustained	growth	in	the	value	of	these	
partnerships	as	well	as	in	our	other	BPO	commissions.	

We	continue	our	work	with	the	NHS	on	the	National	Programme	for	
IT	as	part	of	the	CSC	Alliance.	The	10-year	programme,	for	which	
Mouchel	is	the	change	partner	for	three	of	the	five	geographical	
areas	in	the	UK,	involves	modernising	systems	and	improving	
working	practices.	Ultimately,	the	programme	will	reduce	spend	
and	improve	patient	care	and	the	environment	in	which	staff	work.	

We	also	continue	to	build	a	management	consulting	capability	
overseas	with	our	move	into	Abu	Dhabi.	We	have	been	appointed	
to	work	with	the	Abu	Dhabi	Government	to	implement	a	knowledge	
management	programme,	designed	to	improve	government	
effectiveness,	and	we	are	preferred	bidder	on	a	potentially		
significant	business	process	re-engineering	opportunity,	also		
for	the	Department	of	Municipal	Affairs	in	Abu	Dhabi.

Darnhill community project – 
a catalyst for regeneration

The challenge
Built	during	the	1960s,	Darnhill	
was	a	vibrant	housing	estate	
comprising	16	shops,	a	library,		
a	local	community	centre	and		
a	health	clinic.	The	years	since		
its	heyday	have	not	been	kind	to	
the	area	however,	due	to	lack	of	
investment	and	increasing	apathy	
among	residents.	The	area	had	
become	seriously	dilapidated		
and	was	rapidly	becoming	a		
target	of	crime.	

The solution
The	Impact	Partnership,		
a	Mouchel	joint	venture	with	
Rochdale	Borough	Council,		
was	commissioned	to	complete		
a	£450k	scheme	to	improve		
young	people’s	facilities.	This		
led	to	a	programme	of	extensive	
stakeholder	engagement	which	

resulted	in	a	further	£850k	
investment	to	completely	
transform	this	community		
area.	The	additional	funding		
was	provided	by	the	Council’s	
library	Services	and	Asset	
Management	Group,	and	by	the	
landlord	of	the	housing	estate,	
Guinness	Northern	Counties.

The outcome
Following	the	success	of		
the	Young	People	Centre,	an	
additional	£200k	was	invested	
to	remodel	the	library.	The	estate	
is	now	an	open,	safe	environment,	
with	a	strong	community	focus	
built	in	conjunction	with	local	
residents	which	has	received	
many	accolades	from	users	and	
residents.	The	future	for	the	young	
people	of	Darnhill	now	looks	very	
much	brighter.
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Key performance indicators
Regulated Industries

	 	 2009	 2008	 %	change

Revenue	(£m)	 180.9	 168.4	 7

Underlying	operating	profit	(£m)	 13.0	 10.7	 21

Operating	margins	(%)	 7.2	 6.4	 –

Order	book1	(£m)	 217	 294	 (26)

Bidding	pipeline1	(£m)	 166	 201	 (17)

Contract	win-rate2	(%)	 26	 42	 –

Staff	numbers	(at	31	July)	 2,172	 2,671	 (19)

Staff	turnover	(voluntary)	(%)	 9	 16	 –

1	At	31	July	2009
2	Win-rate	is	calculated	by	contract	value

Revenue	for	the	year	increased	by	7%	from	£168.4m	to	£180.9m	
and	underlying	operating	margins	improved	from	6.4%	to	7.2%.	
Reduced	revenue	and	profit	from	the	Rail	business	was	more	than	
offset	by	the	increased	activity	from	our	operations	in	the	Gulf	prior	
to	the	economic	difficulties	in	the	United	Arab	Emirates	(UAE),	
towards	the	end	of	the	last	calendar	year,	and	the	subsequent	
sudden	slowdown	in	activity	in	the	region,	particularly	in	Dubai.

Utilities
Although	Rail	and	the	Middle	East	have	proved	to	be	challenging	
markets	for	the	Group	over	the	last	year,	our	Utilities	business	
performed	strongly.	In	water,	we	have	continued	to	experience	
relatively	strong	demand	for	our	services	in	spite	of	the	customary	
slowdown	ahead	of	the	next	AMP	period	which	commences	in		
April	2010.	Also,	notwithstanding	current	economic	conditions,		
the	indications	are	still	that	there	will	be	an	increase	in	expenditure	
during	AMP5	relative	to	earlier	regulatory	periods	and	we		
expect	to	benefit	from	this	given	our	focus	on	maintenance		
and	asset	management.

Mouchel’s	Water	business	is	the	second	largest	provider		
of	water-related	consultancy	services	to	the	UK	water	sector,		
working	with	all	the	major	UK	water	and	wastewater	companies.	
During	the	year,	we	secured	new	or	additional	work	with	a	number		
of	our	water	company	clients;	for	example,	in	the	North	West,	we	
have	been	awarded	a	five-year	extension	to	our	existing	contract		
with	United	Utilities,	which	we	hold	in	joint	venture	with	Kier,		
Murphy	and	Interserve.

Business Review
Current and future 
development and performance
Regulated Industries

SmartBall™ – being smart  
with leakage detection 

The challenge
Leaks	in	trunk	mains	are	very	
difficult	and	costly	to	find.		
In	Australia,	one	such	pipeline,		
which	spans	the	distance		
between	Landers	Shute	and	
Morayfield	to	the	north	of	Brisbane	
totalling	a	length	of	almost		
28km,	experienced	repeated	
unsuccessful	hydrostatic	tests.	
The	challenge	for	the	project	team	
was	to	identify	any	leakage	in	the	
extensive	pipeline	on	behalf	of		
the	regional	bulk	water	transport	
authority.

The solution
SoundPrint®	SmartBall™	is	an	
innovative	new	leak	detection	
technology	developed	by	Pure	
Technologies	and	promoted		
under	licence	by	Mouchel.	The	
SmartBall™	is	introduced	into	

a	pipeline	and	travels	with	the	water	
flow	for	up	to	13	hours	collecting	
information	about	leaks	over	many	
kilometres	with	a	single	deployment.	
Our	team	travelled	to	Australia,	within	
two	days	of	notification,	to	conduct		
a	SmartBall™	survey	and	detect	any	
leaks.	

The outcome
Two	leaks	in	the	pipeline	were	
identified	using	SmartBall™	
technology	and	the	data	processing	
software	pinpointed	their	exact	
locations.	This	new	and	innovative	
technology	provided	increased	
accuracy	on	the	detection	of	leaks,	
resulting	in	significantly	reduced		
man	hours,	reduced	energy	costs		
for	the	water	company	and	ultimately	
achieving	significant	cost	savings	
and	saved	water.
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In	Yorkshire,	we	have	continued	to	support	Costain,	providing	
design	and	build	services	to	Yorkshire	Water	for	the	construction		
of	sewage	treatment	works	and	other	major	capital	projects.		
We	are	currently	in	the	process	of	retendering	this	commission	in	
joint	venture	with	Costain	and	are	hopeful	of	a	successful	outcome.

Early	in	the	financial	year,	we	secured	and	successfully	
commissioned	the	leakage	detection	contract	for	all	eight	zones		
in	Thames	Water’s	North	East	and	North	West	areas.	As	a	result,	
we	are	now	undertaking	leakage	detection	and	associated	activities	
across	North	London,	in	two	of	the	client’s	four	area	networks.	The	
contract	started	in	September	2008	for	two	years	and	is	potentially	
extendable	by	a	further	five	years.

Mouchel	also	has	an	extensive	track	record	in	flood	alleviation.	In	
November	2008,	we	won	Severn	Trent’s	AMP5	feasibility	framework,	
covering	a	three-year	period	and	involving	studies	in	wastewater,	
flooding,	and	environmental	schemes.	In	2007,	the	severe	weather	
and	subsequent	floods	in	parts	of	the	country	covered	by	Severn	
Trent	left	thousands	of	homes	without	a	water	supply.	Our	work	with	
Severn	Trent	has	identified	ways	to	prevent	such	a	catastrophe	from	
happening	again	and,	in	particular,	involved	flood	prevention	works		
at	the	Mythe	water	treatment	works	(which	had	been	threatened	by	
floodwaters	in	2007).	We	have	also	been	liaising	closely	with	the	
local	planning	authority	and	Environment	Agency	to	negotiate	the	
planning	and	flood	defence	consent	processes,	which	has	
subsequently	led	to	a	larger	national	project.

Rail
During	the	year,	we	have	continued	to	work	with	London	
Underground,	where	we	have	been	supporting	CBS	Outdoor		
with	the	rollout	of	its	digital	advertising	media	programme	and	
Thales	with	its	signal	upgrading	work	on	the	Jubilee	and	Northern	
lines.	We	have	also	continued	to	deliver	services	direct	to	London	
Underground	under	a	framework	set	up	to	develop	schemes	which	
will	reduce	the	temperature	on	its	trains	and	station	platforms.

We	have	now	withdrawn	entirely	from	Rail	contracting	given	the	
unacceptable	margins	and	business	risk.	We	are	currently	fulfilling	
our	remaining	contractual	commitments	on	a	small	number	of	
projects	in	this	area	but	are	not	tendering	for	further	work.	Our		
exit	from	this	part	of	the	market	will	be	marked	by	the	imminent	
conclusion	of	our	involvement	in	the	Colchester	to	Clacton	
resignalling	contract.

Our	other	principal	area	of	activity	in	rail	during	the	last	five	years	
has	been	structures	examination	and	inspection	work	for	Network	
Rail,	where	we	learned	during	the	second	half	of	the	financial	year	
that	we	were	unsuccessful	with	our	tender	to	secure	a	position	
under	its	Civil	Engineering	Framework	Agreement	to	provide	these	
services	in	future.	As	a	result,	our	work	with	Network	Rail	was	
reduced	to	almost	zero	and	we	took	the	decision	to	substantially	
exit	the	Rail	sector	as	a	whole.	This	has	resulted	in	a	significant	
impairment	of	goodwill	and	other	intangible	assets,	as	well	as	
one-off	property-related	provisions	and	redundancy	costs	for	staff	
who	did	not	transfer	to	the	new	service	provider.	The	impairment	
charges	and	other	one-off	costs	have	been	separately	disclosed		
as	exceptional	items.

Business Review
Current and future 
development and performance
Regulated Industries
(continued)
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International
Prior	to	the	recent	economic	difficulties,	we	had	grown	our	
international	business	to	become	one	of	the	largest	providers	of	
infrastructure	consultancy	services	in	the	Middle	East.	Predominantly,	
this	involved	working	for	the	state-backed	development	companies	in	
the	UAE,	particularly	Dubai,	where	we	had	a	leading	role	on	the	Dubai	
Waterfront	project	and	which,	until	the	economic	downturn,	was	
planned	to	be	the	world’s	largest	waterfront	development.

We	have	been	adversely	impacted	by	the	deteriorating	economic	
environment	in	the	region.	Currently	there	is	minimal	demand	for	
infrastructure	development,	particularly	in	Dubai,	as	a	result	of	
which	we	have	seen	a	marked	slowdown	in	activity	levels	and	in		
the	timing	of	collection	of	receivables	compared	to	earlier	years.

Over	the	past	few	months,	we	have	been	working	closely	with		
our	clients	in	the	Middle	East	to	either	secure	the	sums	owed	to	us		
or	to	agree	payment	plans	for	the	remaining	outstanding	amounts.		
As	a	result,	we	have	now	incurred	a	£15.0m	exceptional	impairment	
charge	against	fees	earned	which	we	have	not	received.	We	have	
also	now	substantially	restructured	our	business	in	the	Gulf.	This	
has	also	resulted	in	significant	one-off	property-related	provisions	
and	redundancy	costs	which	have	been	separately	disclosed	as	
exceptional	items.

Looking	forward,	we	are	more	optimistic	for	the	prospects	of	the	
business	elsewhere	in	the	Gulf,	though	we	do	not	anticipate	a	return	
to	the	very	high	levels	of	activity	of	2008.	In	the	UAE,	in	addition		
to	the	management	consulting	opportunities	with	the	Department	
of	Municipal	Affairs	in	Abu	Dhabi,	we	are	also	now	working	as	part	
of	a	major	consortium	pursuing	a	public	private	partnership	for	the	
Mafraq	to	Ghwaifat	highway,	which	is	being	led	by	the	Department	
of	Transport	in	Abu	Dhabi.	We	are	continuing	to	provide	infrastructure	
design	services	on	the	Khalifa	Port	Industrial	Zone	development		
in	Abu	Dhabi	and,	in	Kuwait,	we	were	recently	successful	in	our	
tender	for	the	design	and	supervision	of	part	of	the	new	
North-South	highway.

 70
councils are provided  
with remote support  
by Mouchel for Revenue  
and Benefits cases.
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Key performance indicators 
Highways

	 	 2009	 2008	 %	change

Revenue	(£m)	 255.8	 221.2	 16

Underlying	operating	profit	(£m)	 19.8	 16.6	 20

Operating	margins	(%)	 7.7	 7.5	 –

Order	book1	(£m)	 530	 588	 (10)

Bidding	pipeline1	(£m)	 1,101	 870	 27

Contract	win-rate2	(%)	 12	 35	 –

Staff	numbers	(at	31	July)	 3,997	 3,480	 15	

Staff	turnover	(voluntary)	(%)	 7	 13	 –

1	At	31	July	2009
2	Win-rate	is	calculated	by	contract	value

Revenue	for	the	year	increased	16%	from	£221.2m	to	£255.8m,	
principally	as	a	result	of	the	Highways	Agency	(HA)	maintenance	
management	contract	in	Area	3	(Southern	England)	which	
commenced	on	1	September	2008,	as	well	as	additional	activity		
in	our	maintenance	management	commissions	and	technology	
commissions	generally.	At	the	same	time,	underlying	operating	
margins	improved	slightly	from	7.5%	to	7.7%.	

The	highways	marketplace	in	Britain	has	changed	significantly		
in	recent	years	and	we	have	continued	to	adapt	to	maintain	our	
market	leading	position	in	this	area.	

Network management
In	order	book	terms,	Mouchel’s	network	management	commissions	
for	the	HA,	Transport	for	London	(TfL),	Transport	Scotland	and	local	
government	clients	provide	the	greatest	visibility	of	future	earnings;	
with	contracts	typically	running	for	between	five	and	seven	years.	
The	combination	of	white-	and	blue-collar	services	generally	requires	
Mouchel	to	operate	in	joint	venture.	We	work	with	Enterprise	plc	
(formerly	Accord	plc)	in	England	and	with	Balfour	Beatty	plc	in	
Scotland	and	Westminster,	but	we	are	also	still	currently	working		
with	Amey	plc	on	HA	Area	13	(North	West)	until	the	completion		
of	this	contract	in	July	2010.	

As	a	result	of	the	delay	in	closing	the	M25	DBFO	contract,	we	
benefited	during	the	year	from	an	ongoing	role	in	Area	5	(the		
‘M25	Sphere’	contract)	where	our	responsibilities	finally	ceased		
in	September	2009.	In	Area	9	(West	Midlands),	we	also	benefited	
from	a	full-year’s	earnings	as	the	commission,	which	had	been	
undertaken	in	joint	venture	with	Amey,	only	finished	in	July	2009.		
No	further	contracts	will	be	bid	through	the	AmeyMouchel	joint	
venture,	from	which	we	will	have	withdrawn	completely	on	
conclusion	of	Area	13.	
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Our	maintenance	management	commissions	with	the	HA	in	Area	1	
(South	West)	and	Area	3	(Southern	England),	which	we	undertake	in	
joint	venture	with	Enterprise,	continue	to	perform	well.	In	Area	3	the	
impact	of	the	government’s	‘fiscal	stimulus’	has	been	to	increase	
expenditure	through	the	commission,	by	delivering	schemes	to	
support	the	sector	through	the	economic	downturn.	

Our	performance	on	both	Areas	1	and	3	through	the	severe	
weather	last	winter	won	special	commendation,	demonstrating		
our	ability	to	collaborate	successfully	with	adjacent	highway	
authorities	to	deliver	an	effective	service	and	maintain	movement		
on	the	M4	motorway	and	other	strategic	routes	during	the	worst		
of	the	weather.

The	Area	1	and	13	commissions	come	to	an	end	in	the	middle	of	
2010	and	the	procurement	of	new	providers	is	currently	ongoing.	
We	have	been	shortlisted	as	one	of	four	tenderers	in	both	areas.		
As	we	are	currently	incumbent	on	both	commissions,	we	are	
optimistic	of	a	favourable	outcome,	although	the	result	of	the	
tendering	process	will	not	be	known	until	late	2009	or	early	2010.	

The	EnterpriseMouchel	commission	with	TfL	is	also	performing	
well.	There	is	a	strong	environmental	agenda	to	this	contract		
and	we	are	meeting	our	obligations	to	reduce	its	carbon	footprint		
by	introducing	a	range	of	innovative	energy	saving	measures.

Mouchel	continues	to	deliver	local	authority	highways	services	under	
a	range	of	single-service	partnerships	with	county	councils	and	
unitary	authorities	and	as	part	of	multi-service	partnerships	involving	
the	outsourcing	of	other	council	services	–	the	latter	through	our	
Government	Services	business.	Mouchel’s	highways	partnership	
with	Wiltshire	County	Council	has	undergone	service	transformation	
as	the	result	of	a	commission-wide	change	management	exercise.		
In	Hertfordshire,	where	our	contract	has	been	extended	to	2012,		
we	have	developed	an	efficiency	improvement	programme	in	
collaboration	with	the	council	and	the	term	contractor	under	a	new	
risk-reward	model	that	encourages	ongoing	efficiency	improvements.	

We	continue	to	have	a	healthy	pipeline	of	opportunities	in	Highways.	
In	addition	to	the	maintenance	management	commissions	with		
the	HA	in	Areas	1	and	13,	we	are	currently	tendering	a	number	of	
opportunities	elsewhere.	In	September	2009,	we	were	named	by	
Lincolnshire	County	Council	as	the	preferred	bidder	for	its	highways	
professional	services	commission	which	is	a	five-year	contract,	
extendable	to	10.

We	have	recently	been	shortlisted,	in	joint	venture	with	Carillion,		
as	one	of	three	bidders	for	the	highways	maintenance	PFI	contract		
in	Sheffield	and	have	also	been	appointed	in	our	own	right	as	
technical	adviser	to	the	London	Borough	of	Hounslow	for	its	
proposed	PFI	scheme.	Overseas,	we	have	formed	a	joint	venture	
with	the	Australian	company,	Downer	EDI,	to	pursue	maintenance	
management	opportunities.	As	a	result	we	have	now	been	shortlisted	
for	four	potential	commissions	in	Western	Australia	where	the	state	
government	is	pursuing	a	new	approach	to	highway	maintenance,	
similar	to	the	UK	HA’s	model.

Technology
Mouchel	is	the	only	consultant	to	have	developed,	designed		
and	delivered	a	Hard	Shoulder	Running	(HSR)	scheme	in	the	UK,	
having	successfully	managed	the	implementation	of	the	M42	Active	
Traffic	Management	(ATM)	pilot	scheme	south	of	Birmingham.		
We	are	a	key	supplier	supporting	the	HA	in	the	implementation		
of	its	Managed	Motorway	programme,	supporting	the	roll-out	of		
this	programme	elsewhere	in	the	Birmingham	area	and	on	other	
parts	of	the	motorway	network,	notably	the	M60,	the	M3	and	M4.		
The	Managed	Motorway	concept	–	which	includes	HSR,	speed		
and	lane	controls,	and	slip-road	signalisation	(ramp-metering)	–	
increases	capacity	in	a	sustainable	way	by	reducing	the	scale		
of	construction	works.	Our	unique	experience	and	recognition		
of	the	need	for	operational	issues	to	lead	in	such	schemes	has	
been	a	differentiating	factor	in	this	market.

 2.7
million civil enforcement 
transactions processed  
by Mouchel in 2008/09.
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The	HA	TechMAC	schemes	continue	to	perform	well,	involving	
Mouchel	(in	joint	venture	with	Peek	Traffic),	in	the	delivery	of	
technology	maintenance,	system	performance	improvements	and	
congestion	management	schemes.	In	2008/09,	this	has	included	
delivering	several	ramp-metering	sites	across	the	network	which	
enabled	the	HA	to	achieve	its	targets	for	ramp-metering	delivery,		
as	well	as	the	implementation	of	on-road	technology	to	support	
congestion	management.	Also,	in	the	technology	area,	we	have	just	
learned	that	we	have	been	successful	with	our	tender	for	the	HA	
National	Roads	Telecommunications	Service	(NRTS)	PFI	specialist	
consultancy	commission.	This	is	a	10-year	client-side	technical	
advisory	role	where	we	will	be	working	in	conjunction	with	a	
technology	provider	to	facilitate	the	improved	integration	of	roadside	
monitoring	equipment	with	HA	regional	traffic	control	centres.

We	have	also	been	successful	in	securing,	in	partnership	with	
others,	a	technical	consultancy	framework	for	the	Highways		
Agency	which	focuses	on	research	and	technical	standards		
and	has	a	potential	duration	of	two	and	a	half	years.

Business Review

Business Review
Current and future 
development and performance
Highways
(continued)
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Civil enforcement
Civil	enforcement	is	also	a	new,	but	growing	market	for	Mouchel.	
Our	market	entry	was	accelerated	through	the	acquisition	of	
technology	provider	Traffic	Support	Limited	in	2006.	Our	offer	now	
extends	from	the	planning	and	design	of	parking	schemes	through		
to	the	delivery	of	the	software	and	hardware	used	in	managing	
parking,	the	front-line	civil	enforcement	officer	service	used		
to	control	on-street	parking	and	the	back	office	systems	and	
services	needed	to	process	payments	and	pursue	offenders.	

We	have	now	secured	a	total	of	three	parking	and	traffic	management	
commissions	and	have	a	substantial	pipeline	of	opportunities	in	this	
area,	mainly	with	London	boroughs.	Following	our	initial	success	in	
Hillingdon	in	2008,	we	have	subsequently	secured	two	further	similar	
commissions	in	Newham	and	Wandsworth	in	2009.	We	are	also	
currently	targeting	other	major	opportunities	in	London	including	
Camden	and	the	City	of	Westminster.

Capital projects
In	Northern	Ireland,	we	have	been	awarded	a	two-year	(with	a	
potential	two-year	extension)	Consultancy	Services	Framework		
for	the	Strategic	Roads	Improvement	Programme	for	the	Northern	
Ireland	Roads	Service.	We	continue	with	our	delivery	of	the	88km	A5	
Western	Transport	Corridor	improvement	scheme,	between	Derry	
and	Aughnacloy.	This	is	the	UK’s	largest	‘greenfield’	road-building	
scheme,	funded	jointly	by	the	British	and	Irish	governments	in	order	
to	stimulate	economic	regeneration	in	the	North	West	of	Ireland,		
and	has	a	budget	of	up	to	£850m.	Although	this	is	an	important	
commission	for	us,	involvement	in	major	capital	schemes	now		
forms	a	relatively	small	proportion	of	our	overall	highways	portfolio.

The challenge
February	2009	saw	the	UK	hit		
by	heavy	snowfall	that	threatened	
to	cripple	most	of	the	country’s	
transport	networks.	Highways	
Agency	Area	3,	which	covers	
critical	routes	from	Southern	
England	into	London,	was	no	
exception.	Vital	roads	were	put	
under	immense	pressure	from		
the	arctic	conditions	and	effective	
management	was	imperative		
in	order	to	ensure	safety	and		
to	help	reduce	any	negative	
economic	impact.	

The solution
Working	with	the	Highways	
Agency,	EnterpriseMouchel	put		
its	winter	maintenance	plan	into	

action,	mobilising	a	command	
centre	to	effectively	manage	and	
co-ordinate	resources.	Ploughing	
was	undertaken	to	clear	deep	and	
fast	falling	snow	while	spreaders	
carried	out	continuous	salt	runs,	
working	round-the-clock	to	keep	
transport	links	open.

The outcome
Feedback	from	the	Highways	
Agency	and	members	of	the	
public	was	exceptional,	with		
many	emails	and	letters	thanking	
all	those	involved	for	the	hard		
work	that	led	to	such	a	successful	
outcome.	The	preparation		
and	work	carried	out	by	
EnterpriseMouchel	meant	that		
all	roads	remained	open	and	
disruption	was	kept	to	a	minimum.	

Highways Agency MAC – Area 3
Keeping the motorways open 
during heavy snow
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Principal risks and uncertainties

Approach to managing risk
Like	all	companies,	Mouchel	faces	a	range	of	strategic	and	
operational	risks	to	its	business.	Managing	risk	in	the	business		
is	undertaken	at	a	series	of	levels	and	in	accordance	with	
well-defined	risk	management	procedures.	

The	Group	Management	Board	(GMB)	is	responsible	for	assessing	
strategic	risk	to	the	business,	for	maintaining	a	register	of	principal	
risks	and	uncertainties,	and	for	developing	suitable	and	effective	
mitigation	measures	to	control	these.	

Each	business	stream	identifies	the	specific	commercial,	market		
and	operational	risks	to	its	business	and	maintains	a	risk	register	
together	with	mitigation	strategies	for	each	area	of	risk	and	
uncertainty.	The	risk	environment	varies	considerably	across		
the	business	with	industry	and	the	nature	of	work	we	are	involved		
in.	A	large	proportion	of	our	work	is	office-based,	which	carries	
relatively	low	levels	of	health	and	safety	risks,	and	we	have		
taken	steps	to	reduce	site-based	risks	(including,	for	example,		
the	decision	taken	to	exit	the	rail	contracting	sector).

At	contract	and	project	level,	risk	registers	are	also	maintained		
and	for	all	work	involving	significant	risk,	detailed	and	specific	risk	
assessments	are	carried	out	by	project	teams.	In	2008,	Mouchel	
embedded	a	bespoke	software	system	to	facilitate	more	effective		
risk	assessment	and	to	improve	our	ability	to	audit	risk	at	
operational	level.

Our	principal	risks	and	uncertainties	arise	in	the	areas	described	
below.

Market and economic risks
The	current	economic	slowdown	is	affecting	every	market	and	
sector	but	Mouchel’s	business	is	predominantly	focused	on	the	
development,	improvement	and	delivery	of	essential	public	services	
which	are	relatively	inelastic	compared	to	design	and	construction	
services.	In	addition	Mouchel’s	portfolio	of	services	spans	a	range	
of	public	sector	and	public	service	industries	and	impacts	at	a	
number	of	levels,	from	strategic	consultancy	support	to	operational	
delivery.	This	gives	us	a	degree	of	resistance	to	both	the	normal	
cyclical	effects	of	the	markets	and	the	extraordinary	pressures		
on	public	finances	caused	by	recession	and	the	banking	crisis		
of	2008/09.	

Mouchel	will	continue	to	monitor	its	current	contracts	to	identify	
future	changes	in	the	level	of	workload	and	we	will	maintain	a		
good	level	of	industry	intelligence	to	identify	prospects	early	in		
their	lifecycle.

Competitive position
Competition	in	our	principal	markets	is	significant,	though	in	many	
there	are	complex	barriers	to	entry,	preventing	rapid	changes	
occurring	within	the	competitive	environment	in	areas	such	as		
water	engineering,	road	maintenance	management	and	BPO.	

Retaining	existing	clients	and	developing	strong,	long-term	
relationships	is	therefore	important.	Mouchel	has	a	well-developed	
approach	towards	customer	relationship	management	and	
conducts	annual	independent	customer	surveys	for	each	of		
its	larger	accounts.	

Work-winning	is	also	critical	and,	while	the	company’s	conversion	
rate	has	fallen	slightly	this	year,	it	has	been	restored	to	within		
our	target	range	and	is	being	reinforced	by	a	programme	to		
build	work-winning	capabilities	at	every	level	in	the	business	
development	lifecycle.
	
Safety and security risks
Safeguarding	the	safety,	welfare	and	security	of	our	employees	–	
and	others	affected	by	our	activities	–	is	extremely	important.	
Mouchel’s	health	and	safety	performance	is	good	but	we	have,	this	
year,	improved	our	approach	to	training	and	awareness-building,	
monitoring	and	risk	assessment.	In	May	2009	we	launched	a	
behavioural	safety	programme,	which	challenges	employees		
at	all	levels	to	reassess	their	workplace	behaviours.	

Our	principal	safety	risks	arise	from	straightforward	slips,	trips	and	
falls	and	from	occupational	road	risks;	our	focus	is	therefore	on	
these	areas	and	in	September	2009	we	launched	an	occupational	
road	risk	training	programme	to	specifically	tackle	the	second	of	
these	two	areas.	The	security	of	those	who	work	independently		
or	in	front-line	roles	is	also	an	issue	and	we	have	introduced	both	
training	and	technology	to	safeguard	these	individuals.	

Security	of	data,	including	confidential	personal	information	about	
our	employees	and	those	of	our	clients	and	their	customers,	is	very	
important	and	the	increased	sensitivity	of	some	of	our	contracts	has	
been	a	factor	in	leading	us	to	develop	processes	and	procedures	
that	we	believe	will	meet	the	requirements	of	international	standard	
ISO	27001.	It	is	expected	that	the	Company	will	gain	formal	
accreditation	of	its	systems	to	this	standard	during	2009/10.

Public health risks
The	risk	to	the	business	of	a	major	influenza	pandemic	or	other	
public	health	event	has	recently	been	reinforced	by	the	swine	flu	
outbreak	worldwide.	At	present	the	risk	to	the	business	is	relatively	
low	but	we	have	reviewed	the	potential	impact	that	large-scale	
absenteeism	might	create	and	have	contingency	plans	in	place	to	
address	such	a	situation.	We	are	already	providing	regular	guidance	
to	staff	on	the	matter	and	are	making	special	arrangements	for	
more	vulnerable	groups	within	the	business.	

Like all companies, Mouchel faces a range  
of strategic and operational risks to its 
business. Managing risk in the business  
is undertaken at a series of levels and  
in accordance with well-defined risk 
management procedures.
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Workforce risks
Our	ability	to	attract,	recruit	and	retain	sufficient	numbers	of	people	
with	the	appropriate	qualifications,	experience	and	attitudes	is	
critical	to	our	ability	to	operate	effectively.	

Mouchel	has	a	unique	culture,	which	is	embraced	in	our	guiding	
principles	and	the	attitude	of	our	people	towards	public	service,	
and	it	is	important	that	we	perpetuate	this	ethos	as	we	grow.		
So	as	well	as	ensuring	that	our	pay	and	benefits	are	comparable		
or	better	than	industry	norms,	we	continue	to	invest	in	training	and	
developing	our	people	to	the	highest	standards.	Leadership	training	
equips	our	more	senior	people	to	inspire	and	motivate	those	around	
them	to	perform	to	their	best,	while	a	robust	framework	for	review	
and	assessment	ensures	we	provide	our	people	with	fulfilment,	
personal	growth	and	the	most	appropriate	career	opportunities.	

Project	managers	provide	the	crucial	commercial,	technical	and	
programme	management	skills	needed	to	deliver	our	projects	
effectively	and	their	training	and	development	is	an	important	
element	in	our	staff	development	programme	in	order	to	mitigate		
the	risks	associated	with	delivery	failure.

The	fluctuating	needs	of	the	marketplace	present	some	challenges	
but	the	multi-skilling	of	our	professional	workforce	makes	us		
agile	and	capable	of	adjusting	team	structures	to	meet	changing	
customer	and	industry	demands.	Many	of	our	larger	partnerships	
involve	workforce	transfers	under	Transfer	of	Undertakings	
(Protection	of	Employment)	(TUPE),	which	allow	us	to	adjust	
workforce	levels	to	meet	specific	contractual	requirements,	though	
also	present	an	element	of	risk	which	we	can	partially	ameliorate	
through	our	substantial	experience	of	the	TUPE	process.	

Reputation risk 
Design,	management	and	communication	errors,	accidents	and	
incidents	and	poor	stakeholder	management	can	all	threaten	the	
reputation	of	the	business.	To	minimise	this	risk	we	have	continued	
to	strengthen	both	internal	communications	and	press/media	
communications	and	have,	this	year,	introduced	a	more	robust	
crisis	management	protocol	which	ensures	more	rapid	leadership	
and	control	of	Group-significant	incidents.	Our	brand	management	
team	has	continued	to	reinforce	the	new	Mouchel	brand	and	to	
align	sub-brands	to	this	common	identity.	

Joint venture risks
A	significant	proportion	of	our	work	is	carried	out	in	joint	venture	
with	other	organisations;	sometimes	with	our	clients	but	more	
commonly	with	other	service	companies.	Such	joint	ventures		
allow	us	to	extend	the	breadth	of	our	service	offer	and	to	share	risk,	
and	are	essential	in	the	highway	maintenance	management	and	
water	services	industries.	We	mitigate	the	risk	of	such	partnerships	
by	developing	long-term,	multi-contract	relationships	and	by	
embedding	many	of	our	systems	and	practices	in	the	joint	venture	
companies	we	create.	

Financial risks
Financial	risks	comprise	interest	rate	risk,	foreign	exchange	risk,	
credit	risk,	liquidity	risk	and	capital	risk	as	fully	disclosed	in	note	23.

Capacity of systems 
As	Mouchel	continues	to	grow,	its	systems,	processes	and	support	
services	will	need	to	be	fit-for-purpose	in	an	enlarged	business.		
We	continue	to	pursue	a	philosophy	based	on	identifying	scale	
economies	in	all	support	functions,	which	are	constrained	to	grow	
over	the	medium-term	at	a	rate	of	around	half	that	of	the	operational	
businesses	they	support.	This	continues	to	provide	the	business	
with	a	sustainable	level	of	human	resource,	legal	and	contractual,	
marketing	and	communications,	ICT,	safety,	environmental		
and	financial	management	support	to	meet	strategic	and	
operational	needs.	

A	major	project	to	replace	the	company’s	enterprise-wide	
management	information	system	is	currently	being	rolled-out	
incrementally	across	the	business;	this	has	involved	an	investment	of	
approximately	£15.0m	and	has	taken	18	months	to	date.	We	expect	
the	new	systems	to	be	operational	across	the	entire	business	by	
April	2010,	giving	our	managers	improved	visibility	of	the	costs	of	
delivery	and	improved	project	management	tools.	Work	is	also	
underway	to	rationalise	the	policy	and	process	framework	of	the	
Company	under	a	corporate	integrated	management	system.	The	
Company	is	continuing	to	extend	the	scope	of	its	ISO	9001	Quality	
Management,	ISO	14001	Environmental	Management	and	OHSAS	
18001	Health	and	Safety	Management	accreditation.

 10,000
school uniforms procured 
and handed out in September 
2009 by Mouchel working  
with Academy sponsors. 
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Corporate responsibilities

Mouchel	has	made	responsible	corporate	behaviour	the	rationale		
for	what	it	does.	We	are,	after	all,	a	business	that	helps	to	deliver	the	
infrastructure	and	services	which,	as	citizens,	we	all	rely	upon	every	
single	day.	And	as	the	public	services	sector	–	our	principal	market	
–	feels	the	impact	of	increased	economic	and	fiscal	pressures,	the	
need	for	us	to	find	quicker,	cheaper,	safer	and	better	ways	to	deliver	
becomes	ever	more	important.	Corporate	responsibility	is,	quite	
simply,	good	business	for	Mouchel.	

Corporate	Responsibility	(CR)	is	addressed	in	more	detail	in	our	
separate	Corporate	Responsibility	Report	2009,	published	in	
parallel	with	this	Annual	Report.	

Mouchel’s	policy	on	CR	is	determined	by	our	Group	Management	
Board,	led	by	our	Chief	Executive.	The	Board	is	guided	and	
informed	on	corporate	responsibility	matters	by	a	CR	Steering	
Group	led	by	the	Group	Environment	and	Corporate	Responsibility	
Manager.	The	Steering	Group	includes	representatives	from	across	
the	business	and	is	responsible	for	understanding	the	needs		
and	expectations	of	each	of	our	stakeholders,	for	setting	realistic	
standards	of	achievement,	and	for	coordinating	our	approach		
to	corporate	responsibility.	

Our	CR	strategy	provides	a	plan	for	addressing	the	needs	of:

•	 clients	and	end-users
•	 employees
•	 investors	and	media
•	 partners	and	suppliers
•	 environment	and	communities

Our	stakeholder	wheel	identifies	the	principal	parties	in	each	group.

Clients and end-users – relationships
Improving	the	way	in	which	we	serve	our	clients	–	and	their	
end-users	–	while	ensuring	that	we	gain	their	recommendation	
as	well	as	their	satisfaction	means	we	need	an	intimate	knowledge		
of	their	working	environment;	their	priorities,	their	needs,	their	
expectations.	So	this	year	we’ve	fully	embedded	our	key	account	
management	programme	across	the	business,	with	account	
managers	in	place	for	our	clients	and	a	regular	programme	
of	account	reporting	to	the	GMB	now	established.	We	have		
already	begun	to	see	the	benefits	of	this	in	terms	of	improved	

communications	and	understanding	and	in	our	ability	to	introduce		
a	wider	range	of	complementary	services	to	our	existing	customers.	
We’ve	conducted	around	200	face-to-face	interviews	with	our	
clients	this	year	and	achieved	an	average	level	of	client	satisfaction	
of	68%	(66%	2007/08).	

In	2007/08	we	launched	our	Perspectives	magazine;	an	in-house	
publication	that	challenges	accepted	thinking	on	a	range	of	topical	
issues.	The	‘perspectives’	we	present	are	not	just	our	own	but	
include	the	opinions	of	leading	commentators	in	particular	fields.	
Now	in	its	fourth	edition,	the	readership	of	this	magazine	has	grown	
to	an	estimated	8,000	to	10,000	across	all	our	client	markets.	
Issues	tackled	have	included	sustainability,	carbon	management,	
branding,	heritage,	conservation,	safety	and	talent	management.	

Clients and end-users – ethics 
Corporate	and	personal	integrity	is	paramount	in	Mouchel	and		
we	apply	a	strict	code	of	conduct	to	all	our	business	dealings.		
Our	policies	on	employee	conduct,	ethics,	whistle-blowing	and	
fraud	set	the	standards	we	expect	of	our	people.	Regrettably	we	
have	to	report	two	incidents	relating	to	potential	fraud	in	2008/09;	
these	have	been	investigated	and	closed	satisfactorily.	Two	
incidents	relating	to	the	previous	year	remain	under	investigation		
but	in	neither	case	is	there	any	indication	that	our	systems	and	
procedures	were	deficient.	

Employee – health and safety
Safety	is	our	number	one	priority	and	we	endeavour,	through	
advice,	training,	systems,	procedures	and	enforcement	to	ensure,	
as	far	as	possible,	the	safety	and	health	of	all	our	people,	of	those	
we	work	with,	and	of	the	public	in	general.	

Mouchel’s	occupational	health	and	safety	management	system	
meets	the	requirements	of	OHSAS	18001	and	gained	Lloyds	
Register	Quality	Assurance	(LRQA)	accreditation	during	2008/09.	
This	standard	provides	structure	to	the	way	we	plan	our	health		
and	safety,	our	approach	to	hazard	identification,	our	operational	
control	systems,	our	emergency	preparedness	and	our	training	
programmes.	

During	the	past	year	both	our	accident	incidence	rate	(AIR)	and	
Reporting	of	Injuries,	Diseases	and	Dangerous	Occurrences	
Regulation	(RIDDOR)	reportable	statistics	remain	well	below		
the	industry	average	for	our	sector.	

Corporate responsibility is, quite simply,  
good business for Mouchel.
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65,866
pounds is the total 
charitable donations made 
by Mouchel in 2008/09.
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Corporate responsibilities
(continued)

Accidents reported under RIDDOR
	 	 	 	 Benchmark
	 	 	 Accident	incidence	 	 AIR	for
	 	 Number	reported	 rate	(AIR)1	 	 industry2

	 	 2006/07	 2007/08	2008/09	 2006/07	 2007/08	 2008/09	

Fatalities	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0.3

Major	injuries	 2	 2	 3	 39	 25	 27	 45.7

Over	3	day	injuries	 11	 9	 18	 215	 115	 161	 310

1		In	accordance	with	standard	HSE	reporting,	the	accident	incidence	rate	(AIR)	is	
calculated	using	the	formula:	number	of	accidents/number	of	employees	x	100,000.	

2		Figures	taken	from	HSE	website	(www.hse.gov.uk):	injuries	in	Great	Britain	by	industry	
and	severity	of	injury	2006/07	for	total	service	industries	category.

In	2008/09	we	launched	a	behavioural	safety	programme	across		
the	business.	The	purpose	of	the	programme	is	to	challenge	those	
inappropriate	behaviours	which	can,	potentially,	lead	to	accidents.	
We	have	established	a	network	of	working	groups	charged		
with	assessing	team	behaviours	and	self-managing	behavioural	
improvements	over	time.	So	far	the	programme	has	reached	
approximately	800	members	of	staff	in	safety-critical	positions		
but	we	expect	to	accelerate	penetration	through	the	business		
in	the	coming	months.

In	autumn	2008	we	staged	a	simulated	fatality	exercise	to	test	our	
systems	and	communications	for	responding	to	a	major	incident	
involving	one	of	our	employees.	While	the	exercise	was	generally	
positive,	a	number	of	systems	changes	have	been	made	to	improve	
our	ability	to	respond	to	future	incidents.

There	were	no	enforcement	actions	against	the	Company	in	2008/09	
in	relation	to	health	and	safety	matters	but	since	the	end	of	the	
reporting	period	we	have	been	served	with	a	prohibition	notice	relating	
to	building	maintenance	work	being	undertaken	by	a	sub-contractor	
on	one	of	our	partnership	contracts.	The	incident	leading	to	HSE	
intervention	has	been	fully	investigated	and	we	are	satisfied	that		
the	changes	put	in	place	as	a	result	of	the	incident	will	prevent	a	
reoccurrence.	There	were	no	injuries	in	relation	to	this	incident.	

Mouchel’s	health	and	safety	standards	received	further	recognition	
this	year,	achieving	both	a	RoSPA	Gold	award	and	the	International	
Safety	Standard	award	from	the	British	Safety	Council.

Employees – wellbeing and engagement
We	want	our	employees	to	be	healthy	and	to	enjoy	a	good	work-life	
balance,	which	we	believe	is	essential	to	the	long-term	retention	of	
good	quality	people.	So	we	actively	encourage	our	people	to	think	
about	how	best	to	balance	the	requirements	of	the	job	with	their	
broader	lifestyle	needs;	encouraging	home-working	when	practical	
and	equipping	our	people	with	the	IT	and	other	facilities	needed	to	
make	this	possible.

This	year	we	have	introduced	a	more	comprehensive	programme	to	
address	workplace	stress,	providing	training,	advice	and	counselling	
to	combat	the	causes	and	effects	of	stress	on	our	people.	We	have	
extended	our	Employee	Assistance	Programme	to	all	UK	contracted	
staff.	Free	access	is	provided	to	a	24/7	telephone	helpdesk	which	
provides	guidance,	advice	and	support	across	a	wide	range	of	issues,	
from	personal	and	health	matters	to	legal	advice.	The	helpdesk	has	
handled	a	wide	range	of	calls	in	the	last	year,	and	feedback	from	staff	
on	the	service	has	been	very	positive.

For	the	second	year	running,	Mouchel	has	been	ranked	16th	by	the	
Sunday	Times	‘Best	Big	Companies	to	Work	For’	league	of	major	
employers,	a	considerable	achievement	especially	in	view	of	the	rapid	
growth	of	the	Company	and	the	fact	that	due	to	acquisitions	many		
of	the	staff	surveyed	last	year	had	not	been	with	the	Company	for		
that	long.

We	are	currently	rolling	out	the	next	phase	of	our	Mouchel	Life	
programme	designed	to	make	day-to-day	life	better	for	our	people	
both	when	they	are	at	work	and	at	home.	In	March	2009	we	held	
our	annual	Employee	Excellence	Awards	event	at	which	prizes	were	
awarded	in	categories	ranging	from	innovation,	health	and	safety		
and	technical	excellence	to	community	involvement,	customer	
experience	and	partnership	working.

Employees – equality and diversity
Mouchel’s	diversity	steering	group	has	continued	to	ensure	
that	diversity	and	equality	are	considered	in	relation	to	recruitment,	
team	organisation	and	structure,	training,	management	and	
communications.	All	recruiting	managers	in	the	business	are	
required	to	participate	in	interview	and	selection	training	–	
explaining	the	legislative	and	Company	policy	issues	around	
diversity	and	equality	–	and	are	supported	by	a	competency-based	
recruitment	process	which	eliminates	the	risk	of	direct	or	indirect	
discrimination	occurring.	

Investors
Our	commitment	to	those	who	choose	to	invest	in	Mouchel	Group	
plc	is	to	ensure	ongoing	growth	and	profitability	in	the	business;		
to	provide	good	visibility	of	future	earnings	by	maintaining	a	strong	
order	book	and	pipeline	of	multi-year	contracts,	and	to	ensure	
effective	corporate	governance	through	the	contribution	of		
the	Non-Executive	Chairman	and	Directors,	robust	Board	and	
Committee	processes,	effective	professional	advisors	and		
good	audit	practices.	Mouchel	has	continued	to	incorporate	the	
FTSE4Good	inclusion	criteria	within	our	governance	processes		
and	for	the	second	year	running	participated	in	the	global	Carbon	
Disclosure	Project.	We	also	promote	responsible	employee	
investment	within	the	Group	wherever	appropriate,	and	this	is	
supported	by	our	Company	Sharesave	scheme	and	our	share	dealing	
code	which	is	the	responsibility	of	the	Group	Company	Secretary.

Partners and suppliers
All	Mouchel’s	key	suppliers	must	successfully	complete	a	vendor	
assessment	process	prior	to	working	for	the	Company.	An	
approved	vendor	database	is	maintained	for	all	suppliers	and	
contractors.	The	assessment	process	considers	the	financial,	
commercial,	health	and	safety,	quality	management,	insurance,	
environmental	and	management	credentials	of	the	prospective	
supplier	or	contractor.	This	provides	our	project	managers	and		
our	clients	with	assurance	that	those	who	work	on	our	behalf	meet	
basic	competency	and	capacity	requirements.	During	2009/10		
we	intend	to	extend	this	assessment	process	to	include	those	
contractors	and	sub-contractors	appointed	by	our	client	over		
whom	we	have	managerial,	but	not	contractual,	responsibilities.	
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Environment and communities
Communities	and	the	environment	aren’t	just	affected	by	our	
business;	they	are	our	business.	Our	work	with	local	authorities	
seeks	to	improve,	enhance	and	regenerate	local	communities	and	
we	are	specialists	in	the	environmental	sciences.	The	sustainability	
aspect	of	the	infrastructure	schemes	we	undertake	will	invariably		
be	a	key	consideration	and	much	of	the	work	we	do	for	utility	
companies	focuses	on	the	carbon-efficiency	of	their	operations.		
So	doing	the	right	thing	–	supporting	communities	and	the	
environment	–	is	central	to	our	approach.

As	part	of	the	revision	of	our	charity	and	community	involvement	
policy	employees	nominated	five	corporate	charities	whose	causes	
are	aligned	with	our	core	business	sectors	and	with	whom	we		
will	work	closely	over	the	coming	years,	providing	our	time	and		
our	fundraising	skills:	Cancer	Research	UK,	Essex	and	Herts	Air	
Ambulance,	Macmillan	Cancer	Support,	NSPCC	and	Water	Aid.	
During	the	financial	year	the	Group	made	charitable	donations	
of	£48,761	to	these	corporate	charities,	matching	an	equal	
amount	raised	by	staff.	A	further	£17,105	was	donated	to	other	
charities,	making	charitable	donations	for	the	year	£65,866.	In	
2009/10	we	have	committed	a	budget	of	£100,000	to	provide	
further	matched	funding	to	support	staff	fundraising	events.	We	
have	continued	to	provide	a	Give-As-You-Earn	(GAYE)	scheme	
through	flexible	benefits,	giving	staff	a	chance	to	make	tax-efficient	
donations	to	charities	of	their	choice.

Our	environmental	policy	and	management	system	(EMS)		
provides	the	direction	and	framework	for	all	Company	activities		
and	is	supported	through	role-based	training	delivered	through		
our	e-learning	portal	and	face-to-face	training	sessions.	In	2008		
we	set	out	our	three	corporate	environmental	themes;	those	areas		
of	environmental	performance	that	cut	across	all	of	our	business	
activities	and	those	that	we	have	the	greatest	ability	to	influence.	
They	are	to	reduce	our	carbon	footprint,	to	protect	natural	
resources	and	to	minimise	waste.	We	have	continued	to	focus		
on	these	themes	over	the	last	year;	providing	structure	to	our	
environmental	campaigns	and	forming	the	basis	for	the	setting		
of	environmental	objectives	and	targets	within	each	business.		
As	a	result	we	have	seen	some	measurable	improvements	in		
these	key	areas.	During	the	year	we	also	extended	the	scope		
of	our	Group	registration	to	the	ISO	14001	standard	adding	11		
new	office	locations	to	our	Group	certificate	and	ensuring	that	all	
recently	acquired	business	services	are	now	governed	by	our	EMS.

In	2009	the	Government	announced	its	first	carbon	budget	and	
proposed	new	regulatory	measures	–	the	Carbon	Reduction	
Commitment	–	to	tackle	large	energy	users	in	support	of	a	lower	
carbon	society.	Although	our	own	internal	assessments	have	
shown	that	we	will	not	qualify	as	a	large	user	under	these	new	
carbon	rulings	we	have	committed	to	establishing	our	own	internal	
carbon	budgets	in	the	coming	year	and	have	launched	a	‘carbon	
league’	to	encourage	healthy	internal	competition	between	our	
businesses.	During	the	year	we	reduced	our	carbon	footprint	by	
10%	and	have	now	set	reduction	targets	across	the	business.	

Our	involvement	in	the	London	Mayor’s	Green	500	initiative	(a	
carbon-management	programme	aimed	at	the	capital’s	top-500	
businesses)	has	led	to	some	of	our	London	offices	developing	
targeted	action	plans	to	reduce	their	footprints	and	improve	energy	
efficiency,	a	framework	which	we	will	be	extending	to	all	UK	offices	
during	2009/10.	Our	commitment	to	tackle	carbon	management	at	
these	locations	resulted	in	Mouchel	being	presented	with	a	silver	
Green	500	award	by	the	Mayor	of	London	in	June	2009.

One	of	the	biggest	factors	contributing	to	climate	change	is	travel.	
Around	52%	of	our	carbon	footprint	is	associated	with	business	
travel	by	road,	rail	and	air.	Since	2008	the	average	emissions	of		
our	fleet	vehicles	has	reduced	from	148g	CO2/km	to	145g	CO2/km,		
and	we	are	committed	to	improving	this	year-on-year.	In	the		
coming	year	we	will	be	capping	emissions	for	all	Company	cars		
and	incentivising	low	emission	models	on	our	Company	car	list.		
All	employees	will	also	receive	green	driver	packs	containing	useful	
guidance	on	driving	techniques	that	can	improve	fuel	efficiency.

We	have	also	continued	to	promote	our	Company-wide	telephone,	
video	and	webinar-conferencing	system	to	employees,	and	now	
provide	online	training	to	staff	on	how	to	use	the	systems	most	
effectively.	Through	raising	awareness	of	the	benefits	of	using	virtual	
meetings	as	a	means	to	reducing	our	carbon	footprint	we	have	
seen	usage	increase	by	30%	since	2008,	with	over	20,000	hours	
spent	meeting	electronically	instead	of	travelling	to	other	locations		
in	the	last	year.	

 10
percent is the reduction 
in our carbon footprint  
in 2008/09.
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Other financial matters
and business outlook

Order book and pipeline
At	31	July	2009,	the	Group’s	forward	order	book	stood	at	£1.9bn,	
broadly	comparable	with	the	£2.1bn	at	31	July	2008	and	the	£2.0bn	
at	the	half-year	which	means	that	we	continue	to	have	excellent	
visibility	of	future	earnings.	The	bidding	pipeline	of	near-term	
opportunities	and	potential	contract	extensions	stood	at	£2.2bn,	
again	broadly	similar	to	the	£2.2bn	and	£1.9bn	at	the	last	full	and	
half-years	respectively.

The	pipeline	has	benefited	relative	to	the	half-year	from	the	inclusion	
of	the	maintenance	management	contracts	in	HA	Areas	1	and		
13	and	the	highways	maintenance	PFI	opportunity	in	Sheffield.	
We	anticipate	further	growth	in	the	pipeline	in	coming	months		
given	the	number	of	local	authorities	currently	contemplating	the	
outsourcing	of	services.

In	terms	of	bidding	for	new	work,	the	Group’s	win-rate	during	the	
second	half	of	the	year	was	restored	to	within	our	target	range		
(of	between	one-in-three	and	two-in-five	of	tenders	by	value).

Cash flow and working capital
At	31	July	2009,	net	bank	borrowings	totalled	£101.3m	versus	
£81.9m	at	31	July	2008	and	£111.6m	at	the	previous	half-year.

At	the	operating	cash	flow	level,	the	net	cash	generated	from	
operations	before	exceptional	items	was	£32.8m	for	the	period	
versus	£38.0m	for	the	previous	year	with	an	equivalent	annual		
cash	conversion	ratio	of	69%	for	this	year	versus	91%	in	the	
previous	year.	Operating	cash	flow	for	the	period	was	impacted	
considerably,	largely	due	to	the	sudden	slowdown	in	the	demand	
for	infrastructure	development	in	the	Gulf,	especially	in	Dubai,	and	
the	resulting	impact	on	receivables.	

Trade	and	other	receivables	before	impairment	charges	increased	
by	£34.6m	over	the	year,	of	which	£28.8m	of	the	increase	related		
to	the	Middle	East.	At	31	July	2009,	sums	due	in	the	Middle	East	
totalled	£38.6m	of	which	£27.8m	related	to	contracts	in	Dubai,		
with	the	vast	majority	being	due	from	the	local	state-backed	
development	companies.	Given	the	economic	slowdown	in	
Dubai	we	have	taken	an	impairment	charge	of	£15.0m	against		
fees	earned	which	we	have	not	received.	

Overall	cash	performance	for	the	year	was	also	affected	by	the	
ongoing	investment	in	the	replacement	of	the	Group’s	management	
reporting	systems	with	a	resulting	marked	increase	in	capital	
expenditure.	We	anticipate	that	capital	expenditure	will	reduce		
to	more	normal	levels	in	future.

Banking facilities
During	the	year,	the	Group’s	credit	facilities	were	amended	and	
restated.	As	a	result,	the	Group	now	has	facilities	totalling	£190.0m	
with	Royal	Bank	of	Scotland,	Lloyds	TSB	and	Barclays.	Of	the	
£190.0m,	£125.0m	is	in	the	form	of	revolving	credit	facilities,	which	
reduce	by	£10.0m	in	March	each	year,	commencing	March	2010,	
with	the	remaining	balances	of	£30.0m	expiring	on	1	August	2012,	
and	£65.0m	expiring	on	31	October	2012.	The	balance	of	£65.0m	
is	in	the	form	of	a	term	loan	which	also	falls	due	for	repayment	on	
31	October	2012.	The	interest	margin	on	the	£60.0m	of	the	
revolving	credit	facilities	expiring	in	August	2012	was	kept	at	0.5%	
to	1.35%,	depending	on	gearing.	The	interest	margin	on	the	
balance	of	the	facilities	is	2.0%	to	3.5%	depending	on	gearing.

The	Group	has	complied	with	its	banking	covenants	during	the		
year	and	considers	that	its	existing	facilities	provide	adequate	
funding	for	the	business.
	
Taxation
The	effective	rate	of	tax	on	profit	before	tax	and	exceptional		
items	was	26.0%,	compared	with	26.7%	for	the	previous	year.		
The	difference	between	the	effective	rate	of	tax	and	the	statutory	
rate	of	28.0%	reflects	the	benefit	of	additional	reliefs,	partly	offset		
by	the	normal	level	of	disallowable	expenditure.	

Pensions
The	Group	currently	operates	three	main	defined	benefit	pension	
schemes:	the	Mouchel	Superannuation	Fund	(MSF),	the	Mouchel	
Staff	Pension	Scheme	(MSPS)	and	the	Mouchel	Business	Services	
Limited	Pension	Scheme.	The	Group	also	has	admitted	body	status	
in	the	Teesside	pre-funded	defined	benefit	scheme.

The	Group	accounts	for	all	four	schemes	under	IAS	19,	Employee	
Benefits.	The	IAS	19	charge	for	the	year	was	£7.1m,	compared		
with	£5.2m	for	last	year.	The	increase	was	attributable	to	a	£0.4m	
reduction	in	the	current	service	cost	and	a	£2.3m	adverse	movement	
in	the	financing	element	of	the	charge.	The	charge	continues	to	
benefit	from	the	changes	to	the	MSF	and	MSPS	schemes	in	
2006/07,	whereby	most	members	in	the	non-public	sector	sections	
of	the	two	schemes	moved	from	a	final	salary	arrangement	to	a	
career	average	revalued	earnings	(CARE)	basis	for	the	calculation		
of	their	pension	benefits.	Under	this	basis	the	link	to	final	salary	
has	effectively	been	removed	for	both	past	and	future	service.
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At	31	July	2009,	the	total	deficit	under	IAS	19	was	£60.3m	compared	
with	£67.2m	at	31	January	2009	and	£34.6m	at	31	July	2008.	The	
movement	in	the	deficit	compared	with	a	year	ago	reflects	actuarial	
experience	in	the	intervening	period,	principally	declining	asset		
values	and	increased	liabilities	arising	from	a	reduction	in	the	discount	
rate	applied	to	the	liabilities	from	6.6%	at	31	July	2008	to	6.0%	at		
31	July	2009,	partially	offset	by	constraints	in	future	salary	increase	
assumptions.

From	a	funding	point	of	view,	the	last	actuarial	valuations	of	all		
the	schemes	were	undertaken	at	31	March	2007	following	which	
funding	targets	and	related	recovery	plans	were	agreed	with		
the	relevant	trustees.	The	next	valuations	will	now	take	place		
at	31	March	2010.	

(Loss)/earnings per share
Adjusted	earnings	per	share	increased	3%	from	25.7p	to	26.4p.	
Adjusted	earnings	per	share	is	calculated	after	adding	back		
shares	held	by	the	employee	share	trusts	to	the	weighted	average	
number	of	shares.	Earnings	are	adjusted	to	exclude	amortisation	of	
intangible	assets	arising	from	business	combinations,	impairment		
of	intangible	assets	arising	from	business	combinations	and	other	
exceptional	items	(net	of	taxation).	Basic	(loss)/earnings	per	share	
were	(11.7)p	(31	July	2008:	earnings	of	17.9p).

Dividends 
It	is	proposed	that	a	final	dividend	of	3.85p	(2008:	4.25p)	per	
ordinary	share	will	be	paid	on	18	December	to	shareholders	on	the	
register	as	at	23	October.	Taken	together	with	the	interim	dividend	
of	2.25p	per	share,	this	gives	a	total	dividend	of	6.10p	per	share	for	
the	year	as	a	whole,	maintaining	the	total	dividend	at	the	same	level	
as	the	prior	year.

Business outlook
Although	2008/09	has	been	a	challenging	year,	there	is	strong	
evidence	that	Mouchel’s	services	continue	to	be	in	demand	in	the	
sectors	in	which	we	have	become	established.	Public	expenditure	
is	likely	to	come	under	increasing	pressure,	with	capital	investments	
being	postponed	or	scaled	down.	But	in	this	environment	we	expect	
priority	to	be	given	to	the	provision	and	transformation	of	the	
essential	services	and	to	the	management	and	maintenance	of	vital	
infrastructure,	all	of	which	are	core	to	our	business.	Much	of	this	will	
be	through	partnership	and	outsourcing	and	will	create	significant	
opportunities	for	the	Group	as	evidenced	by	our	continuing	strong	
order	book	and	bidding	pipeline.	As	a	result,	we	have	continued	
confidence	in	our	long-term	prospects.

On	behalf	of	the	Board.

Richard Cuthbert
Chief	Executive	

Kevin Young
Group	Finance	Director

16	October	2009

 330
the total number of jobs 
created by the Impact 
Partnership in Rochdale.
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Board of Directors

Bo Lerenius ♦ n • 
Chairman	(62)
Bo	joined	the	Mouchel	Board	in	January	2009	as	a	Non-Executive	Director	
and	became	Chairman	on	1	May	2009.	He	is	currently	a	Director	of	the	
Swedish	Chamber	of	Commerce,	a	Non-Executive	Director	of	G4S	plc,	Land	
Securities	Group	plc	and	Thomas	Cook	Group	plc.	Bo	is	the	former	Group	
Chief	Executive	of	Stena	Line	and	Associated	British	Ports.

Kevin Young 
Group	Finance	Director	(50)
Kevin	joined	Mouchel	as	Finance	Director	in	1998	and	continued	in	this	role	
following	the	merger	of	Mouchel	plc	and	Parkman	Group	plc	in	September	
2003.	He	was	formerly	Group	Financial	Controller	and	Finance	Director	of	the	
Consumer	Logistics	Division	of	Transport	Development	Group.	Kevin	is	a	
Chartered	Accountant	who	qualified	and	trained	with	PricewaterhouseCoopers.

Richard Cuthbert
Chief	Executive	(56)
Richard	joined	Parkman	Group	as	Chief	Executive	in	April	2002	and	continued	
in	this	role	following	the	merger	of	Mouchel	plc	and	Parkman	Group	plc	in	
September	2003.	He	was	formerly	a	senior	Director	and	a	member	of	the	
Group	Executive	at	WS	Atkins	plc.	Richard	is	a	Chartered	Civil	Engineer	with	
extensive	experience	in	the	management	of	consultancy	and	outsourcing	
businesses	in	the	UK	and	overseas.

Lynton Barker n

Non-Executive	Director	(61)
Lynton	joined	the	Mouchel	Board	in	April	2008.	He	is	currently	a	Director		
of	St	Georges	Court	Company	Limited	and	a	Non-Executive	Director	of		
Strategic	Thought	Group	plc.	Lynton	was	formerly	a	Director	of	Hedra		
Limited	(previously	Hedra	plc)	from	2003	to	2008,	and	latterly	Hedra’s	Chairman	
before	it	was	acquired	by	Mouchel	in	March	2008.	Prior	to	joining	Hedra,	Lynton	
was	Head	of	UK	Consultancy	for	PricewaterhouseCoopers	and	a	member	of		
their	UK	main	Board	and	of	their	European	Consultancy	Board.	He	was	a	member	
of	Public	Services	Productivity	Panel	from	2002	to	2007	and	Chairman	of	the	
Scientific	Services	Agencies	Board	from	2004	to	2007.	

Debbie Hewitt ♦ n •
Non-Executive	Director	(46)
Debbie	joined	Mouchel	as	an	Advisor	to	the	Board	in	April	2007	and		
was	appointed	a	Non-Executive	Director	in	September	2007.	She	is	a	
Non-Executive	Director	of	Redrow	plc,	Luminar	plc,	NCC	plc,	H.R.	Owen	plc,	
the	Office	of	Government	Commerce,	a	Director	of	the	Recovery	Industry	
Support	Charity	and	a	Non-Executive	Member	of	the	Board	of	Communities	&	
Local	Government.	Debbie	was	Managing	Director	of	the	RAC	Automotive	
Group	and	held	various	commercial	and	HR	management	positions	at	Marks	
&	Spencer.	She	has	an	MBA	with	distinction,	is	a	Fellow	of	the	Chartered		
Institute	of	Personnel	Development	and	a	Parish	Councillor.
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Rodney Westhead ♦ n •
Senior	Independent	Director	(65)
Rodney	joined	the	Board	of	Parkman	Group	in	June	2001.	He	was	
appointed	a	Non-Executive	Director	following	the	merger	of	Mouchel	plc		
and	Parkman	Group	plc	in	September	2003.	Rodney	is	the	Chairman	of	
Clean	Air	Power	Ltd	and	a	Non-Executive	Director	of	AEA	Technology	plc	
and	Transense	Technologies	plc.	He	was	formerly	Non-Executive	Chairman	
of	Carter	and	Carter	plc,	Group	Chief	Executive	of	Ricardo	plc	and	a	partner		
at	Grant	Thornton.	Rodney	is	a	Fellow	of	the	Institute	of	Chartered	
Accountants	in	England	and	Wales.

Ian Knight ♦ n

Non-Executive	Director	(58)
Ian	joined	the	Mouchel	Board	as	a	Non-Executive	Director	in	2001.	lan	is	a	
Non-Executive	Chairman	of	QDS	Environmental	Limited,	and	Non-Executive	
Director	of	Morson	Group	plc.	He	was	formerly	Non-Executive	Chairman	of	
Delta	Simons	Environmental	Consultants	Limited	and	Group	Treasurer	of	the	
Yorkshire	Water	Group.

Amanda Massie 
Group	Company	Secretary	(39)
Amanda	joined	the	Group	in	October	2004.	She	was	previously	Group	
Company	Secretary	of	WS	Atkins	plc	and	a	member	of	their	Group	
Management	Board.	Prior	to	WS	Atkins,	she	worked	in	the	City	as	Company	
Secretary	for	a	group	of	insurance	companies.	Amanda	is	a	Fellow	of	the	
Institute	of	Chartered	Secretaries	and	Administrators.

Sir Michael Lyons n •
Non-Executive	Director	(60)
Sir	Michael	joined	the	Board	of	Parkman	Group	in	June	2001.	He	was	
appointed	a	Non-Executive	Director	following	the	merger	of	Mouchel	plc	and	
Parkman	Group	plc	in	September	2003.	Sir	Michael	is	Chairman	of	the	BBC	
Trust	and	the	English	Cities	Fund.	He	is	a	Non-Executive	Director	of	Wragge	
&	Co	and	SQW	Group	Limited.	He	has	undertaken	a	series	of	independent	
reviews	for	the	Government	(including	the	Lyons	Review	2004	to	2007)	into		
the	future	role	and	funding	of	Local	Government.	Sir	Michael	was	formerly	
Acting	Chairman	of	the	Audit	Commission,	Non-Executive	Director	of		
Central	Independent	Television	Ltd,	Chief	Executive	of	Birmingham	City	
Council,	Nottinghamshire	County	Council	and	Wolverhampton	Metropolitan	
Borough	Council.

♦	 Member	of	the	Audit	Committee
n	 Member	of	the	Nomination	Committee
•	 Member	of	the	Remuneration	Committee

Board of Directors
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Directors’ Report

The Directors present their Annual Report and the audited Financial 
Statements of Mouchel Group plc (the Company) and the Mouchel 
Group for the year ended 31 July 2009.

Principal activities
Mouchel is a consulting and business services group supporting 
clients in developing and managing their infrastructure assets. 
Services are delivered through three main businesses: Government 
Services, Regulated Industries and Highways.

Business review
The progress of the business during the year and anticipated future 
developments are discussed in the Chairman’s Statement and 
Business Review on pages 6 to 35 and provide information about 
the Group’s strategy, its business, its financial performance,  
key performance indicators, the principal risks and uncertainties 
facing the Group and likely developments.

Acquisitions
The Company did not make any acquisitions during the year.

Post balance sheet event
Please refer to Note 37 on page 96.

Results and dividends
The Group loss for the financial year after taxation and exceptional 
items amounted to £13.0m (2008: profit of £19.6m). An interim 
dividend of 2.25p per ordinary share was paid on 30 May 2009.

The Directors recommend a final dividend of 3.85p per ordinary 
share (2008: 4.25p), which will absorb an estimated £4.3m of 
shareholder funds, to be paid on 18 December 2009 to ordinary 
shareholders on the register at the close of business on 23 October 
2009. Total dividends relating to the year will amount to 6.10p  
per share.

Financial instruments
The Group’s financial risk management objectives and policies can 
be found in note u of the Accounting policies on page 62 and note 
23 of the Notes to the Financial Statements on page 80.

Directors
Biographical details of the Directors who served on the Board 
during the year and up to the date of signing the annual report  
and their share interests can be found on pages 36 and 51 
respectively. On 30 January 2009 Bo Lerenius was appointed to 
the plc board as a Non-Executive Director. Bo is the former Group 
Chief Executive of Stena Line (1992 to 1998) and of Associated 
British Ports (1999 to 2007), where he remained a Non-Executive 
Director until 31 December 2007. He is currently a Director of the 
Swedish Chamber of Commerce, a Non-Executive Director of  
G4S plc, Land Securities Group plc, and Thomas Cook Group plc.  
Bo succeeded Richard Benton as Chairman on 1 May 2009. 

Richard Benton stood down as Chairman on 1 May 2009 after  
11 years with the Group. He joined Mouchel as a Non-Executive 
Director in 1998 and became Chairman in 2001, successfully 
steering Mouchel through its flotation in 2002 and subsequent 
merger with Parkman Group plc in 2003. Richard made a huge 
contribution to the development and growth of the Group.

Details of the remuneration of all Directors who served during  
the financial year and their service contracts are included in the 
Remuneration Report on pages 49 to 51. No Director was materially 
interested in any contract of significance to the Company’s business 
or the Group.

During the year, the Group has maintained cover for its directors 
and officers and those of its subsidiary companies under a 
directors’ and officers’ liability insurance policy, as permitted  
by the Companies Act 2006.

Share capital and change of control
The authorised share capital of the Company as at 31 July 2009 
together with details of shares issued during the financial year is 
shown in note 27 of the Notes to the Financial Statements on page 
85. During the year, the Company’s ordinary share capital increased 
by 281,458 as a result of the issue of shares to satisfy exercises 
under employee share plans. The ordinary share capital as at  
31 July 2009 consisted of 112,369,719 ordinary shares of 0.25p each.

The rights and obligations attached to the Company’s ordinary 
shares are contained in the Company’s Articles of Association,  
a copy of which can be obtained on request from the Company 
Secretary. The Articles of Association can only be changed by  
a special resolution passed in general meeting of the shareholders. 
There are no special control rights or restrictions on transfer or 
limitations on the holding of ordinary shares and no requirements 
for the prior approval of any transfers. No person holds securities  
in the Company carrying special rights with regard to control of the 
Company. The Company is not aware of any agreements between 
holders of securities that may result in restrictions on the transfer  
of securities or on voting rights.

Each ordinary share (other than treasury shares, which have no 
voting rights) carries the right to vote at a general meeting of the 
Company. At any general meeting, a resolution put to the vote of 
the meeting shall be decided on a show of hands unless a poll is 
duly demanded. On a show of hands, every member who is 
present in person or by proxy at a general meeting of the Company 
shall have one vote. On a poll, every member who is present in 
person or by proxy shall have one vote for every share of which  
they are a holder.

The Trustees of the Company’s Employee Share Ownership Plan 
Trusts (ESOPs) have waived their rights to dividends in respect of 
1,436,844 shares and do not exercise their right to vote in respect  
of such shares. The Company’s employee share schemes contain 
provisions relating to a change of control of the Company. Under 
these provisions, a change of control of the Company would 
normally be a vesting event, subject to any relevant performance 
conditions being satisfied. The Company is not a party to any other 
significant agreements that take effect, alter or terminate upon a 
change of control nor is it party to any agreement with the directors 
or employees providing for compensation or loss of office or 
employment that occurs as a result of a takeover bid.

Purchase of own shares
The Company has authority from shareholders to purchase up to 
10% of its own ordinary shares in the market. This authority was  
not used during the year nor in the period to 16 October 2009. The 
Board intends to seek shareholder approval to renew the authority 
at this year’s Annual General Meeting (AGM).

In accordance with the Companies (Acquisition of Own Shares) 
(Treasury Shares) Regulations 2003, companies are permitted to 
hold purchased shares rather than cancelling them. The Board has 
no current intention to purchase shares as treasury shares, other 
than as required for employee share schemes.
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Substantial shareholders
As at 6 October 2009, the Company had been notified of the 
following voting interests in its ordinary share capital, disclosable 
under the Financial Services Authority’s Disclosure and 
Transparency Rules:

   No. of % of issued
Name of holder  ordinary shares  share capital

M&G Investment Management Ltd  12,828,418 11.42
Schroder Investment Mgmt Ltd  11,284,834 10.04
Legal & General Investment Mgmt Ltd  7,778,148 6.92
Aegon Asset Management  7,014,058 6.24
Lloyds Banking Group  6,171,896 5.49
Invesco Asset Management  4,348,061 3.87
Threadneedle Asset Management Ltd  3,395,500 3.02

Corporate governance
A report on corporate governance can be found on pages 42 to 45.

Corporate Responsibility
A summary of the Group’s Corporate Responsibility activities can 
be found in the Business Review on pages 30 to 33. In addition, the 
Group has produced a separate Corporate Responsibility Report, 
which provides more detailed information with respect to the 
environment, health and safety and employees. A copy of the 
Report is available on the Company’s website.

Employees
As at 31 July 2009, there were 11,121 people including temporary 
staff working for the Group. The Group’s policy is to provide an 
environment for all employees to fully develop their individual 
potential and thereby encourage their contribution to the success of 
Mouchel. The Group places considerable value on the involvement 
of its employees and has Investors in People accreditation for all its 
UK offices and sites.

Internal communication is a high priority within the Group and 
employees are kept informed on matters affecting them as 
employees and on the Group’s financial performance. This is 
achieved through informal and formal meetings and various 
communications. Following the announcement of the Group’s final 
and interim results, staff presentations are made in various locations 
across the Group by the senior management team. The Group uses 
its intranet to communicate job vacancies, Group policies and other 
Company news.

Staff opinions are sought annually via a confidential staff survey. 
The results of the survey are communicated to staff and action 
plans are implemented to make improvements.

Employees are encouraged to own shares in the Company and  
this is actively promoted via the Sharesave scheme.

The Group has a diversity and equal opportunities policy and is 
committed to providing equal opportunities to all employees and 
job applicants irrespective of gender, race, age, religion, disability  
or sexual orientation.

The Group’s policy and practice in respect of disabled persons  
is to encourage the recruitment and subsequent training, career 
development and promotion of disabled persons and the retention 
and retraining of employees who become disabled, on the basis  
of their aptitude and abilities.

The Group also has a policy of ensuring it offers family-friendly 
working arrangements. We consider requests for individuals to 
work flexibly to meet their needs and the needs of the business. 
Some people also have more formal arrangements in place such  
as part-time working and job-sharing. Our flexible benefits scheme 
offers childcare vouchers and the opportunity to extend a number 
of healthcare benefits to employees’ families.

Learning and development is critical to the success of Mouchel  
and we have a performance management system that provides  
a bi-annual opportunity for employees to discuss their progress  
and identify training needs. We provide our employees with a wide 
range of resources to assist with their personal development,  
which includes a mix of formal training and online self-learning.

Charitable and political donations
During the financial year 2008/09 the Group made charitable 
donations of £48,761 to a range of charities, matching an equal 
amount raised by staff. A further £17,105 was donated to other 
charities, making total charitable donations for the year of £65,866 
(2008: £80,417).

We have developed a new community involvement policy, 
encouraging our employees to form long-term relationships  
with local charities, by focusing on volunteer work and fundraising  
which benefits the local community. We believe that these efforts 
will now have a significant impact and will build on the benefits  
we are already providing through the Group’s contracts with  
local authorities. The Group will match both time volunteered  
and funds raised and we aspire to devote time and resources  
to the community equivalent to 1% of pre-tax profits.

It is the Group’s policy not to make political donations in the UK or 
overseas and the Group has no intention of making any political 
donations or incurring such expenditure in the future. However, the 
Political Parties, Elections and Referendum Act (the PPER Act) and 
part 14 of the Companies Act 2006 (the 2006 Act) define political 
parties, other political organisations or independent election 
candidates very widely. The Board will therefore seek authority at 
the forthcoming AGM for the Company and any Company that is  
or becomes a subsidiary during the period ending on the date of 
the AGM 2010 to incur such political expenditure up to £100,000  
in aggregate in order to prevent an inadvertent breach of the PPER 
Act and the 2006 Act.

Research and development
During the year, the Group capitalised £526,000 (2008: £nil) relating 
to internal software development.

Supplier payment policy
Mouchel Group plc is a holding Company and has no trade 
creditors. Group companies aim to adhere to the payment terms 
agreed with suppliers. Payments are contingent on the supplier 
providing goods or services to the required standard, and 
purchasing is sometimes co-ordinated between Group undertakings.
As at 31 July 2009, the Group had an average of 40 days 
purchases owed to trade creditors (2008: 42 days). This represents 
the ratio, expressed in days, between the amounts invoiced to the 
Group by its suppliers in the year to the trade creditors at year-end.
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report,  
the Remuneration Report and the Financial Statements in 
accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements 
for each financial year. Under that law the Directors have elected to 
prepare the Group Financial Statements and the Parent Company 
Financial Statements in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union. 
Under company law the Directors must not approve the Financial 
Statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair 
view of the state of affairs of the Group and the Company and of  
the profit or loss of the Group for that period. In preparing these 
Financial Statements, the Directors are required to:

•  select suitable accounting policies and then apply them 
consistently;

•  make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable 
and prudent;

•  state whether IFRSs as adopted by the European Union subject  
to any material departures disclosed and explained in the Group 
and Parent Company Financial Statements respectively;

•  prepare the Financial Statements on the going concern basis 
unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group will continue 
in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting 
records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company’s 
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the 
financial position of the Company and the Group and enable them 
to ensure that the Financial Statements and the Remuneration 
Report comply with the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the 
Group Financial Statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. They 
are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company 
and the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity  
of the Company’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom 
governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements 
may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
 
Each of the Directors, whose names and functions are listed in the 
Board of Directors on pages 36 and 37 confirm that, to the best of 
their knowledge:

•  the Group Financial Statements, which have been prepared in 
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, give  
a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and 
loss of the Group; and

•  the Directors’ Report which can be found on pages 39 to 41 
includes a fair review of the development and performance of 
the business and the position of the Group, together with a 
description of the principal risks and uncertainties that it faces.

Going concern
The Financial Statements have been prepared on a going concern 
basis as, after making appropriate enquiries, the Directors have a 
reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources to 
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.

Auditors
Having made enquiries of fellow Directors, each of the Directors 
who was a member of the Board at the time of approving the 
Directors’ Report confirms that to the best of each Director’s 
knowledge, the Financial Statements have been prepared on  
a going concern basis as, after making appropriate enquiries,  
the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group has 
adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future, there is no relevant audit information (i.e. 
information needed by the Company and Group’s Auditors in 
connection with preparing their Report) of which the Company and 
Group’s Auditors are unaware and that each Director has taken all 
steps that they ought to have taken as a Director to be aware of any 
relevant audit information and to establish that the Company and 
Group’s Auditors are aware of that information.

Resolutions to reappoint PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as Auditors 
of the Company and to authorise the Audit Committee to determine 
their remuneration will be put to the members at the AGM.

Annual General Meeting
The AGM of the Company will be held at the offices of RBS,  
3rd Floor Conference Centre, 250 Bishopsgate, London EC2M 4AA 
on 11 December 2009 at 10.00am. The business to be put to the 
shareholders is detailed in the separate Notice of Meeting 
accompanying this Report.

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf
 

Amanda Massie
Group Company Secretary
16 October 2009
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The Group operates to a high standard of Corporate Governance. 
In pursuit of such standards, the Directors apply a governance 
approach that complies with all of the provisions of the Combined 
Code on Corporate Governance adopted by the Financial 
Reporting Council in June 2008 (the Code). Where practicable,  
the Directors seek to comply with guidelines issued by institutional 
investors and their representative bodies. 

The Board
The role of the Board
The Board’s principal responsibility is to deliver shareholder  
value and provide an overall vision and leadership for the Company.  
It determines the Company’s strategic direction; reviews the 
Company’s operating and financial performance; provides oversight 
that the Company is adequately resourced and effectively controlled; 
and is the primary decision-making body for all matters considered 
as significant to the Company as a whole. 

There is a formal schedule of matters reserved for the the Board, 
which provides a framework for the Board to oversee the control of 
the Group’s direction and affairs. These include the approval of the 
Group’s long-term objectives and commercial strategy; the approval 
of budgets and business plans, and oversees the Group’s 
compliance with regulatory obligations. 

The full schedule of matters reserved for the Board is available on 
the Company’s website.

Board composition and Board balance
The Board comprised nine members for part of 2008 and 2009  
and reduced to eight members following the retirement of Richard 
Benton on 1 May 2009. Two members are Executive Directors and 
six members, including the Chairman, are Non-Executive Directors. 
Collectively, they have a diverse range of skills and experience.

The Board annually reviews the composition of the Board and 
considers that there is an appropriate balance of Executive and 
Non-executive Directors on the Board.
 
Chairman and Chief Executive
The separate roles and objectives of the Chairman and the  
Chief Executive are clearly defined in written role descriptions. 
These are reviewed and reapproved annually by the Board.

Richard Benton was Chairman of the Board until his retirement in 
May 2009 when he was succeeded by Bo Lerenius. The Chairman 
is responsible for the leadership and efficient operation of the 
Board, for ensuring that corporate governance matters are 
addressed, and for representing the Company externally and 
communicating with shareholders when required.

The Chief Executive, Richard Cuthbert, is responsible for the 
development and implementation of policy and strategy and for  
the day-to-day operations of the Group. He is also responsible  
for chairing the Group Management Board and leads the 
communication programme with analysts and potential investors, 
providing feedback to the Board on a regular basis.

Independent Non-Executive Directors 
The Board considers that all of the Non-Executive Directors are 
independent of management and free of any business relationship 
or other circumstance that could materially interfere with the 
exercise of objective, unfettered or independent judgement.  
In determining their dependence, the Board reviews all Directors’ 
interests which may give rise to a potential or perceived conflict,  
and any circumstances relevant to their current or ongoing 
independence as set out in the Code.

Lynton Barker was appointed as Non-Executive Director and 
deemed by the Board to be independent notwithstanding his 
previous position as Chairman of Hedra, a Company acquired by 
the Group. In reaching the determination, the Board have regard  
to all circumstances and is satisfied that Lynton Barker remains an 
independent Director.

Each Non-Executive Director serves for a fixed term of not 
exceeding three years that may be renewed by mutual agreement. 
Subject to the Board being satisfied with a Director’s performance, 
independence and commitment, there is no specified limit 
regarding the number of terms a Director may serve. The 
comparatively long tenure of several Directors, in our judgement, 
has been instrumental to the Boards in-depth understanding of  
the Group and its operation. New and long-service directors alike 
challenge and bring considerable knowledge.

Senior Independent Director
The Senior Independent Director, Rodney Westhead, is available  
to shareholders should they have any issues or concerns that they 
have been unable to resolve through normal channels, or when 
such channels would be inappropriate. He is also responsible  
for leading the Board’s discussion regarding the Chairman’s 
performance. 

Board process
The Board is responsible for the overall strategy of the Group  
and carries out its duties assisted by the Board Committees.  
The Committees’ activities are described on pages 43 to 44.

To enable the Directors to fulfil their duties and obligations, 
all Directors are fully briefed on important developments in  
the various business activities which the Group carries out and 
regularly receive information concerning the Group’s operations, 
finances and risk factors. The Directors are also frequently advised 
on regulatory and best practice requirements which affect the 
Group’s business. Comprehensive papers are circulated to 
Directors in advance of Board meetings and presentations  
made at the meetings where appropriate. 

The Board is scheduled to meet monthly and no less than 10 times 
a year. In addition to normal scheduled meetings, the Board 
convenes from time to time to deal with urgent matters. In the year 
under review, the Board met 17 times and held eight Committee 
meetings. The Board also meets at least once a year to review the 
strategic direction of the Group. The Chairman and Non-Executive 
Directors meet annually without the Executive Directors present  
and the Senior Independent Director is responsible for leading  
the appraisal of the Chairman’s performance with the other 
Non-Executive Directors.
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The table below shows the number of board meetings held during 
the year and the attendance by individual Directors.

Number of Board meetings held in 2009  17
Bo Lerenius1 (Chairman)   11/11
Richard Cuthbert   17/17
Kevin Young   17/17
Lynton Barker   16/17
Debbie Hewitt   16/17
Ian Knight   16/17
Sir Michael Lyons   13/17
Rodney Westhead   13/17
Richard Benton2   12/12

1 appointed 30 January 2009
2 retired 1 May 2009

Conflict of interest
In line with the Companies Act 2006, the Company has established 
a robust procedure requiring Directors to seek appropriate 
authorisation prior to entering into any outside business interests. 
Actual or potential conflicts of interest are reviewed by the Board.  
In assessing potential conflicts, the Board takes into consideration 
the impact on time commitment.

Group Company Secretary
All Directors have access to the advice and services of the 
Company Secretary and may, in furtherance of their duties, seek 
independent professional advice, including legal advice at the 
Company’s expense. The Company Secretary is responsible  
for ensuring that Board procedures and applicable rules and 
regulations are followed. The Company Secretary, in consultation 
with the Chairman, ensures that the information presented to the 
Board is not only timely but of sufficient quality to enable members 
to make informed decisions.

Board performance and evaluation
An effective Board is crucial to the success of the Group. To assess 
the performance of the Board and its committees, the Board 
undertook a formal and thorough evaluation of its own performance 
and that of its Committees. Each Board member completed  
a detailed questionnaire, the responses to which were all reviewed 
by the Chairman and discussed with the entire Board. The Board 
considered the merit of using an external body to manage the 
performance evaluation process and concluded that it remained 
appropriate for the Board to evaluate its own performance.

The evaluation covered areas such as the Board’s role and culture, 
strategy, current issues and performance, risk management and 
controls, Board structure, succession planning, Board and principal 
committee meetings. The conclusion was that the Board operated 
effectively. The outcome of the evaluations undertaken over the 
past four years was also reviewed and the progress on any actions 
noted. 

Directors’ induction and training
The Board receives regular briefings by senior executives, the 
Company’s advisors, and other means, to update and develop their 
skills and knowledge, and to gain a thorough understanding of the 
Group’s businesses and operations. During the year, the Board 
continued to receive briefings on new requirements introduced  
by the Companies Act 2006. External training is made available 
where appropriate. 

On appointment, new Directors receive a wide-ranging and 
comprehensive induction covering the Group’s operations and  
the legal, regulatory and other obligations of a Director of a listed 
company. The induction includes site visits and meetings with  
key management and the Company’s legal and financial advisors. 
The Directors also attend external courses where necessary.

Election and re-election of Directors
In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, one-third 
of the Board is required to retire by rotation each year, but if any 
Director has, at the start of the AGM, been in office for three years 
or more since his or her last appointment or reappointment, he or 
she shall retire at the AGM. In addition, any Director appointed 
during the year is subject to election at the AGM after their 
appointment. The Non-Executive Directors are appointed for  
an initial three-year term after which they are subject to annual 
reappointment.

Board Committees
The Board is assisted in discharging its responsibilities  
through three principal Committees: the Audit Committee;  
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee.  
In addition to the Board Committees, the Group Management  
Board assists the Chief Executive in implementing the day-to-day 
management responsibilities of the Group.

Each Committee is responsible for the activities within its defined 
terms of reference. The Chairman of each Committee provides the 
Board with a summary of key issues considered at the meetings of 
the Committees and the minutes of the meetings were circulated to 
the Board.

Board Committees are authorised to engage the services of 
external advisers as they deem necessary in the furtherance  
of their duties at the Company’s expense.

Reports of the Committees are set out on pages 43 to 44 and 
pages 46 to 51.

Audit Committee

Number of meetings held in 2009   3
Ian Knight (Chairman)   3/3
Debbie Hewitt   3/3
Rodney Westhead   2/3
Bo Lerenius1*    2/2

1 appointed 31 July 2009
* attended by invitation

The Audit Committee assists the Board in discharging its 
responsibilities for the integrity of the Company’s external financial 
reporting; the assessment of the adequacy and effectiveness of the 
internal financial and risk control function; the Group’s accounting 
policy and monitoring the effectiveness and objectivity of the 
external Auditors. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee 
were reviewed during the year. 

The Committee members have broad experience and knowledge  
of financial reporting. Their biographical details can be found on 
pages 36 and 37 of this Report. The Board believes that Ian Knight 
and Rodney Westhead have recent and relevant financial experience.
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The Committee held three scheduled meetings during the year  
and considered all matters under its remit. The external Auditors, 
the Group Finance Director, the Group Financial Controllers and  
the Chief Executive normally attend, by invitation, all meetings of  
the Committee. Other members of senior management are also 
invited to attend as appropriate to present reports. 

It is the Committee’s practice at each meeting to meet separately 
with the external Auditor and without any members of management 
being present, and to meet with the management without the 
external Auditor present to discuss matters relating to any issues 
arising from the audit and matters relating to the Auditor’s remit  
and performance.

The Group’s Auditor has direct access to the Committee to raise 
any matters for discussion. 

During the year, the Committee’s activities included:

•  a review of the Company’s financial announcements including the 
Annual Report and Accounts and associated documentation, 
placing particular emphasis on their fair presentation and the 
reasonableness of the judgemental factors and appropriateness 
of significant accounting policies used in their preparation;

•  monitoring the Group’s overall system of risk management; 
•  a review of the effectiveness of the internal systems with  

respect to financial control; 
•  a review of the Auditors’ independence, performance and 

effectiveness; 
•  review of the arrangements by which employees may, in 

confidence, raise concerns about possible improprieties in all 
areas; and

•  a review of the effectiveness of the Group’s Fraud policy, the 
Group’s Business Ethics policy, the Group’s Anti-Corruption  
policy and the Group’s Whistle-blowing policy. 

The effectiveness of the Committee’s performance was evaluated 
as part of the overall Board evaluation exercise during the year.

The full terms of reference of the Committee can be found on the 
Company’s website. 

Remuneration Committee 
The Report of the Remuneration Committee can be found on pages 
46 to 51 of the Report.

Nomination Committee

Number of meetings held in 2009    4
Bo Lerenius1 (Chairman)   –
Lynton Barker   4/4
Debbie Hewitt   4/4
Ian Knight   4/4
Sir Michael Lyons   3/4
Rodney Westhead   3/4
Richard Benton2 (Chairman)   4/4

1 appointed 1 May 2009
2 retired 1 May 2009

The Nomination Committee primarily focuses on the structure, size, 
composition and skills of the Board to ensure that it is comprised  
of individuals who are best able to discharge the responsibilities 
required by the Group. It also makes recommendations to the 
Board concerning the succession planning for the Directors; 
advises the Board on issues of Directors’ conflicts of interest and 
independence and conducts a rigorous and transparent process 
when making or renewing appointments of Directors to the Board.

The Committee met four times during the year and the members 
attendance record is set out above. 

During the year, the Board accepted the Committee’s 
recommendations to appoint Bo Lerenius as a Non-Executive 
Director and subsequently as Chairman of the Company. An 
external executive search consultant was engaged to help identify 
suitable candidates with the skills and capabilities required, who 
underwent a rigorous interview process. The effectiveness of the 
Committee’s performance was evaluated as part of the overall 
Board evaluation exercise during the year.

Group Management Board
The Group Management Board (GMB) supports the Chief 
Executive and the Group Finance Director in the performance  
of their duties, including:

•  the development and implementation of strategy, the Group 
corporate plan and operational plans, policies, procedures  
and budgets; 

•  the monitoring of operating and financial performance on  
a day-to-day basis; 

• the assessment and control of risk; 
• the prioritisation and allocation of resources; 
•  ensuring active cooperation and communication between  

all parts of the business; 
• monitoring of competitors; and 
• leading and facilitating change and learning in the organisation. 

The GMB is chaired by the Chief Executive, and comprises the 
Group Finance Director, the Group Company Secretary, the Human 
Resources Director and the Managing Directors of the principal 
businesses.

Internal control and risk management
The Board is responsible for establishing, reviewing and maintaining 
the Group’s systems of internal control and risk management and 
ensuring that these systems are effective for managing the business 
risk within the Group.

The Group has established a framework for identifying, evaluating 
and managing significant risks faced by the Group. The framework 
of risk management and internal control operating within the Group 
has been in place throughout the year and is in accordance with the 
Turnbull Guidance. The framework is reviewed annually and is 
designed to safeguard shareholders’ investments and the Group’s 
assets while ensuring that proper accounting records are maintained.



452009 Annual Report and Accounts
Mouchel Group plc

G
overnance

Corporate Governance Report

It is the responsibility of management to ensure that the controls 
and procedures that operate within the framework are followed  
and that the Board is kept fully appraised of any risks and control 
issues, both operational and financial, that arise from the reporting 
structures which exist within the Group. The Board recognises that 
any system of internal control exists to minimise the risk of failure 
rather than to eliminate it, and that any system of internal control 
can only provide reasonable, not absolute, assurance against 
material mis-statement or loss. 

The risk management of joint ventures and strategic partnerships  
is agreed between the parties and periodic reviews are carried out 
where appropriate. 

The Audit Committee annually reviews the effectiveness of the risk 
management system and its internal controls and reports its 
findings to the Board. 

The framework through which the Group mitigates both operational  
and financial risk is described below. The Group continually looks  
for ways to improve these processes and this year there have been  
a number of initiatives designed to reduce the commercial exposure  
of the Group and further embed a risk management culture within  
the Group.

Strategic control
The Board reviews the Group’s strategic plans annually. Progress 
against the strategic plan is monitored at Board and GMB 
meetings. The GMB is responsible for monitoring the Group’s 
strategic progress and is accountable to the Board in this regard.

Delegated authorities
The Board has set clear terms of reference for its Committees, all  
of which were reviewed during the financial year. The Group has  
an organisational reporting structure with clearly defined delegated 
authorities to executive management and reporting systems for 
financial results, risk exposure and control assessment.

Financial control
The Group has a comprehensive system for reporting financial 
results to the Board. Each business stream prepares monthly 
results with a comparison against budget and forecast. The Group 
Chief Executive and Group Finance Director hold monthly review 
meetings with each of the Managing Directors of the individual 
business streams. Actions are identified and a financial report 
prepared for the GMB and the Board for review of the Group  
as a whole.

Business stream controls
Each business stream is responsible for identifying, evaluating and 
managing major business risks. Procedures are in place to ensure 
that risks are identified from project bidding stage through to project 
completion stage and include reviews against key performance 
indicators.

Risk management
The Board has overall responsibility for identifying, evaluating  
and managing major business risks facing the Group. It regularly 
reviews business assessments of risk exposure and control, and  
it determines appropriate action. There is an ongoing process for 
identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks faced 
by the business. The process involves monthly reports, by 
management, of the risk and internal control issues faced by  
their business. These risks are then reported to the GMB and  
the Audit Committee and the Board is kept fully appraised of  
any risks and internal control issues arising from these reports.  
A Bid Committee meets fortnightly and reviews all material bids. 
The Board also receives monthly reports and key performance 
measures on health, safety and environmental matters.

Internal audit
The Business Review Function provides rigour to the internal  
control and risk management process. It reports to the GMB, Audit 
Committee and the main Board. The Business Review Function’s 
remit is to review, as part of the Group’s risk management, the 
performance and conduct of the Group’s projects, contracts, joint 
ventures and partnerships, examining any relevant components of 
performance, including financial and commercial matters, risks and 
exposures, resourcing issues, client relationships, progress and 
performance against programme. It also reviews and reports on  
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal controls including systems 
and processes.

Given the Group’s size and complexity, an internal audit function  
will be established during 2009/10.

Relations with shareholders
The Board is committed to a continuing dialogue with its 
institutional shareholders. Following the announcement and 
presentation of the half-year and year-end results, there are a series 
of formal meetings with institutional shareholders. These meetings 
are a two-way dialogue whereby the Executive Directors can 
appraise the investors of the Group’s business and future plans and 
the shareholders can communicate any concerns they may have. 
The Non-Executive Directors and Chairman are available to attend 
these meetings. The Company’s brokers and financial PR advisors 
provide feedback from the shareholder and analyst meetings and 
present the results to the Board.

The Group’s investor relations section on its website contains 
information on the Group’s financial results, its corporate policies 
and the analysts’ presentations. Additionally, the AGM provides a 
useful interface with shareholders. All shareholders are invited to 
attend the AGM and all members of the Board will be available at 
the meeting to answer questions.

The Company seeks to promote the use of e-communications and 
encourages its shareholders to sign up to receive Company 
circulars by email.

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf.

Amanda Massie
Group Company Secretary
16 October 2009
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Introduction 
This Report sets out the Company’s remuneration policy and  
details the remuneration of each of the Directors for the financial  
year ended 31 July 2009 and, as far as practicable, for subsequent 
years. It complies with the Companies Act 2006 and Schedule 8 
to the Large and Medium-Sized Companies and Groups (Accounts 
and Reports) Regulations 2008 (the Regulations), and also with  
the 2008 Combined Code. In addition, the Committee has aimed  
to comply with best practice guidelines including guidance from 
institutional investors and their representative bodies. In accordance 
with the Regulations, relevant sections of this Report have been 
audited. A resolution to approve the Report will be proposed at the 
Company’s AGM on 11 December 2009, at which the Financial 
Statements will be presented for approval. 

The Regulations require the Auditors to report to the shareholders  
on certain sections of this Report and to state whether those 
sections have been properly prepared in accordance with the 
Companies Act 2006. The Report has therefore been divided  
into separate sections for audited and unaudited information.

Unaudited information
Committee’s objectives
The Committee operates under authority delegated to it by the  
Board and under specific terms of reference which can be found  
on the Company’s website. Its terms of reference are reviewed 
annually as part of the Group’s annual corporate governance review. 
Its key objectives are to:

•  establish a competitive remuneration package to attract, retain  
and motivate high quality leaders with the relevant expertise, skills 
and qualities to achieve the Company’s strategic ambitions and 
business objectives;

•  align senior executives’ remuneration with the interests of the 
shareholders and other stakeholders and;

•  design incentive plans with appropriately motivating targets and 
rewards to promote achievement of the Company’s strategic 
objectives.

Committee activities

Number of meetings held in 2009   4

Sir Michael Lyons (Chairman)   4/4

Debbie Hewitt   4/4

Bo Lerenius1*   2/2

Rodney Westhead   3/4

1 appointed 31 July 2009
* attended by invitation

The Committee held four meetings during the year and the meeting 
attendance record is set out above.

The Chief Executive, the Group Finance Director and the Human 
Resources Director attend the meetings by invitation as required.  
No individual is present when his or her own remuneration is  
under consideration. 

The Committee has a rolling calendar of items within its remit for 
discussion. In addition, the Committee consider issues relating to 
the operation of the remuneration policy and emerging market 
practices. During the year, the Committee considered various 
issues within its remit, in particular, the Committee:

•  considered and recommended to the Board the Group’s 
remuneration policy for the Executive Directors, and such other 
senior managers as it is designated to consider covering terms  
of employment, basic salary, performance bonus, long term 
incentives, retirement benefits, and other benefits;

•  determined and kept under review the remuneration policy  
for the Group; and

•  recommended to the Board, incentive plans with appropriate 
performance conditions to motivate, retain and attract staff and 
ensuring effective operation of the incentive plans.

In 2005, New Bridge Street Consultants LLP (now Hewitt New 
Bridge Street) (HNBS) was appointed as independent remuneration 
advisor to the Committee following a competitive tendering process. 
HNBS does not provide any other services to the Company. In 
addition, the Committee received advice from the Group Human 
Resources Director and the Group Company Secretary.

In accordance with regulatory requirements, the Board undertook  
a review of the effectiveness of the Committee during the year to 
assess its effectiveness.

Remuneration policy
The Committee reviews the remuneration policy on a regular 
basis against regulatory developments and market practices. 
Recognising that the Group is fast growing, the objective of the 
remuneration policy is to attract, retain and motivate Executive 
Directors and senior managers with the relevant expertise, skills 
and qualities to achieve the Company’s strategic ambitions, 
business objectives and to align their interests with those of the 
shareholders. It is designed to reward performance and to maintain 
a high-performance culture within the Company. The interests of 
our senior management and our shareholders are also aligned 
through share incentives and share ownership.

No individual is present when his or her own remuneration is under 
consideration. The Committee does not determine the fees payable
to Non-Executive Directors, which are determined by the Board 
within limits set out in the Articles of Association.

Executive directors
The remuneration package for Executive Directors is made  
up of a mix of fixed and variable elements which consist of base 
salary, annual bonus and performance related long term incentive 
plans. The relative proportion of performance-related and 
non-performance-related ‘on-target’ remuneration is as below: 

   1 Base salary – 38%
   2 Performance-related bonus target – 23%
   3  Performance-related long-term incentives  

(expected values) – 39%

Excludes pensions and other benefits

1

23

1

23
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Basic salary and other benefits
The Committee’s objective is to ensure that the basic salary for 
Executive Directors and key senior management is appropriate
and competitive for the responsibilities involved. Salaries are 
reviewed annually, with changes normally taking effect from  
1 August.

Any increases are awarded only after taking into account individual 
performance, changes in responsibility, the Company’s performance, 
market conditions and external advice as to appropriate salary  
levels for each position. The Company has a rigorous personal 
performance appraisal process against which personal, business 
and Group-related targets are set and reviewed.

The Committee’s policy is to set base salaries at the median level  
of an appropriate comparator group of companies of broadly similar 
size and business fit. Pay conditions elsewhere within the Group  
are also taken into account when setting base salary increases.  
On 1 August 2008, Richard Cuthbert received a base salary 
increase of 9% taking it to £410,000, and Kevin Young received  
a base salary increase of 9% taking it to £250,000. In light of  
the current economic conditions and the Company’s financial 
performance, the Committee decided to freeze the salaries of the 
Executive Directors for the financial year commencing 1 August 
2009. The next salary review will take place on 1 August 2010.

Annual bonus scheme 
The Executive Directors participate in the annual bonus scheme 
which rewards performance against challenging short-term targets. 
During the year under review, the maximum bonus available to 
Executive Directors was 60% of basic salary. For members of the 
Group Management Board (GMB), the maximum bonus available 
was 50% of basic salary. Executive Directors and certain senior 
executives are also eligible to participate in the Company’s 
Co-Investment Plan under which they are invited to invest all  
or part of their annual bonus in shares. The investment is matched 
on a one-for-one basis subject to satisfactory achievement of 
performance conditions. The Co-Investment Plan is described  
in further detail below. 

The targets against which bonuses are paid are based on a 
combination of demanding financial and personal objectives. 
Two-thirds of the bonus for the Executive Directors is based on 
Group profit against financial targets and one-third is based on 
individual non-financial targets. For members of the GMB who have 
responsibility for operating profit, one-third of bonus is based on 
profit against financial targets at the individual’s operating business, 
one-third based on the financial performance of the Group and 
one-third based on personal non-financial targets. For members  
of the GMB with no individual responsibility for operating profit, 
one-third is based on Group profit against financial targets and 
two-thirds of bonus is attributable to personal non-financial targets. 
The part of the total bonus attributable to the financial performance 
of an individual’s own tier of management responsibility and, where 
appropriate, the financial performance of the tier above, will only be 
payable if the average working capital days over the year for the 
relevant tier are no more than 10% greater than the average number 
of working capital days assumed in setting the annual budget for 
that tier. 

The targets are set annually and the achievement against these 
targets by the Executive Directors and senior management must be 
reviewed and agreed by the Remuneration Committee in order for 
any bonus to be payable. Bonus awards to the Executive Directors 
are discretionary, non-pensionable and non-contractual. For the 
year under review, the financial performance targets were not met 
and accordingly no bonuses are payable. 

The annual bonus scheme will operate on a broadly similar basis for 
2009/10 and the maximum payment for the Executive Directors and 
members of the GMB will remain at 60% of base salary and 50% of 
base salary respectively.

Share incentive schemes 
Co-Investment Plan 
The Co-Investment Plan (CIP) is a discretionary plan in which 
participants are invited to invest either all or a proportion of their 
annual bonus in ordinary shares in the Company. Provided these 
shares are retained by the participants for three years, they will be 
matched by the Company on a one-for-one basis dependent on the 
extent to which the performance conditions set out below are met. 
If the participant withdraws all or part of their invested shares during 
the three-year period, their entitlement to matching shares will be 
reduced on a pro-rata basis. 

The performance conditions for the matching shares awarded to 
date are based on Group performance as measured by growth in 
earnings per share (EPS). The maximum number of shares will be 
delivered if EPS growth reaches Retail Prices Index (RPI) +12% per 
annum over the three-year period. These matching awards will not 
vest if EPS growth is RPI +5% per annum or less and for EPS 
growth between RPI +5% per annum and RPI +12% per annum  
a straight-line relationship applies. No retesting of performance is 
permitted if the performance condition is not met at the end of the 
three-year period. 

The Executive Directors and senior managers are eligible to 
participate in this plan and participation in this plan is reviewed 
annually. However, as bonuses will not be paid in respect of the 
year under review, the Co-Investment Plan will not be operated 
during the 2009/10 financial year. 
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Performance Share Plan  
The Performance Share Plan (PSP) is a long-term incentive plan 
under which Executive Directors, other members of the senior 
management team and certain other key staff may receive a 
conditional right to acquire shares, the vesting of which depends  
on the satisfaction of demanding performance conditions. During 
the year, the Committee made PSP awards at 60% of salary to the 
Executive Directors with lower awards to other managers. 

Under the terms of the PSP, conditional awards of the Company’s 
shares worth up to 100% of salary may be awarded each year,  
the vesting of which is dependent on the Company’s relative  
Total Shareholder Return (TSR) performance over a fixed  
three-year period. 

TSR will be measured against the constituents of the FTSE 
All-Share Support Services Sector, with the performance period 
commencing on the first day of the financial year in which the  
award is made. 25% of the awards will vest if the Company’s TSR 
performance ranks at the median of the comparator group, with full 
vesting for performance at or above the upper quartile. Between 
these points, awards will vest on a pro-rata basis. 

In addition, in order for shares to vest, the Company’s EPS must 
exceed the growth in RPI by an average of at least 3% per annum 
over the performance period. Participation in this scheme is 
reviewed annually. 

The Remuneration Committee is satisfied that these targets are 
appropriate and sufficiently challenging. 

The Remuneration Committee will continue to review the 
appropriateness of the performance targets attached to its  
share schemes on a regular basis.

Savings-related share option scheme 
The Company operates an all-employee HMRC-approved 
savings-related share option scheme (SAYE). The Executive 
Directors, while eligible, do not currently participate in this scheme. 
During the year, the Company has remained within its headroom 
limits for the issue of new shares under share incentive schemes. 
The Company’s position under the Association of British Insurers’ 
guidelines (that dilution under discretionary schemes should not 
exceed 5% in 10 years) was that shares equivalent to only 0.5%  
of ordinary share capital had been allocated. Against the guideline 
that overall dilution under all schemes should not exceed 10% in  
10 years; the Company had allocated only 2.7%. These figures 
exclude obligations which are to be settled with shares purchased 
in the market.

Restricted Share Plan
The Restricted Share Plan (RSP) was adopted by the Remuneration 
Committee on 1 February 2008 and its primary objective is to assist 
in the retention of key individuals who join the Company through 
acquisition. It is used where the CIP and PSP are not considered 
appropriate vehicles. Executive Directors, members of the GMB, 
and key senior managers are not eligible to participate in the RSP.

The RSP allows for the grant of conditional awards or nil-cost 
options over shares held in trust (through market purchase by the 
employee benefit trust) for a tie-in period, normally three years.  
At the end of the three-year period, shares are transferred to the 
individuals subject to them still being an employee. The individuals 
have no voting rights and are not the beneficial owners of the 
shares until they are transferred to them at the end of the three-year 
period. The Remuneration Committee has the discretion to attach 
performance criteria to individual grants if appropriate. 

Legacy executive share options 
The Company has a number of legacy executive share option plans. 
It has two approved schemes: The Mouchel Approved Executive 
Share Option Scheme and The Parkman Group 2001 Approved 
Share Option Plan; and two unapproved schemes: The Mouchel 
Unapproved Executive Share Option Plan and the Parkman Group 
2001 Executive Share Option Plan. There have been no option 
grants under any of these plans since 2003.

Share ownership guidelines 
To further align the interests of the Executive Directors with those  
of the shareholders, Executive Directors are required to build a 
shareholding of at least 100% of annual salary, which can also be 
acquired from the retention of vested shares (net of tax and 
financing costs) under the Company’s share plans. Members of the 
GMB and other senior managers are required to build and maintain 
a holding of 50% of annual salary which can also be acquired from 
the retention of vested shares (net of tax and financing costs). No 
time limit has been placed on reaching this target. 

The Non-Executive Directors are expected to achieve a share 
interest in the Company amounting to 100% of their annual fee. 
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Pensions  
Executive Directors are members of HMRC-registered defined  
benefit pension schemes administered by boards of trustees.  
The schemes are contracted out of the State Second Pension 
scheme. Richard Cuthbert and Kevin Young contribute 7.75% of  
their pensionable earnings. The normal retirement age is 65 for 
Richard Cuthbert and 60 for Kevin Young; both accrue benefits on  
a career average revalued earnings (CARE) basis. Under CARE, their 
pensionable earnings are averaged over their pensionable service 
with the pensionable earnings revalued in line with the Retail Prices 
Index, limited to a maximum uplift of 5% per annum. 

The schemes provide lump sum death-in-service benefits of four 
times pensionable earnings in the case of Richard Cuthbert and  
three times pensionable earnings in the case of Kevin Young. In 
addition, in the event of their death in service widow’s pensions 
based upon 50% of their expected pensions (on a final salary, not 
CARE, basis) at their normal retirement age would be payable.

All Executive Directors’ benefits under the registered pension 
schemes are subject to the notional HMRC Earnings Cap. 

Performance graph 
The graph shows the Company’s TSR performance to 31 July  
2009, measured against the FTSE All-Share Support Services 
Index, excluding investment trusts over the past five years. This  
is considered the most appropriate index. 

TSR is defined as the return shareholders would receive if they  
held a notional number of shares and received dividends on  
those shares over a period of time, assuming dividends are 
reinvested. The graph measures the percentage growth in the 
Group’s share price. 

Executive Directors’ service contracts 
It is the Company’s policy to include a rolling notice period by  
either party of no more than 12 months and a clause to that effect  
is included in the Executive Directors’ service contracts. The 
appointment date, notice period and re-election date of the  
Executive Directors are provided below:
    Date of last 
   Notice re-election 
   period for under the 
  Effective date Executive Articles of 
Name of Director of appointment Directors Association

Richard Cuthbert 19.09.2003 12 months 11.11.2008

Kevin Young 28.06.2002 6 months 07.12.2007

 

The service agreements for the Executive Directors do not provide  
for specific payments of compensation in the event of early 
termination of their service contracts. The Remuneration Committee 
aims to deal fairly with cases of termination, while attempting to  
limit compensation. The Committee has given due consideration  
to the recommendations of the Combined Code and will always  
seek to mitigate loss. 

Copies of each Director’s service agreement will be available for 
inspection prior to and during the AGM. 

External appointments 
While the Executive Directors do not currently hold any  
Non-Executive Directorships, the Board believes that there are 
benefits from extending the range and experience of the Executive 
Directors by allowing them to accept a Non-Executive Directorship 
elsewhere. The Company has in place a policy which states that,  
with Board approval, the Executive Directors can hold one external 
Non-Executive directorship and that the time commitment to any 
external Non-Executive directorship will be annually reviewed by  
the Committee. Any fees earned in connection with an external 
Non-Executive directorship will be retained by the Executive Directors. 

Non-Executive Directors 
The Non-Executive Directors have letters of appointment stating  
their annual fee payable and their time commitment required. All 
Non-Executive Directors (excluding the Chairman) are appointed for  
an initial term of three years subject to satisfactory performance and 
re-election by shareholders at the AGM. After the initial three-year term 
their appointment is subject to annual re-election. Their appointment 
can be terminated at any time without any damages or compensation 
for loss of office. Non-Executive Directors’ fees are determined by the 
Board within the limits set out in the Articles of Association and with 
reference to payments made by comparator companies. 

None of the Non-Executive Directors are eligible to participate in the 
Company’s pension schemes, share incentive schemes or receive  
an annual bonus or any payments other than fees and expenses. 
 
The Non-Executive Directors’ appointment and re-election dates  
are provided below:     
    Date of last 
    re-election  
    under the  
   Effective date Articles of 
Name of Director  of appointment Association 

Lynton Barker   01.04.2008 –

Debbie Hewitt  03.09.2007 07.12.2007

Ian Knight  28.06.2002 11.12.2008

Bo Lerenius  30.01.2009 –

Sir Michael Lyons  19.09.2003 11.12.2008

Rodney Westhead  19.09.2003 11.12.2008
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Audited information
Directors’ emoluments 
The aggregate emoluments in respect of their roles as Directors, excluding pensions, of the Directors of the Company who served during 
the year are shown in the table below:

  Salary/fees Bonus Other benefits1 Total2

   2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Executive Directors        
Richard Cuthbert 410 375 – 53 12 16 422 444
Kevin Young 250 230 – 32 13 14 263 276

Non-Executive Directors        
Lynton Barker3 38 23 – – – – 38 23
Debbie Hewitt  38 32 – – – – 38 32
Ian Knight 38 35 – – – – 38 35
Bo Lerenius4 55 – – – – – 55 –
Sir Michael Lyons 38 35 – – – – 38 35
Rodney Westhead  38 35 – – – – 38 35
Richard Benton5 70 90 – – 26 26 72 92

1 Other benefits include such items as company cars, fuel, car allowance and medical insurance.
2 Total excludes pension contributions, which are shown separately.
3 Lynton Barker is paid an additional fee of £35,000 to maintain a relationship with CSC Computer Services Limited in a strictly non-executive capacity. 
4  Bo Lerenius was appointed as a Non-Executive Director on 30 January 2009, and was subsequently appointed Chairman on 1 May 2009. The amount shown reflects fees paid 

from the date of appointment.
5 Richard Benton resigned as Chairman on 1 May 2009.
6 Richard Benton was paid an annual travel allowance of £2,000.

Directors’ pensions
    Increase in     
    accrued pension Transfer Transfer Director Total change Transfer
    during 2008/09 value of value of contributions in value during value of
  Accrued Accrued excluding accrued accrued during the 2008/09 net increase less
  pension pension any increase pension pension period 01/08/08 of Director’s Director’s
  at 31/07/08  at 31/07/09 for inflation at 31/07/08  at 31/07/09 to 31/07/09 contributions contributions
  £000 pa £000 pa £000 £000 £000 £000 £0001 £000

Richard Cuthbert 12 14 2 96 234 9 129 17
Kevin Young 19 21 1 237 390 9 144 11

1  Richard Cuthbert and Kevin Young are participants of different pension schemes which have differing transfer value bases. Both schemes have introduced new transfer value 
bases, which have contributed to increases in the transfer values. The changes are also due to market conditions over the period and the accrual of benefits.

Remuneration Report
(continued)
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Directors’ interests in the Co-Investment and Performance Share Plans
The awards over Mouchel Group plc shares held by the Executive Directors under the Company’s Co-Investment (CIP) and Performance 
Share Plans (PSP) are detailed below:
    No. of Awards Awards Awards  Market No. of 
    shares  granted during exercised during lapsed during price on shares at 
  Scheme name Date of award 1 August 2008 the year the year4 the year award date (p) 31 July 2009 Vesting date 

Richard Cuthbert CIP 29.11.2005 22,264 – (22,264) – 273.83 – 29.11.2008
  CIP 23.11.2006 15,889 – – – 395.00 15,889 23.11.2009
  CIP 23.11.2007 16,980 – – – 427.63 16,980 23.11.2010
  CIP 21.11.2008 – 11,845 – – 261.50 11,845 21.11.2011 
  PSP 26.04.2006 43,093 – (41,851) (1,242) 338.80 – 26.04.2009
  PSP 23.11.2006 39,215 – – – 395.00 39,215 23.11.2009
  PSP 23.11.2007 53,718 – – – 427.63 53,718 23.11.2010
  PSP 21.11.2008 – 87,904 – – 261.50 87,904 21.11.2011

Total   191,159 99,749 (64,115) (1,242)  225,551  

Kevin Young CIP 29.11.2005 14,249 – (14,249) – 273.83 – 29.11.2008
  CIP 23.11.2006 9,958 – – – 395.00 9,958 23.11.2009
  CIP 23.11.2007 10,183 – – – 427.63 10,183 23.11.2010
  CIP 21.11.2008 – 7,265 – – 261.50 7,265 21.11.2011
  PSP 26.04.2006 27,007 – (26,229) (778) 338.80 – 26.04.2009
  PSP 23.11.2006 24,541 – – – 395.00 24,541 23.11.2009
  PSP 23.11.2007 32,947  – – 427.63 32,947 23.11.2010
  PSP 21.11.2008 – 53,600 – – 261.50 53,600 21.11.2011 

Total   118,885 60,865 (40,478) (778)  138,494   

Notes
1  The awards made under the terms of the CIP are made as matching awards, which vest on the third anniversary of grant, subject to performance conditions being met and the 

bonus shares being retained by participants for three years. For CIP awards made on 29 November 2005, the performance conditions have been met in full and accordingly, 
100% of the award vested on 29 November 2008. A summary of the CIP can be found on page 47 of the Remuneration Report. 

2  Vesting of awards made under the terms of the PSP is dependent on the Company’s relative TSR performance over a three-year period (with an EPS underpin) and the 
participants’ continued employment within the Group on the vesting date. For PSP awards made on 26 April 2006, the Company’s TSR over the performance period was 77.6% 
ranking the Company 14th out of 52 companies in the comparator group. In accordance with the terms of the PSP, 97.12% of the award vested on 26 April 2009. A summary of 
the PSP can be found on page 48 of the Remuneration Report.

3 CIP and PSP option prices are £nil and the expiry date is up to six months after the vesting date.
4  During the year, the Executive Directors exercised awards granted under the Mouchel Group Co-Investment Plan and the Mouchel Group Performance Share Plan. The 

aggregate of the gains made on these exercises, calculated on the difference between the award price and the mid-market price on the date of the award maturity, was 
£280,092 of which £171,686 related to the gain attributable to the highest paid director.

Directors’ beneficial interests
The beneficial interests of the Directors and their families in the ordinary shares of 0.25p each in the Company as at 31 July were as follows:

        2009 2008
        No. of shares  No. of shares

Executive Directors  
Richard Cuthbert       364,523 242,005
Kevin Young       785,021 722,870

Non-Executive Directors  
Lynton Barker       629,837 605,800
Debbie Hewitt        12,159 –
Ian Knight       210,000 200,000
Bo Lerenius       25,000 –
Sir Michael Lyons       15,760 9,709
Rodney Westhead       9,844 9,844
Richard Benton       – 700,000

Notes
1  The mid-market closing share price of Mouchel Group plc shares at 31 July 2009 was 159.0p and the lowest and highest mid-market share prices during the financial year were 

405.0p and 152.5p per share respectively.
2  At 31 July 2009, the Executive Directors of the Company, as potential beneficiaries under the Company’s Employee Benefit Trusts (the Trusts), were each technically deemed to 

be interested in 1,436,844 unallocated Mouchel Group plc shares held by the Trusts (note 31 of the Notes to the Financial Statements provides further information in relation to 
the Employee Benefit Trusts).

3 These shareholdings are all beneficial interests and include shares held by Directors’ spouses and other connected persons.
4 Richard Cuthbert and Kevin Young’s beneficial interests include Bonus Awards held under the terms of the CIP.
5  The increase in the Executives Directors’ shareholdings in the company was due partly to option exercises and partly to share acquisition from the market. On 23 June 2009, 

Richard Cuthbert acquired 46,559 shares and Kevin Young acquired 31,039 shares.

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf 

Sir Michael Lyons
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
16 October 2009 
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Consolidated Income Statement 
for the year ended 31 July 2009

    Results    Results   
    before   before   
    exceptional Exceptional   exceptional  Exceptional 
    items items1 Total  items items1 Total 
    2009 2009 2009 2008 2008 2008
   Notes £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Continuing operations
Revenue  2 740,550 – 740,550 656,743 – 656,743
Cost of sales  4 (616,370) – (616,370) (542,379) – (542,379)

Gross profit   124,180 – 124,180 114,364 – 114,364
Administrative expenses  4 (76,855) (53,562) (130,417) (72,649) (12,450) (85,099)

Operating (loss)/profit   2 47,325 (53,562) (6,237) 41,715 (12,450) 29,265
Interest receivable   5 1,565 – 1,565 4,756 – 4,756
Finance costs  5 (8,834) – (8,834) (7,708) – (7,708)

(Loss)/profit before tax   40,056 (53,562) (13,506) 38,763 (12,450) 26,313
Taxation  7 (10,401) 10,916 515 (10,338) 3,577 (6,761)

(Loss)/profit for the year    29,655 (42,646) (12,991) 28,425 (8,873) 19,552

Basic (loss)/earnings per share  10   (11.7)p   17.9p
Diluted (loss)/earnings per share  10   (11.7)p   17.7p

1 See note 3.
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Group and Company Balance Sheets 
as at 31 July 2009

 Group Company
      2009 2008 2009 2008
     Notes £000 £000 £000 £000

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Goodwill    11 109,717 118,121 – –
Other intangible assets    12 60,538 71,488 – –
Property, plant and equipment    13 24,769 18,094 – –
Investments in subsidiaries    14 – – 323,824 322,736
Deferred tax assets    16 28,739 21,926 114 183
Loan notes    22 – – 39,814 39,814
Financial instruments    21, 23 – 337 – –

      223,763 229,966 363,752 362,733

Current assets
Trade and other receivables    17 183,033 163,400 41,299 38,308
Assets held for sale    18 – 3,984 – 3,984
Cash and cash equivalents    33 52,426 51,792 – –

      235,459 219,176 41,299 42,292

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Borrowings    21 (2,153) (1,165) – –
Trade and other payables    20 (128,509) (119,061) (4,722) (6,333)
Current tax liabilities     (8,909) (12,857) – –
Retirement benefit obligations    35 (857) (636) – –

      (140,428) (133,719) (4,722) (6,333)

     
Net current assets     95,031 85,457 36,577 35,959

     
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings    21 (150,764) (134,827) – –
Loan notes    22 – – (51,852) (51,852) 
Trade and other payables    25 (1,404) (2,126) – –
Financial instruments    21, 23 (4,362) – – –
Provisions for liabilities and charges    26 (23,298) (10,533) – –
Deferred tax liabilities    16 (12,325) (15,122) (618) (541)
Retirement benefit obligations    35 (59,430) (33,925) – –

      (251,583) (196,533) (52,470) (52,393)

Net assets     67,211 118,890 347,859 346,299

EQUITY
Share capital    27 280 279 280 279
Share premium    28 27,853 27,180 27,853 27,180
Other reserves    30 13,214 22,379 9,763 12,975
Retained earnings    30 25,864 69,052 309,963 305,865

Total equity    30 67,211 118,890 347,859 346,299

The Financial Statements on pages 52 to 97 were approved by the Board of Directors on 16 October 2009 and were signed on its behalf by:

Richard Cuthbert  Kevin Young
Director  Director
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 
for the year ended 31 July 2009

        2009 2008
       Notes £000 £000

Cash flows from operating activities   
Cash generated from operations before exceptional costs    32 32,801 37,995
Exceptional costs       (7,585) (6,799)

Cash generated from operations      32 25,216 31,196
Interest element of finance lease payments      (46) (70)
Interest element of other loan repayments      (193) (276)
Taxation paid       (4,192) (1,804)

Net cash generated from operating activities      20,785 29,046

Cash flows from investing activities   
Investment in joint venture entities       (20) (250)
Acquisition of subsidiaries (net of cash acquired)     34 – (71,770)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment     18 9,500 412
Purchase of property, plant and equipment      (14,953) (9,590)
Purchase of intangible assets – software and assets in the course of construction    (10,344) (4,744)
Special contributions to defined benefit pension schemes     (8,310) (20,250) 
Interest received       1,565 2,430
Finance costs paid       (7,856) (3,707)

Net cash used in investing activities      (30,418) (107,469)

Cash flows from financing activities   
Net proceeds from issue of ordinary share capital     30 674 716
Sale of own shares by employee share trusts      18 309
Dividends paid to shareholders      9 (7,184) (5,766)
Loan facility drawn down net of loan issue costs      17,656 132,647
Other loan payments       (1,172) (806)
Loan repaid by related party       95 321
Finance lease principal payments       (153) (159)

Net cash generated from financing activities       9,934 127,262

Effects of exchange rate changes       333 122

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents net of bank overdrafts    634 48,961

Cash and cash equivalents net of bank overdrafts at 1 August      51,792 2,831

Cash and cash equivalents net of bank overdrafts at 31 July     33 52,426 51,792
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Consolidated Statement of 
Recognised Income and Expense
for the year ended 31 July 2009

        2009 2008
       Notes £000 £000

(Loss)/profit for the year       (12,991) 19,552

Differences on exchange      30 (1,350) 318
Loss on sale of own shares held in employee share trusts    30 (78) (284)
Tax relief on shares issued to employees      – 196
Changes in fair value of cash flow hedges     30 (4,699) 337
Actuarial loss on pension scheme valuations     35 (34,036) (23,372)
Deferred tax on movement in pension scheme valuations    16 7,203 6,586

Net losses not recognised in Income Statement      (32,960) (16,219)

Total recognised (expense)/income for the year      (45,951) 3,333
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Company Statement of 
Recognised Income and Expense
for the year ended 31 July 2009

        2009 2008
       Notes £000 £000

Profit for the year      8 7,097 71

Net gains not recognised in Income Statement      – –

Total recognised income for the year     30 7,097 71
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Independent Auditors’ Report to  
the members of Mouchel Group plc

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies  
Act 2006
In our opinion: 

•  the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited  
has been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies 
Act 2006;

•  the information given in the Corporate Governance Report  
with respect to rules 7.2.5 and 7.2.6 of the Disclosure and 
Transparency Rules issued by the Financial Services Authority  
is consistent with the Financial Statements; and

•  the information given in the Directors’ Report for the financial  
year for which the Financial Statements are prepared is consistent 
with the Financial Statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following: 

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, 
in our opinion: 

•  adequate accounting records have not been kept by the  
parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not  
been received from branches not visited by us; or 

•  the parent company Financial Statements and the part of  
the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited are not  
in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or 

•  certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by  
law are not made; or 

•  we have not received all the information and explanations  
we require for our audit. 

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review: 

•  the directors’ statement, set out on page 41, in relation to going 
concern; and

•  the parts of the Corporate Governance Report relating to the 
company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the June 2008 
Combined Code specified for our review.

Paul Aitken (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London 
16 October 2009

We have audited the Financial Statements of Mouchel Group plc  
for the year ended 31 July 2009 which comprise the Consolidated 
Income Statement, the Group and Company Balance Sheets,  
the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement, the Consolidated 
Statement of Recognised Income and Expense and the Company 
Statement of Recognised Income and Expense and the related 
notes. The financial reporting framework that has been applied  
in their preparation is applicable law and International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union 
and, as regards the parent company Financial Statements, as 
applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies  
Act 2006.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors 
As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities 
set out on page 41, the directors are responsible for the preparation 
of the Financial Statements and for being satisfied that they give  
a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit the Financial 
Statements in accordance with applicable law and International 
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require  
us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards 
for Auditors. 

This Report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only 
for the company’s members as a body in accordance with Sections 
495 to 497 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. 
We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility 
for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this Report  
is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly 
agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Scope of the audit of the Financial Statements 
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the Financial Statements sufficient to give reasonable 
assurance that the Financial Statements are free from material 
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an 
assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate  
to the group’s and the parent company’s circumstances and  
have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the 
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the 
directors; and the overall presentation of the Financial Statements.
 
Opinion on Financial Statements 
In our opinion: 

•  the Financial Statements give a true and fair view of the state of 
the group’s and of the parent company’s affairs as at 31 July 2009 
and of the group’s loss and group’s cash flows for the year  
then ended;

•  the group Financial Statements have been properly prepared  
in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union; 

•  the parent company Financial Statements have been properly 
prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European 
Union and as applied in accordance with the provisions of the 
Companies Act 2006; and

•  the Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with 
the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards  
the group Financial Statements, Article 4 of the lAS Regulation. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 July 2009

d Business combinations
The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the purchase 
method. The cost of the acquisition is measured at the aggregate  
of the fair values, at the date control passes, of assets given, less 
liabilities incurred or assumed and equity instruments issued by  
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree, plus any costs 
directly attributable to the business combination. The acquiree’s 
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the 
conditions for recognition under IFRS 3, Business Combinations  
are recognised at their fair values at the acquisition date. 

e Interests in joint ventures
A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby the Group  
and one or more other parties undertake an economic activity  
that is subject to joint control. Joint control is when the strategic, 
financial and operating policy decisions relating to the activity 
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group conducts its joint venture arrangements through  
both jointly controlled entities and jointly controlled operations.  
In both cases, the Group reports its interests using proportional 
consolidation. The Group’s share of the assets, liabilities, income 
and expenses are combined with the equivalent items in the 
Consolidated Financial Statements on a line-by-line basis.

f Goodwill
Goodwill arising on consolidation represents the excess of the cost  
of acquisition over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the 
identifiable assets and liabilities of the subsidiary recognised at the 
date of acquisition. Goodwill is initially recognised as an asset at 
cost and is subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated 
impairment losses.

On disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable amount of goodwill  
is included in the determination of the profit or loss on disposal.

Goodwill arising on acquisitions before the date of transition to  
IFRS was tested for impairment at the transition date and was 
retained at its previous UK GAAP value. Positive goodwill arising  
on acquisitions prior to 1998 that was written off against reserves 
under UK GAAP has not been reinstated and is not included in 
determining any subsequent profit or loss on disposal. 

g Foreign currencies
The individual Financial Statements of each Group entity are 
presented in the currency of the primary economic environment in 
which the entity operates (its functional currency). For the purpose 
of the Consolidated Financial Statements, the results and financial 
position of each entity are expressed in pounds sterling, which  
is the functional currency of the Company and the presentation 
currency for the Consolidated Financial Statements.

(i) Individual entity Financial Statements 
Transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional currency 
(foreign currencies) are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing  
on the dates of the transactions. At each balance sheet date, 
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated 
at the rates prevailing at the balance sheet date. Non-monetary 
items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies 
are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair 
value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in 
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

1 Accounting policies
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation  
of these Financial Statements are set out below. These policies  
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, except  
for changes arising on the adoption of new accounting standards  
as described below.

a Basis of preparation 
These Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance  
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as  
adopted by the European Union, International Financial Reporting 
Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) interpretations and with those  
parts of the Companies Act 1985/2006 applicable to companies 
reporting under IFRS. The Financial Statements have been 
prepared under the historical cost convention except for the 
following items: land and buildings are valued at deemed cost and 
share-based payments, cash flow hedges and retirement benefit 
obligations are fair valued. A summary of the more important Group 
accounting policies is set out below.

The preparation of Financial Statements in conformity with generally 
accepted accounting principles requires the use of estimates  
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities at the date of the Financial Statements and the reported 
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. 
Although these estimates are based on management’s best 
knowledge of the amount, event or actions, actual results ultimately 
may differ from those estimates.

The Company has not presented its own cash flow statement as the 
Company does not maintain its own bank account. All transactions 
such as dividends and share issues are dealt with through subsidiary 
companies and settled via intercompany accounts.

b Changes in accounting policies
The accounting standard IAS 23 (Revised), Borrowing Costs was 
effective 1 January 2009. The Group elected to adopt this standard 
early which resulted in £445,000 of capitalised interest cost.

The Group has adopted the following amendments to IFRS  
and IFRIC interpretations during the year. Adoption of these 
amendments did not have any effect on the Financial Statements.

• IFRIC 12, Service Concession Arrangements
•  IFRIC 14, IAS 19 The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset,  

Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction

c Basis of consolidation
The consolidated Financial Statements incorporate the Financial 
Statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company  
(its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the Company has the 
power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity  
so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the  
year are included in the Consolidated Income Statement from the 
effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, 
as appropriate.

On acquisition, adjustments are made to the Financial Statements  
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with  
those used by other members of the Group.

All intra-Group transactions, balances, income and expenses are 
eliminated on consolidation.
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i Pre-contract costs
The Group accounts for pre-contract costs on both time charge 
work and service contracts in accordance with IAS 11 Construction 
Contracts. Costs incurred before it becomes virtually certain that 
the contract will be awarded are charged directly to the Income 
Statement. Costs incurred after that point are recognised as an 
asset in the balance sheet and charged to the Income Statement 
over the duration of the contract.

j Employee benefits
The Group operates several occupational pension schemes,  
of both the defined contribution and defined benefit type.

(i) Defined contribution pension schemes
Contributions to the Group’s defined contribution schemes  
are recognised as an employee benefit expense when they fall 
due. Employer pension contributions in respect of employees who 
transferred under TUPE to Mouchel, but who remain members  
of their respective councils’ defined benefit pension scheme are 
treated as being made to defined contribution schemes where 
under the terms of the contract the defined benefit liability effectively 
remains with the relevant council.

Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that  
they result in either a cash refund or a reduction in future payments. 

(ii) Defined benefit pension schemes
The liability recognised in the balance sheet for the Group’s defined 
benefit pension schemes is the present value of the defined benefit 
obligation at the balance sheet date as adjusted for unrecognised 
past service cost, less the fair value of scheme assets. The defined 
benefit obligation is calculated by independent actuaries using the 
projected unit credit method and by discounting the estimated future 
cash flows using interest rates on high-quality corporate bonds  
that have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related 
pension liability. Any asset resulting from this calculation is limited to 
unrecognised past service costs plus the present value of available 
refunds and reductions in future contributions to the scheme.

The pension expense for the Group’s defined benefit schemes  
is recognised as follows:

Within operating profit
Current service cost – representing the increase in the present 
value of the defined benefit obligation resulting from employee 
service in the current period.

Past service cost – representing the increase in the present value  
of the defined benefit obligation resulting from employee service  
in prior periods, which arises from changes made to the benefits  
under the scheme in the current period. To the extent that the changes  
to benefits vest immediately, past service costs are recognised 
immediately; otherwise they are recognised on a straight-line basis  
over the vesting period.

Gains and losses arising on settlements and curtailments – where  
the item that gave rise to the settlement or curtailment is recognised 
within operating profit.

Within finance costs
Interest cost on the liabilities of the scheme – calculated by 
reference to the scheme liabilities and discount rate at the beginning 
of the year and allowing for changes during the year.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement or retranslation  
of monetary items are included in the Income Statement for  
the year. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of 
non-monetary items carried at fair value are included in the 
Income Statement for the period except for differences arising on 
the retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains  
and losses are recognised directly in equity. For such non-monetary 
items, any exchange component of that gain or loss is also 
recognised directly in equity.

(ii) Consolidated Financial Statements 
The assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations are  
expressed in pounds sterling using exchange rates prevailing at  
the balance sheet date. Income and expense items are translated  
at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange  
rates fluctuated significantly during that period, in which case  
the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used.  
Any exchange differences arising are classified as equity and 
transferred to the Group’s translation reserve. Such translation 
differences are recognised in the Income Statement in the period  
in which the foreign operation is disposed of.

h Revenue recognition
Revenue represents the fair value of services provided in the  
case of time charge work and the value of services provided as  
a proportion of the total value of the contract in the case of fixed  
fee contracts. Revenue is net of value added tax. Under certain 
services contracts, the Group manages customer expenditure  
and is obliged to purchase goods and services from third-party 
contractors and recharge them on to the customer at cost. The 
amounts charged by contractors and recharged to customers are 
excluded from revenue and cost of sales. Receivables, payables 
and cash relating to these transactions are included in the 
consolidated balance sheet.

Revenue recognition on outsourcing contracts is determined  
by reference to the proportion of the annual service delivered to 
date. Where the costs of obligations in relation to the non-renewal 
or termination of a contract are higher in the final period of the 
contract, a proportion of revenue is deferred each period to  
meet these anticipated costs.

Provision is made in full for estimated losses, if the costs of fulfilling 
the contract exceed the recoverable amount. Revenue is only 
recognised to the extent that it is probable that it will be recoverable. 
Where the outcome cannot be measured reliably, revenue is 
recognised to the extent of costs incurred to date where it is 
probable that costs will be recoverable.

Where revenue that has been recognised is found to not be 
recoverable due to a dispute with the client, these amounts are 
charged against the revenue recognised. Where non-recovery 
is as a result of inability of a client to meets its obligations, these 
amounts are charged to administrative expenses.

As described above, revenue represents the fair value of services 
provided as a proportion of the total value of the contract. Unbilled 
revenue is the difference between the revenue recognised and the 
amounts actually invoiced to customers. Where invoicing exceeds 
the amount of revenue recognised, these amounts are included in 
deferred income.

Consumables are stated at cost. When consumables are used,  
a charge is made to cost of sales. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 July 2009
(continued)

Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary 
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition  
(other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities 
in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the 
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary 
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates, 
and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to 
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that 
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each 
balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all  
or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to  
apply in the year when the liability is settled or the asset is realised. 
Deferred tax is charged or credited to the Income Statement, 
except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to 
equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity. 
Examples of items charged to equity are gains or losses in relation 
to pension scheme valuations and actual amounts received in 
respect of relief obtained in granting options to employees under 
share incentive schemes.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally 
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax 
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same 
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax  
assets and liabilities on a net basis.

l Intangible assets 
(i) Computer software costs
The cost or valuation of assets acquired or created to fulfil customer 
contracts, less their estimated residual value, is written down in equal 
instalments over the life of the contract to which the assets relate.

Acquired computer software licences and software development  
costs are capitalised and amortised over their estimated useful lives  
of between three and five years.

(ii) Customer relationships
Customer relationships are measured as the present value of cash  
flows attributable to the relationship after deduction of appropriate 
contributory assets charges. The relationship is amortised over its 
expected useful life.

(iii) Assets in the course of construction
Capital software projects which are incomplete at the balance  
sheet date are included within this category of intangible assets  
until the projects are commissioned and transferred to computer 
software costs.

(iv) Other intangible assets
Other intangible assets are acquired assets comprising trade 
names, non-compete agreements and specialist software and 
licences. The values of these assets are individually determined 
using appropriate valuation methods and deducting contributory 
assets charges as required. Further detail is given in note 12 of  
the Financial Statements.

1 Accounting policies (continued)
j Employee benefits (continued)
(ii) Defined benefit pension schemes (continued)
Expected return on the assets of the scheme – calculated by 
reference to the scheme assets and long-term expected rate of return 
at the beginning of the year and allowing for changes during the year.

Within the Statement of Recognised Income and Expense
Actuarial gains and losses arising on the assets and liabilities  
of the scheme.

When a curtailment (reducing future obligations as a result of  
a material reduction in the scheme membership or a reduction  
in future entitlement) occurs, the obligation and related plan  
assets are remeasured using current actuarial assumptions and  
the resultant gain or loss is recognised in the Income Statement 
during the period in which the curtailment occurs.

(iii) Share-based payments
The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to certain 
employees. Equity-settled share-based payments are measured  
at fair value (excluding the effect of non-market-based vesting 
conditions) at the date of grant. The fair value determined at the 
grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed 
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the 
Group’s estimate of the shares that will eventually vest.

The grant by the Company of options over its equity instruments  
to the employees of subsidiary undertakings in the Group is treated 
as a capital contribution.

At each balance sheet date before vesting, the cumulative expense 
is calculated, representing the extent to which the vesting period 
has expired and management’s best estimate of the achievement 
or otherwise of non-market conditions and hence the number of 
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The movement in the 
cumulative expense since the previous balance sheet is recognised 
in the Income Statement.

For share options where there are no market-based vesting 
conditions, fair value is measured using the Black-Scholes pricing 
model. For share options where there are market-based vesting 
conditions, the Monte Carlo simulation model is used for fair  
value measurement. 

k Taxation
Taxation in the Income Statement represents the sum of the tax  
currently payable and deferred tax on items charged or credited  
to the Income Statement.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.  
Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the Income 
Statement because it excludes items of income or expense that  
are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes 
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability  
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been  
enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities in the Financial Statements and the 
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, 
and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. 
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable 
temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to 
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available 
against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. 
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An intangible asset with an indefinite life is tested annually for 
impairment and whenever there is an indication that the asset  
may be impaired an impairment loss is recognised immediately  
in the Income Statement unless the relevant asset is carried at  
the revalued amount. 

A reversal of an impairment loss for tangible and intangible assets  
other than goodwill is recognised immediately in the Income 
Statement to the extent that the original impairment loss was 
recognised in the Income Statement.

(iii) Assets in the course of construction
As stated in note 1l(iii) incomplete capital projects are included 
within other intangible assets. They are not amortised. Once the 
project is complete and transferred to software it will be amortised 
in accordance with note 1l(i).

o Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the 
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership  
to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

(i) Finance leases
Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets  
of the Group at their fair value at the inception of the lease or,  
if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The 
corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the balance sheet 
as a finance lease obligation. Lease payments are apportioned 
between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so 
as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of 
the liability. Finance charges are charged to the Income Statement.

(ii) Operating leases
Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to the Income 
Statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant 
lease. Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to enter into 
an operating lease are also spread on a straight-line basis over the  
lease term.

A provision is made for all unavoidable costs arising on an onerous 
contract, where such costs exceed the economic benefits expected  
to be generated over the remaining life. Any such value ascribed is 
disclosed within provisions for liabilities and charges.

p Financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are recognised on the Group’s 
balance sheet when the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. There are no assets classified as at fair 
value through profit or loss.

(i) Trade receivables
Trade receivables are initially measured at fair value, do not carry  
any interest, and are reduced by appropriate impairment provisions 
for estimated irrecoverable amounts. They are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost.

A provision for impairment of trade receivables is established  
when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able  
to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the 
receivables. Significant financial difficulties of the customer, probability 
that the customer will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation and 
default may be considered indicators that the trade receivable may be 
impaired. Delinquency of payments is an indicator that we consider 
when assessing whether the asset needs to be impaired. 

m Property, plant and equipment
The cost or valuation of assets acquired or created to fulfil customer 
contracts, less their estimated residual value, is written down in equal 
instalments over the life of the contract to which the assets relate.

Assets are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation  
and accumulated impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are capitalised only when it is probable that  
they will result in future economic benefits flowing to the Group 
and when they can be measured reliably. All other repairs and 
maintenance expenditure is charged to the Income Statement  
in the year in which it is incurred.

Depreciation on assets is calculated using the straight-line method  
to write off their cost less their residual value over their estimated 
useful lives as follows:

Leasehold improvements over the expected term of the lease
Plant and office equipment 3-10 years
Vehicles 3-5 years

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected 
useful lives on the same basis as owned assets. Residual values and 
estimated useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at 
least at each financial year-end.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its 
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than  
its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses arising on disposals are determined by comparing 
net sales proceeds with carrying amounts and are recognised in the 
Income Statement in the period of the disposal.

n Impairment of tangible and intangible assets
(i) Goodwill
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the 
cash-generating units expected to benefit from the combination. 
Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are  
tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there  
is an indication that the unit may be impaired.

If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than  
the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated first  
to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit 
and then to the other assets of the unit pro rata on the basis of the 
carrying amount of each asset in the unit.

An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed  
in a subsequent period.

(ii) Other tangible and intangible assets
At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying amount  
of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether there is  
any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss.  
If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is 
estimated in order to determine the extent, if any, of the impairment  
loss. Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount  
of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount  
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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q Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation  
as a result of a past event, and it is probable that the Group will be 
required to settle that obligation. Provisions are measured at the 
Directors’ best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the 
obligation at the balance sheet date, and are discounted to present  
value where the effect is material.

r Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations
Non-current assets classified as held for sale and discontinued 
operations are measured at the lower of the carrying amount  
and fair value less costs to sell. The assets are not depreciated.

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held  
for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered through a sale 
transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is 
regarded as having been met only when the sale is highly probable 
and the asset (or disposal group) is available for immediate sale in  
its present condition. The Directors must be committed to the sale, 
which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed 
sale within one year from the date of classification.

s Segmental reporting
A business segment is an operation engaged in providing services 
that are subject to a different risk, regulatory or economic environment 
from those of other business segments. A geographical segment is 
engaged in providing services within a particular world location.
 
The three business segments used by management to review the 
business are defined at the front of this Report. These segments 
form the basis for reporting the Group’s primary segment 
information as they are the main determinants of the Group’s  
risks and returns.

t Investments in subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less accumulated 
impairment losses.

u Financial risk management
The Group has a limited number of overseas operations, significant 
cash balances and a revolving credit facility which expose the 
Group to the effects of changes in foreign currency exchange  
rates, changes in interest rates and credit risk. The Group finance 
department manages these risks within a defined set of policies 
and procedures laid down by the Board. The Board has identified 
that the Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk, interest rate 
risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and price risk in varying degrees.  
The Group’s policy for managing these risks is set out in note 23. 
The Group hedges against interest rate risk on bank borrowings.

v Key accounting estimates
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies  
which are described above, management has made the following 
judgements which have the most significant effect on the amounts 
recognised in the Financial Statements: 

(i) Retirement benefit obligations
The Group has retirement benefit obligations for which management 
have made judgements in arriving at their value. The key assumptions 
made and the sensitivity to these judgements are shown in note 35. 

1 Accounting policies (continued)
p Financial instruments (continued)
(i) Trade receivables (continued) 
The amount of the impairment provision is the difference between 
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. 
The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of  
an impairment provisions account, and the amount of the loss  
is recognised in the Income Statement within administrative 
expenses. When a trade receivable is uncollectable, it is written  
off against the impairment provisions account for trade receivables.

(ii) Cash and cash equivalents 
These comprise cash in hand and on demand deposits, and other 
short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three 
months or less that are readily convertible to a known amount of  
cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

(iii) Trade payables
Trade payables are not interest-bearing and are initially measured  
at their fair value. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost.

(iv) Assets held for sale
Non-current assets held for sale are classified as held for sale if  
their carrying amounts will be recovered principally through a sale 
transaction, not through continuing use.

(v) Borrowings
Bank overdrafts and interest-bearing loans are initially measured  
at fair value, and obligations under finance leases are dealt with in 
accordance with the Group’s policy on leases (note 1o). After initial 
recognition loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost, taking into account issue costs.

(vi) Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued are recorded at the proceeds received,  
net of direct issue costs.
 
(vii) Financial liabilities and equity
Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according  
to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into. 

(viii) Derivative financial instruments
The derivative instruments used by the Group, which are used 
solely for hedging purposes (i.e to offset interest rate risks) 
comprise interest rate swaps. Such derivative instruments are  
used to alter the risk profile of an existing underlying exposure  
of the Group, in line with the Group’s risk management policies.

The Group has designated these derivatives as cash flow hedges.  
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of the derivative that 
is designated and qualifies for hedge accounting is recognised as a 
separate component of equity. The ineffective portion is recognised 
immediately in the Income Statement. Amounts accumulated in 
equity are recycled to the Income Statement in the period in which 
the hedged item affects profit and loss.

In order to qualify for hedge accounting, the Group is required  
to document the relationship between the hedged item and the 
hedging instrument. The Group is also required to document and 
demonstrate that the relationship between the hedged item and the 
hedging instrument will be highly effective. The effectiveness test is 
reperformed at each period end to ensure that the hedge remained 
and will continue to remain highly effective.

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 July 2009
(continued)
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aa New IFRS standards not applied 
(i) Standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards  
that have been published as mandatory for later accounting periods  
but are not yet effective and have not been adopted early by the 
Group are:

IFRS 8, Operating Segments (effective for accounting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2009) replaces IAS 14 and aligns 
segment reporting with the requirements of the US standard SFAS 
131 – Disclosures About Segments of an Enterprise and Related 
Information. The new standard uses a ‘management approach’ 
under which segment information is presented on the same basis  
as that used for internal reporting purposes.

IFRS 2, Share-based Payments – clarification of share vesting 
conditions (effective for annual periods beginning on or after  
1 January 2009), is not expected to have any significant impact  
on the results of the Group.

IFRS 3 (revised), Business Combinations (effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009) will impact the 
calculation of consideration and goodwill for future acquisitions,  
as transaction costs will be expensed and some contingent 
payments will be remeasured at fair value through the Income 
Statement. If this had been early-adopted, £2.2m of goodwill 
currently capitalised would have been expensed through the 
Income Statement in the prior period.

IAS 1 (revised), Presentation of Financial Statements (effective  
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009) is not 
expected to have any significant impact on the results of the Group.

IAS 27 (revised), Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 
(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009)  
is not expected to have any significant impact on the results of  
the Group.

IAS 32, Financial Instruments and IAS 1, Presentation of Financial 
Statements, (effective from 1 January 2009). The amendments  
require entities to classify certain types of financial instruments  
as equity, provided they have particular features and meet  
specified conditions. The Group will apply these amendments  
from 1 August 2009 but they are not expected to have a significant  
impact on the Group’s accounts.

The following IFRIC’s have been published but are not yet  
effective and are not expected to have an impact on the Group’s 
Financial Statements: 

IFRIC 15, Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate (effective 
for accounting periods beginning after 31 December 2008).

IFRIC 16, Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation (effective 
for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 October 2008).

IFRIC 17, Distribution of Non-cash Assets to Owners (effective  
for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009).

IFRIC 18, Transfer of Assets from Customers (effective for 
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009).

(ii) Intangible assets 
As described in note 1l, the Group recognises certain intangible 
assets on acquisition. Judgements in respect of useful lives, 
discount rates and valuation methods affect the carrying value and 
amortisation charges in respect of these assets. These judgements 
are shown in note 12.

(iii) Goodwill
An annual impairment review of goodwill is undertaken in accordance 
with note 1n. The Group performs these reviews by estimating  
the future cash flows for the appropriate cash-generating units. 

(iv) Revenue recognition
The Group’s revenue recognition policy is stated in note 1h.  
In some cases, judgement is required to determine the appropriate 
proportion of the value delivered on the contract and the extent  
to which fees will be recoverable. 

(v) Deferred tax
Management has estimated the likely value of deferred tax assets  
in respect of trading losses.

(vi) Share-based payment estimates
The Group’s accounting policy for share-based payments is stated  
in note 1j. The fair value of equity settled share-based payments  
is partly determined from estimates of factors such as lapse rates  
and achievement of performance conditions.

w Research and development
Expenditure on research is recognised as an expense in the period  
in which it is incurred. Development costs are expensed in the 
period in which the costs are incurred unless the criteria for 
capitalisation are met.

x Dividends
Final dividends are recorded in the Group’s Consolidated Financial 
Statements in the period in which they are approved by the Group’s 
shareholders. Interim dividends are recognised when paid.

y Exceptional items
Material and non-recurring items of income and expense are 
disclosed in the Income Statement as exceptional items. Examples 
of items which may give rise to disclosure as exceptional items 
include gains or losses on the disposal of businesses, costs of 
restructuring and reorganisation of existing businesses, integration 
of newly acquired businesses, asset impairments and pension fund 
settlements and curtailments.

Amortisation of acquired intangible assets is also treated as an 
exceptional item so that the underlying profit of the Group can 
be measured from year to year. Underlying operating profit is one  
of the key measures used by the Board to monitor the Group’s 
performance.

z Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction 
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily 
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use 
or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the 
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the 
period in which they are incurred.
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2 Segmental analysis 
Primary segment information – business segments
The Group’s operations are organised and managed separately, according to the nature of services provided. A description of each of the 
primary segments can be found in the Business Review on pages 6 to 35.

Analysis of results by business segment is as follows:
 Group
      Government Regulated  Total
      Services Industries Highways  Group
2009     £000 £000 £000 £000

Total revenue     310,853 209,913 292,935 813,701
Inter-segment revenue     (7,052) (28,988) (37,111) (73,151)

Total external revenue     303,801 180,925 255,824 740,550

Underlying operating profit     14,545 12,956 19,824 47,325
Restructuring costs and asset impairment charges    (4,740) (28,134) – (32,874)
Amortisation of intangible assets arising from business combinations  (4,686) (512) (2,163) (7,361)
Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets arising on business combinations  – (17,141) – (17,141)

Segment operating profit/(loss)     5,119 (32,831) 17,661 (10,051)
Net gain on disposal of freehold property       3,814

Operating loss        (6,237)
Interest receivable        1,565
Finance costs        (8,834)

Loss before tax        (13,506)
Taxation        515

Loss for the year        (12,991)

     
Assets by segment     

Goodwill and other intangibles     116,905 19,808 33,542 170,255
Trade and other receivables     51,540 64,254 46,166 161,960
Other segment assets      54,137 21,632 18,356 94,125
Unallocated assets:        
– deferred tax assets        28,739
– other unallocated assets        4,143

Total assets         459,222

    
Liabilities by segment    

Trade payables – current     (37,548) (7,997) (13,289) (58,834)
Other segment liabilities     (46,485) (35,117) (9,956) (91,558)
Unallocated liabilities: 
– borrowings        (150,906)
– current tax liabilities        (8,909)
– deferred tax liabilities        (12,325)
– retirement benefit obligations        (60,287)
– financial instruments        (4,362)
– other unallocated liabilities        (4,830)

Total liabilities        (392,011)

Total net assets        67,211

Inter-segment revenue is charged at market rate, based on hours worked.
 

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 July 2009
(continued)
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 Group
      Government Regulated  Total
      Services Industries Highways Group
2009     £000 £000 £000 £000

Other segment items     
Capital expenditure (intangible and tangible assets)    13,129 5,031 7,137 25,297
Depreciation charge     4,475 1,716 2,215 8,406
Amortisation of intangible assets – software    3,303 387 541 4,231
Amortisation of intangible assets arising from business combinations  4,686 512 2,163 7,361

The financing of the Group’s activities is undertaken centrally and consequently net financing costs cannot be analysed segmentally. 

The unallocated net assets principally comprise items relating to the captive insurance company and the parent company.

All operations in 2009 and 2008 are continuing.
 Group
      Government Regulated  Total
       Services Industries Highways Group
2008     £000 £000 £000 £000

Total revenue     273,635 192,148 255,971 721,754
Inter-segment revenue     (6,563) (23,715) (34,733) (65,011)

Total external revenue     267,072 168,433 221,238 656,743

    
Underlying operating profit      14,428 10,720 16,567 41,715
Amortisation of intangible assets arising from business combinations  (1,876) (1,668) (2,107) (5,651)

Segment operating profit     12,552 9,052 14,460 36,064
Other exceptional items – Group        (6,799)

Operating profit        29,265
Interest receivable        4,756
Finance costs        (7,708)

Profit before tax        26,313
Taxation        (6,761)

Profit for the year        19,552

    
Assets by segment     

Goodwill and other intangibles     117,915 38,120 33,574 189,609
Trade and other receivables     48,983 47,671 46,750 143,404
Other segment assets      49,176 21,578 15,732 86,486
Unallocated assets:    
– deferred tax assets        21,926
– other unallocated assets        7,717

Total assets         449,142

    
Liabilities by segment    

Trade payables – current     (24,536) (6,697) (16,377) (47,610) 
Other segment liabilities     (54,455) (16,874) (14,262) (85,591)
Unallocated liabilities:
– borrowings        (132,817)
– current tax liabilities        (12,857)
– deferred tax liabilities        (15,122)
– retirement benefit obligations        (34,561)
– other unallocated liabilities        (1,694)

Total liabilities        (330,252)

Total net assets        118,890
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2 Segmental analysis (continued)
Primary segment information – business segments (continued)
 Group
      Government Regulated  Total
      Services Industries Highways Group
2008     £000 £000 £000 £000

Other segment items    
Capital expenditure (intangible and tangible assets)    36,115 3,077 3,512 42,704
Depreciation charge     5,853 734 1,144 7,731
Amortisation of intangible assets – software    3,083 408 548 4,039
Amortisation of intangible assets arising from business combinations  1,876 1,668 2,107 5,651

Secondary segment information – geographical segments
The table below represents revenue by geographical origin (the analysis by geographical destination is not materially different to that by 
origin) and the carrying amount of net assets and capital expenditure by the location of those assets.

 Group
 Revenue Segment net assets Capital expenditure
    2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
    £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

United Kingdom   667,466 621,271 50,140 108,060 24,633 41,856
Middle East   68,648 32,084 15,104 7,770 654 845
Ireland and other overseas   4,436 3,388 1,967 3,060 10 3

    740,550 656,743 67,211 118,890 25,297 42,704

Company
The Company’s business is to invest in its subsidiaries and therefore it operates in a single segment.

3 Exceptional items 
 Group
        2009 2008
        £000 £000

Restructuring costs and asset impairment charges in the Middle East1    (21,008) –
Restructuring costs and asset impairment charges in Management Consulting2    (4,740) –
Restructuring costs and asset impairment charges in Rail3     (24,267) –
Net profit on disposal of freehold property4      3,814 –
Integration and transition costs5       – (5,811)
Other costs       – (988)
Amortisation of intangible assets arising from business combinations6    (7,361) (5,651)

Total exceptional items       (53,562) (12,450)

Management use underlying profit to measure and manage the financial performance of the Group on a day-to-day basis. Underlying profit 
excludes material income and charges considered to be one off or non-recurring in nature. Underlying profit also excludes the amortisation 
of intangible assets arising from business combinations. The Group presents these items as exceptional in a separate column in the Income 
Statement so that the underlying and statutory performance can be seen clearly.

During the second half of 2009 the Group has been impacted by a small number of significant events which have resulted in one off or non-recurring items: 

1  The economic slowdown in Dubai required the Group to significantly reduce its presence in the region. As a result, the Group incurred restructuring charges of £6.0m, mainly  
in respect of redundancies and surplus property provisions. The Group has also recorded asset impairment charges of £15.0m to reduce the value of contract receivables to the 
amounts the Group believes it should be able to collect. 

2  Restructuring costs and asset impairment charges were incurred in the second half of 2009 to better align demand and supply for the Group’s management consulting services 
in the current environment.

3  During 2009 the Group decided to substantially withdraw from the rail sector. The Group has incurred restructuring charges of £7.2m, mainly in respect of redundancies and  
surplus property provisions, and has impaired in full the intangible assets (mainly goodwill and customer relationships) associated with the Rail business of £17.1m. 

4  The Group completed the sale of its freehold property and relocated staff and equipment prior to completion to new leasehold premises in Woking. 
5  The integration and transition costs arose as a result of the acquisition of HBS Business Services Group Limited (renamed Mouchel Business Services Limited (MBS)) and Hedra 

plc (renamed Mouchel Management Consulting Limited (MMCL)). The integration of MBS and MMCL has resulted in a small number of staff redundancies, the closure of a loss 
making business and other transition costs. 

6  In line with market practice, the Group does not consider the amortisation of intangible assets arising from business combinations to be part of the underlying business 
performance and therefore treats them as exceptional costs.

The tax effect of the exceptional items is a credit of £10,916,000 in the Income Statement. This credit, which is at a lower rate than the 
standard rate of corporation tax, reflects disallowed costs principally relating to the Rail intangible assets impairment charge and the effect 
of capital gains tax on the disposal of the freehold property.

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 July 2009
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4 Analysis by nature of expense
The following items have been included in arriving at (loss)/profit before taxation:
 Group
        2009 2008
        £000 £000

Staff costs (note 6)       366,963 345,691
Subcontractors       209,310 166,734
Cost of sales on outsourced contracts       12,745 12,638
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment:  
– owned assets       8,219 7,485
– held under finance leases       187 246
Amortisation of software       4,231 4,039
Amortisation of intangible assets arising from business combinations (note 3)    7,361 5,651
Restructuring costs and asset impairment charges      17,874 –
Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets arising on business combinations (note 3)   17,141 –
Net profit on disposal of freehold property (note 3)      (3,814) –
Other exceptional items (note 3)       – 6,799
Profit on disposal of fixed assets       – 4
Travel and subsistence       18,719 14,585
Legal and professional fees       2,283 2,356
Insurance       4,497 5,472
Rates and premises maintenance       11,105 8,448
Amortisation of bank facility fees       369 170
Other operating lease rentals payable:  
– plant and machinery       6,725 5,547
– property       11,186 12,538
Repairs and maintenance expenditure on property, plant and equipment    318 644
Trade receivables and unbilled revenue impairment      20,308 882
(Profit)/loss on foreign exchange       (328) 55
Other expenses       31,388 27,494

Total cost of sales, distribution and administrative expenses     746,787 627,478

Auditor remuneration   
Services provided by the Group’s Auditors and its network firms were as follows:
        2009 2008
        £000 £000

Audit services
Fees payable to the Company’s Auditor for the statutory audit of the Company’s and Group’s
 consolidated annual Financial Statements1      452 452

Non-audit fees
Fees payable to the Company’s Auditor and its associates for the statutory audits of the Company’s 
 associates and for other services:        
– the auditing of Financial Statements of the Company’s associates pursuant to legislation    75 117
– other services supplied pursuant to legislation       – 95
– other services relating to taxation        146 202
– actuarial services       128 178
– all other services2       20 299

        821  1,343

1 The fees payable in respect of the statutory audit of the Company were £20,000 (2008: £20,000).
2 Other services in 2008 include acquisition due diligence costs of £287,000.
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5 Finance (costs)/income
 Group
        2009 2008
        £000 £000

Interest income       919 1,838
Net interest receivable on retirement benefit obligations (note 35)     646 2,918

Interest receivable        1,565 4,756

Interest expense:  
– interest payable on bank facilities       (209) (230)
– interest payable on finance leases       (50) (63)
– interest payable on other loans       (193) (258)
– interest payable on revolving credit facility      (8,433) (6,900)
– interest payable on bonds       (394) (257)
Less interest capitalised       445 –

Finance costs       (8,834) (7,708)

Net finance costs       (7,269) (2,952)

6 Employees and Directors
Staff costs during the year were as follows:
  Group
        2009 2008
        £000 £000

Wages and salaries       322,481 304,221
Social security costs       25,635 23,407
Other pension costs (note 35)       17,804 16,833
Share-based payments (note 29)       1,043 1,230

        366,963 345,691

Staff costs include temporary staff.

The number of people (including Executive Directors and temporary staff) employed at the year-end was as follows:

 Group
     Government Regulated  Group 
     Services Industries Highways  Functions Total
2009    No. No. No. No. No.

Total staff    4,741 2,172 3,997 211 11,121
 
 Group
     Government Regulated  Group 
     Services Industries Highways  Functions Total
2008    No. No. No. No. No.

Total staff    4,832 2,671 3,480 358 11,341

The average number of people (including Executive Directors and temporary staff) employed during the year was as follows:

 Group
     Government Regulated  Group 
     Services Industries Highways  Functions Total
2009    No. No. No. No. No.

Total staff    4,763 2,621 3,992 216 11,592
 
 Group
     Government Regulated  Group 
     Services Industries Highways  Functions Total
2008    No. No. No. No. No.

Total staff    4,615 2,580 3,063 343 10,601

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 July 2009
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 Group Company
      2009 2008 2009 2008
Key management compensation     £000 £000 £000 £000

Salaries and short-term employee benefits    2,190 1,897 1,189 972
Post-employment benefits      120 120 28 29
Share-based payments     – 180 – 85

Key management comprises Executive and Non-Executive Directors and members of the Group Management Board. There were no other 
transactions with key management personnel during the year ended 31 July 2009 (2008: £nil).

More detailed information on the emoluments, pensions, option holdings and shareholdings for each Director is shown in the Remuneration 
Report on pages 46 to 51.

7 Taxation 
a Analysis of tax charge for the year
 Group
        2009 2008
        £000 £000

Corporation tax for the year       (1,414) (5,225)
Over/(under) provision of tax in prior years      1,125 (21)

Current tax       (289) (5,246)

Deferred tax credit/(charge) for the year       1,895 (1,515)
Deferred tax – under provision of tax in prior years      (1,091) –

Total deferred tax credit/(charge)       804 (1,515)

Tax credit/(charge) for the year       515 (6,761)

b Factors affecting the tax charge for the year
The tax charge for each year is different to the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 28% (2008: 29.33%1). The differences are 
explained below:
 Group
        2009 2008
        £000 £000

(Loss)/profit before tax       (13,506) 26,313

(Loss)/profit multiplied by the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 28% (2008: 29.33%1)   3,782 (7,718)
Effects of:  
– permanent differences       (2,895) 1,070
– change in tax rate       – 213
– adjustment in respect of prior years       34 (21)
– losses        (406) (305)

Tax credit/(charge) for the year        515 (6,761)

1 Due to the change in tax rate in the prior year, the blended rate is 29.33%. The rate to 31 March 2008 was 30% and from 1 April 2008 the rate was 28%.

c Tax on items charged to equity
 Group
        2009 2008
        £000 £000

Movement in pension scheme valuations      7,203 6,586
Adjustments to estimated recoverable deferred tax assets     (359) 75

Deferred tax on items credited to equity       6,844 6,661
Deferred tax on items credited/(charged) to the Income Statement     804 (1,515)

Total deferred tax credit       7,648 5,146

Unrecognised deferred tax assets in relation to trading losses total £17,000,000 (2008: £17,000,000). In addition there are unrecognised 
deferred tax assets in respect of non-trading losses of £3,260,000 (2008: £1,890,000).

Deferred tax assets have been recognised as the Directors believe that there will be sufficient future profits for the asset to be recovered.
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8 Profit of the Parent Company
The Group Income Statement consolidates the Income Statement of the Parent Company and subsidiary undertakings. As permitted  
by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the Income Statement of the Parent Company is not presented as part of these accounts.  
The Parent Company’s result for the financial year amounted to a profit of £7,097,000 (2008: £71,000).

9 Dividends
 Group and Company
        2009 2008
        £000 £000

Final paid in respect of the previous year 4.25p (2008: 3.45p)     4,774 3,796
Interim paid in respect of the current year 2.25p (2008: 1.85p)     2,528 2,074
Less: dividend waived by employee share ownership trusts     (118) (104)

Total dividends paid       7,184 5,766

In addition, the Directors are proposing a final dividend for the financial year ended 31 July 2009 of 3.85p (2008: 4.25p) per share which  
will absorb an estimated £4,300,000 (2008: £4,700,000) of shareholders’ funds. It will be paid on 18 December 2009 to shareholders  
who are on the register of members as at 23 October 2009.

10 (Loss)/earnings per share
 Group
        2009 2008

Basic (loss)/earnings per share       (11.7)p 17.9p
Diluted (loss)/earnings per share       (11.7)p 17.7p
Adjusted earnings per share       26.4p 25.7p

  
        2009 2008
        £000 £000

(Loss)/profit for the year       (12,991) 19,552

(Loss)/earnings for basic and diluted earnings per share     (12,991) 19,552

Adjustments:  
– other exceptional costs (net of taxation)      20,205 4,804
– impairment of goodwill and intangible assets arising on business combinations (net of taxation)  17,141 –
– amortisation of intangible assets arising from business combinations (net of taxation)   5,300 4,069

Earnings for adjusted earnings per share      29,655 28,425

  
         2009 2008
        000s 000s

Weighted average number of ordinary shares      111,156 109,418
Dilutive share options       – 620
Dilutive Save As You Earn schemes       – 233

Diluted weighted average number of ordinary shares     111,156 110,271

  
Weighted average number of ordinary shares      111,156 109,418
Average number of shares held by the employee share trusts     1,709 1,953
Share options (shares held in the employee share trusts) matured in respect of executive share option schemes (520) (559)

Adjusted weighted average number of ordinary shares     112,345 110,812

Basic (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by dividing the earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted average number 
of shares during the year.

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue on the assumption  
of conversion of all dilutive share options in issue and shares under Save As You Earn schemes. The share price used to calculate diluted 
earnings per share is based on a weighted average price of 296.47p (31 July 2008: 428.13p). Potential ordinary shares are not treated as 
dilutive when their conversion would increase earnings per share or decrease loss per share from continuing operations. As the Group 
reported a loss for the year the effects of 493,000 anti-dilutive share options were ignored when calculating earnings per share for 2009.

Adjusted earnings per share is calculated after adding back shares held by the employee share trusts to the weighted average number  
of shares. Earnings are adjusted to exclude exceptional items (net of taxation). The Directors believe that this additional measure provides  
a better indicator of the underlying trends in the business.
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11 Goodwill
         Group
         Cost and 
         net book value
2009        £000

At 1 August 2008        118,121
Adjustment to fair values (note 34)        998
Impairment of goodwill        (12,227)
Transferred from other intangible assets        2,825

At 31 July 2009        109,717

Adjustment was made to the value of goodwill associated with the purchase of Hedra plc following a review of the value of net assets 
acquired. The adjustments are not considered sufficiently material to restate comparative figures.

Goodwill created upon the acquisition of ServiGroup plc was impaired following the decision to substantially exit the rail sector.
         Group
         Cost and 
         net book value
2008        £000

At 1 August 2007        48,691
Additions – business combinations (note 34)       69,379
Adjustment to fair values        51

At 31 July 2008        118,121

Impairment tests for goodwill
Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units (CGUs) identified according to the business segment.
  
A segment-level summary of the goodwill allocation is presented below:        
 
 2009 2008  
  Government Regulated   Government  Regulated 
  Services Industries Highways Total Services Industries Highways Total
  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

United Kingdom 80,718 11,094 17,905 109,717 76,895 23,321 17,905 118,121

The recoverable amount of goodwill for each CGU has been based on value-in-use as represented by the net present value of future cash 
flows. Cash flows are projected forwards for four years based on the latest one-year budget extrapolated for three future years, assuming 
operating margins remain the same, by a prudent growth rate applicable to each unit; an appropriate terminal value based on a perpetuity 
calculation using long-term average growth rates is then added. They are then discounted using a pre-tax discount rate based on the 
Group’s nominal weighted average cost of capital. The pre-tax discount rate used was 10.0% per annum which has been applied 
consistently across each CGU based on their similar risk profiles.

As at 31 July 2009, based on these internal valuations, the recoverable value of goodwill required no impairment.
   
The key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations are as follows:
       Government Regulated
       Services Industries  Highways 
       % % %

Growth rate for the first three years      5.0 5.0  5.0
Long-term average growth rate       2.3 2.3 2.3
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12 Other intangible assets
 Group   
    Assets in  Other   
    the course of Customer acquired  Other 
    construction relationships intangibles Software intangibles Total
2009   £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cost        
At 1 August 2008   4,900 56,655 4,063 17,260 4,360 87,238
Additions   9,807 – – 537 – 10,344
Disposals   – – – (180) – (180)
Impairment   – (9,245) – – (160) (9,405)
Transferred to goodwill   – – (2,825) – – (2,825)
Transferred to customer relationships   – 204 (204) – – –
Transferred to software   (1,046) – – 1,046 – –

At 31 July 2009   13,661 47,614 1,034 18,663 4,200 85,172

Accumulated amortisation         
At 1 August 2008   – 8,089 100 6,175 1,386 15,750
Charge for the year   – 5,951 193 4,038 1,410 11,592
Disposals   – – – (178) – (178)
Impairment   – (2,530) – – – (2,530)

At 31 July 2009   – 11,510 293 10,035 2,796 24,634

Net book value        
At 31 July 2009   13,661 36,104 741 8,628 1,404 60,538

At 31 July 2008   4,900 48,566 3,963 11,085 2,974 71,488

 Group   
    Assets in  Other   
    the course of Customer acquired  Other 
    construction relationships intangibles Software intangibles Total
2008   £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cost
At 1 August 2007   2,744 29,255 – 4,994 3,360 40,353
Acquisitions (note 35)   – 27,400 4,063 9,708 1,000 42,171
Additions   2,951 – – 1,763 – 4,714
Transferred to software   (795) – – 795 – –

At 31 July 2008   4,900 56,655 4,063 17,260 4,360 87,238

Accumulated amortisation       
At 1 August 2007   – 3,293 – 2,236 531 6,060
Charge for the year   – 4,796 100 3,939 855 9,690

At 31 July 2008   – 8,089 100 6,175 1,386 15,750

Net book value      
At 31 July 2008   4,900 48,566 3,963 11,085 2,974 71,488

At 31 July 2007   2,744 25,962 – 2,758 2,829 34,293

Assets in the course of construction are not amortised, in accordance with note 1l of the Financial Statements. They include costs associated 
with replacing the Group’s management reporting systems.

Customer relationships brought forward have a useful life of between seven and 13 years. The approximate remaining lives of these relationships 
are between seven and 11 years. The values of these relationships were arrived at by discounting attributable future cash flows. A discount rate 
of between 10% and 13% was used as appropriate, based on the weighted average cost of capital of the acquired entity. A customer attrition 
rate of between 7% and 15% was assumed.

Software costs are amortised over their estimated useful lives of between three and five years. All amortisation charges in the year have been 
charged through administrative expenses. Additions of internally generated software include £445,000 of interest capitalised at an average 
borrowing rate of 5.5%.

Other intangibles comprise non-compete agreements, specialist software acquired and a licence for the Contractors Assurance Case (CAC) 
which enables us to work on UK railways. The CAC has been impaired during the year. The software was valued on a replacement cost basis 
and is amortised over five years. The values of the non-compete agreements were calculated using discounted cash flows on two base cases; 
one assuming employees did compete and comparing that with the values obtained if employees did not compete. Their useful lives are 
between two and three years; the same timespan as the non-compete agreement is enforceable for. The CAC was originally valued on a 
replacement case basis. 

Assets in the course of construction and software are internally generated.

Intangible assets created upon the acquisition of ServiGroup plc were impaired following the Group’s decision to substantially exit the  
rail sector.

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 July 2009
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13 Property, plant and equipment
 Group  
      Leasehold Plant and office  
      improvements equipment Vehicles Total
2009     £000 £000 £000 £000 

Cost      
At 1 August 2008     4,734 39,282 138 44,154
Foreign exchange translation difference     4 251 9 264

      4,738 39,533 147 44,418
Additions      701 14,239 13 14,953
Disposals     (387) (2,746) (68) (3,201)

At 31 July 2009     5,052 51,026 92 56,170

Accumulated depreciation 
At 1 August 2008     2,439 23,546 75 26,060
Foreign exchange translation difference     – 65 2 67

      2,439 23,611 77 26,127 
Disposals      (387) (2,677) (68) (3,132)
Charge for the year      792 7,567 47 8,406

At 31 July 2009      2,844 28,501 56 31,401

Net book value        
At 31 July 2009     2,208 22,525 36 24,769

At 31 July 2008     2,295 15,736 63 18,094

The net book value of assets held under finance leases was £270,000 (2008: £574,000). Depreciation in the year on those assets was 
£187,000 (2008: £246,000). All assets held under finance leases are categorised as plant and office equipment.
 
 Group  
     Freehold Leasehold Plant and office  
     property improvements equipment Vehicles Total
2008    £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cost      
At 1 August 2007    4,089 4,002 36,961 297 45,349
Foreign exchange translation difference    – 7 22 – 29

     4,089 4,009 36,983 297 45,378
Acquisitions    – – 4,095 – 4,095
Additions     – 725 8,805 60 9,590
Disposals1    – – (10,601) (219) (10,820)
Transferred to assets held for sale (note 18)   (4,089) – – – (4,089)

At 31 July 2008    – 4,734 39,282 138 44,154

Accumulated depreciation     
At 1 August 2007    90 1,732 26,910 100 28,832
Foreign exchange translation difference    – 5 2 – 7

     90 1,737 26,912 100 28,839
Disposals1    – – (10,356) (49) (10,405)
Charge for the year     15 702 6,990 24 7,731
Transferred to assets held for sale (note 19)   (105) – – – (105)

At 31 July 2008     – 2,439 23,546 75 26,060

Net book value     
At 31 July 2008    – 2,295 15,736 63 18,094

At 31 July 2007    3,999 2,270 10,051 197 16,517
 
1 Items with a gross cost of £8,748,000 and a £nil net book value were written off during 2008.
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14 Investments in subsidiaries
Shares in subsidiary undertakings
         
         Company
2009        £000

Cost and net book value  
At 1 August 2008        322,736
Additions        200
Capital contributions        888

At 31 July 2009        323,824 

During the year ended 31 July 2009 the Company subscribed for 200,000 additional ordinary shares issued by its subsidiary Mouchel 
Insurance Limited. Capital contributions were made to trading subsidiaries in respect of share based payments granted to employees of 
those subsidiaries.
         Company
2008        £000

Cost and net book value  
At 1 August 2007 and 31 July 2008        322,736

Subsidiaries
The principal subsidiaries in which the Company had an interest at 31 July 2009, their country of incorporation and registration as well as 
ownership of their ordinary share capital, are listed below:
       Proportion of Country of registration/
Company      shares held (%) incorporation

Mouchel Limited1       100 England and Wales
Mouchel Rail Limited1       100 England and Wales
Mouchel Traffic Support Limited1       100 England and Wales
Mouchel Ewan Limited1       100 England and Wales
Mouchel Holdings Limited       100 England and Wales
Parkman Consultants Limited1       100 England and Wales
Mouchel Finance and Treasury Holdings Limited      100 England and Wales
Mouchel Finance Limited1       100 England and Wales
Mouchel Dormant Holdings Limited       100 England and Wales
Mouchel Ireland Limited1       100 Republic of Ireland
Mouchel Insurance Limited       100 Guernsey
Mouchel International (Jersey) Limited1       100 Jersey
Mouchel International Limited       100 Hong Kong
Mouchel Business Services Limited1        100 England and Wales
Mouchel Management Consulting Limited1      100 England and Wales
MPHBS Limited2       100 England and Wales

1 Held indirectly.
2  Joint venture entity between Mouchel Holdings Limited and Mouchel Business Services Group Limited (MBS). On 6 August 2007, Mouchel Holdings Limited acquired MBS  

(formerly HBS Business Services Group Limited), thereby gaining 100% control of the joint venture.

All companies have a 31 July year-end except for Parkman Consultants Limited which has a 31 March year-end. 

All the trading subsidiaries have the same principal activity as the Group except for Mouchel Holdings Limited and Mouchel Dormant 
Holdings Limited which are holding companies, Mouchel Finance and Treasury Holdings Limited and Mouchel Finance Limited which  
are internal financing companies and Mouchel Insurance Limited which is a captive insurance company. 

All subsidiaries are included within the consolidated results of the Group.

Other investments 
The Group’s other investments include a 50% holding in Mouchel IRE Limited, registered in the Ukraine, and a 25% holding in Chotichinda 
Mouchel Consultants Limited, incorporated in Thailand. These companies are dormant.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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Joint ventures  
The Group has interests in the following joint ventures:

Incorporated joint ventures:
      Country of registration Equity proportion of Voting rights 
Name     /incorporation  joint interest held % %

2020 Liverpool Limited     England and Wales 80.1 50
2020 Knowsley Limited     England and Wales 64.2 25
EnterpriseMouchel Limited     England and Wales 50 50
Hackney Schools for the Future Limited     England and Wales 40 40
Mouchel Babcock Education Services Limited    England and Wales 50 50
Mouchel Babcock Education Investments Limited    England and Wales 50 50
Mouchel South Africa (PTY) Limited     South Africa 49 49
The Impact Partnership Limited (Rochdale Borough) Limited   England and Wales 80.1 50
The Unity Partnership Limited     England and Wales 67 67

 
Unincorporated joint ventures:   
      Country of  Proportion of Voting rights 
Name     operation joint interest held % %

Scotland Transerv     Great Britain 30 50
Mouchel Fairhurst     Great Britain 50 50
Rail Structures Midlands     Great Britain 50 50
Southern Assessment Contract     Great Britain 40 33
Westminster TranServ     Great Britain 20 50
KMI+     Great Britain 7.5 25
Amey Mouchel     Great Britain 25 50
Children First     Great Britain 70 50
PeekMouchel     Great Britain 50 50
WHIMS     Great Britain 60 60

All of these arrangements are accounted for in accordance with the policy detailed in note 1e. 2020 Liverpool Limited, 2020 Knowsley 
Limited, The Impact Partnership (Rochdale Borough) Limited and MPHBS Limited have a 31 March year-end. Mouchel Babcock Education 
Services Limited has a 31 May year-end and Mouchel Babcock Education Investments Limited has a 31 December year-end. Hackney 
Schools for the Future Limited has a 31 October year-end. Where joint venture entities do not have a 31 July year-end, unaudited accounts 
for the period from 1 August to 31 July are used for consolidation purposes.

In relation to the Group’s interests in jointly controlled entities, the assets, liabilities, income and expenses recognised are shown below: 

 Group
        2009 2008
        £000 £000

Non-current assets       3,920 2,790
Current assets       43,172 27,165
Current liabilities       (42,589) (28,965)
Non-current liabilities       – –

Net assets       4,503 990

Revenue       142,683 100,453
Expenses       (139,000) (99,118)

Profit before tax       3,683 1,335
Taxation       (980) (356)

Share of post-taxation results from jointly controlled entities    2,703 979

15 Capital commitments
Group
        2009 2008
        £000 £000

Contracts placed for future capital expenditure      2,123 –

Company
The Company was not committed to any material capital expenditure as at 31 July 2009 or 31 July 2008.
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16 Deferred tax
 Group
      Accelerated Retirement Losses 
    Employee  Share-based capital  benefit and 
    benefits payments allowances obligations provisions Total 
2009   £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Deferred tax assets      
At 1 August 2008   699 4,158 294 11,137 5,638 21,926  
Capital allowances in excess of depreciation  – – (294) – – (294)
Actuarial loss on pension scheme valuations  – – – 7,203 – 7,203
Sale of freehold property   – – – – (982) (982)
Special contributions to retirement benefit schemes  – – – (1,852) – (1,852)
Share-based payments   – (599) – – – (599)
Losses   – – – – 3,337 3,337

At 31 July 2009    699 3,559 – 16,488 7,993 28,739

      Accelerated   
     Intangible capital   Freehold
     assets allowances ESOP property Total
     £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Deferred tax liabilities       
At 1 August 2008    (14,469) – (112) (541) (15,122)
Impairment of intangible assets acquired   1,961 – – – 1,961
Amortisation of intangible assets    2,061 – – – 2,061
Depreciation in excess of capital allowances   – (1,148) – – (1,148)
Sale of freehold property    – – – (77) (77)

At 31 July 2009    (10,447) (1,148) (112) (618) (12,325)

 Group
      Accelerated Retirement Losses 
    Employee  Share-based capital  benefit and 
    benefits payments allowances obligations provisions Total 
2008   £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Deferred tax assets
At 1 August 2007   749 1,236 571 5,402 60 8,018
Effect of reduction in tax rate to 28%   (50) (82) (38) (360) (4) (534)
Capital allowances in excess of depreciation  – – (239) – – (239)
Tax relief on shares issued to employees  – (112) – – – (112)
Actuarial loss on pension scheme valuations  – – – 6,586 – 6,586
Freehold property held for sale   – – – – 982 982
Special contributions to retirement benefit schemes  – – – (4,211) – (4,211)
Acquisitions   – 2,651 – 3,720 4,600 10,971
Share-based payments   – 465 – – – 465

At 31 July 2008    699 4,158 294 11,137 5,638 21,926

      Intangible  Freehold 
      assets ESOP property Total
      £000 £000 £000 £000

Deferred tax liabilities       
At 1 August 2007     (8,679) (120) (580) (9,379)
Effect of reduction in tax rate to 28%     580 8 39 627
Additions (intangible assets acquired)     (7,952) – – (7,952)
Amortisation of intangible assets     1,582 – – 1,582

At 31 July 2008     (14,469) (112) (541) (15,122)

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 July 2009
(continued)
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 Company
        Accelerated 
       Share-based capital 
       payments allowances Total
2009      £000 £000 £000

Deferred tax assets   
At 1 August 2008      145 38 183
Depreciation in excess of capital allowances     – 29 29
Share-based payments      (98) – (98)

At 31 July 2009       47 67 114

        Freehold 
        property Total
        £000 £000

Deferred tax liabilities   
At 1 August 2008       (541) (541)
Sale of freehold property       (77) (77)

At 31 July 2009       (618) (618)

 Company
        Accelerated 
       Share-based capital 
       payments allowances Total
2008      £000 £000 £000

Deferred tax assets
At 1 August 2007      78 39 117
Effect of reduction in tax rate to 28%      (5) (3) (8)
Depreciation in excess of capital allowances     – 2 2
Share-based payments      72 – 72

At 31 July 2008       145 38 183

        Freehold 
        property Total
        £000 £000

Deferred tax liabilities 
At 1 August 2007       (580) (580)
Effect of reduction in tax rate to 28%       39 39

At 31 July 2008       (541) (541)
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17 Trade and other receivables
 Group Company
     Impairment     
    Gross provision Net Net Net Net 
    2009 2009 2009 2008 2009 2008 
    £000  £000 £000 £000 £000  £000

Trade receivables   99,142 (2,566) 96,576 90,771 – –
Unbilled revenue   81,485 (17,474) 64,011 51,974 – –
Amounts owed by Group undertakings   – – – – 41,299 38,308
Other receivables   5,987 – 5,987 4,769 – –
Prepayments and accrued income   16,459 – 16,459 15,886 – –

    203,073 (20,040) 183,033 163,400 41,299 38,308

The 2008 trade receivables and unbilled revenue are stated after provisions for impairment of £1,655,000 and £980,000 respectively. 

The Company receivables had £nil provisions for impairment in both the current and prior years.

As at 31 July 2009, trade receivables and unbilled revenue of £42,424,000 (2008: £40,052,000) were past due but not impaired. The ageing 
analysis of these trade receivables is as follows:
 Group
        2009 2008
        £000 £000

Up to three months       22,327 28,184
Over three months       20,097 11,868

        42,424 40,052

Included within trade receivables is £391,000 which is due after more than one year (2008: £542,000).

As at 31 July 2009 trade receivables and unbilled revenue of £20,040,000 (2008: £2,635,000) have been impaired so as to reduce the value 
of contract receivables to the amounts the Group believes it should be able to collect. This includes the impairment charge of £15.0m made 
against receivables in Dubai, as explained in note 3. The ageing of these receivables is as follows:
 Group
        2009 2008
        £000 £000

Up to three months       – 76
Over three months       20,040 2,559

        20,040 2,635

Movements on the Group provision for impairment of trade receivables and unbilled revenue are as follows:
 Group
        2009 2008
        £000 £000

At 1 August       2,635 1,938
Receivables written off during the year as uncollectable     (2,903) (529)
New impairment provisions made       20,308 882
Acquisitions       – 344

At 31 July       20,040 2,635

No amounts of collateral are held as security.

The creation and release of provisions for impaired receivables have been included in administrative expenses in the Income Statement. 
Amounts charged to the provisions account are generally written off when there is no expectation of cash recovery.

The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets.

18 Assets held for sale
In the prior year the Group agreed to sell the freehold property and completion took place in March 2009. The sale proceeds of £9.5m 
exceeded the carrying value. The net gain has been included within exceptional items detailed in note 3.

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 July 2009
(continued)
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19 Bank overdrafts 
The Group has an unsecured overdraft facility of up to £5.0m with the Royal Bank of Scotland, and overseas facilities of AED 1.5m with  
HSBC and AED 1.0m with Standard Chartered. Within the Group’s joint ventures there is also an overdraft facility of £0.5m with the  
Royal Bank of Scotland.

20 Trade and other payables – current
 Group Company
      2009 2008 2009 2008
      £000 £000 £000 £000

Trade payables     58,834 47,610 – –
Amounts owed to Group undertakings     – – 4,682 6,083
Other tax and social security payable     13,648 18,301 – –
Other payables     5,332 22,108 – 210
Accruals and deferred income     50,695 31,042 40 40

      128,509 119,061 4,722 6,333

Within trade payables is £17,884,000 relating to customer advances (2008: £11,332,000).

21 Borrowings
As detailed in note 23, the Group renegotiated its revolving credit facilities to obtain a total facility of £190.0m.

As at 31 July 2009 amounts totalling £153.7m had been drawn down. Also drawn against the facility are bonds and guarantees,  
as detailed in note 36, of £27.0m, leaving £9.3m of the facility undrawn. Interest is being charged at LIBOR plus a margin on the ratio  
of net borrowings to earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation and amortisation. This ranges from 0.5% to 3.5%.

In addition, there are two secured loans totalling £2.0m at 31 July 2009 which are repayable in instalments until October 2011. Interest  
is charged at 6.84% on the first loan and 7.44% on the second loan, per annum. 

Loans are repayable as follows:
 Group
        2009 2008
        £000 £000

Obligations due within one year       2,153 1,165
Obligations due within one and two years      10,839 48,671
Obligations due within two and five years      142,758 87,079

Total loans due       155,750 136,915
Loan issue costs incurred       (3,437) (1,093)
Amortisation of loan issue costs       604 170

Net borrowings       152,917 135,992

Loan issue costs of £3,437,000 have been capitalised and are being amortised over the life of the loan.

The Group has entered into agreements to partially hedge against the interest rate risk on the revolving credit facility above. At 31 July 2009, 
the total fair value of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges was a liability of £4,362,000 (2008: asset of £337,000).

The Group has complied with the banking facility covenants during the year.

22 Loan notes
 Group Company
      2009 2008 2009 2008
      £000 £000 £000 £000

Intercompany loan notes owed by Group undertakings   – – 39,814 39,814
Intercompany loan notes owed to Group undertakings   – – (51,852) (51,852)

      – – (12,038) (12,038)

The loan notes arose on the Group restructuring that took place with effect from 1 August 2006.

All intercompany loan notes, both payable and receivable, have a five-year term and attract interest at a fixed rate of 6% per annum.
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23 Financial instruments
The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk, credit risk and liquidity risk in varying degrees but all have relatively low levels  
of risk. Interest rate risk arises from long-term pounds sterling borrowings issued at variable rates. Group policy is to hedge a proportion  
of the drawn revolving credit facility. The Group has not undertaken hedging or complex financial instruments to mitigate risk other than 
interest rate risk. Details of the Group’s financial risk management objectives and policies are provided in note 1u. 

The financial instruments of the Group comprise bank loan facilities, internal cash resources and trade receivables and payables arising 
from trading activities. The Group’s policy is to manage the financial instruments centrally to provide both the working capital and the 
investment funds necessary for ongoing operations and future development. 

The majority of UK projects and contracts are in pounds sterling, and otherwise are in the currencies in which the majority of the costs are 
denominated. The Group’s principal overseas subsidiaries have arranged working capital facilities in their local currency and it is unusual for 
them to contract in currencies other than their own functional currency. Consideration is given to hedging against possible currency 
movements where considered appropriate. It is the Group’s policy not to trade in derivatives.

In accordance with IAS 39 Financial Instruments, Recognition and Measurement, the Group has reviewed all contracts for embedded 
derivatives that are required to be separately accounted for. None were identified as part of the review.

Classification of financial instruments
 Group  
       Derivatives Liabilities at  
     At fair Loans and used for amortised  
     value receivables hedging cost Total
At 31 July 2009    £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Financial assets:       
Trade and other receivables    – 160,587 – – 160,587
Cash and cash equivalents    52,426 – – – 52,426

     52,426 160,587 – – 213,013

Financial liabilities:     
Bank borrowings    – 153,740 – – 153,740
Other loans    – 2,010 – – 2,010
Cash flow hedges    – – 4,362 – 4,362
Obligations under finance leases    – – – 280 280

     – 155,750 4,362 280 160,392

       Derivatives  
     At fair Loans and used for Liabilities at 
     value receivables hedging amortised cost Total
At 31 July 2008    £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Financial assets:
Trade and other receivables    – 142,745 – – 142,745
Cash flow hedges    – – 337 – 337
Cash and cash equivalents    51,792 – – – 51,792

     51,792 142,745 337 – 194,874

     
Financial liabilities:     
Bank borrowings    – 133,740 – – 133,740
Other loans    – 3,175 – – 3,175
Obligations under finance leases    – – – 479 479

     – 136,915 – 479 137,394

The fair value of current borrowings equals their carrying amount, as the impact of discounting is not significant. Cash flow hedges are 
recognised in accordance with the provisions governing fair value hedge accounting; that is at amortised cost less the fair value of the 
hedged interest rate risk. Their fair values are determined using valuation techniques which use data from observable markets, and 
assumptions are based on market conditions existing at each balance sheet date.

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 July 2009
(continued)
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 Company
       Derivatives  
     At fair Loans and used for Liabilities at 
     value receivables hedging amortised cost Total
At 31 July 2009    £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Financial assets:     
Trade and other receivables    – 41,299 – – 41,299
Cash and cash equivalents    – – – – –

     – 41,299 – – 41,299

Financial liabilities:     
Loans    – – – – –
Obligations under finance leases    – – – – –

     – – – – –

 Company  
       Derivatives  
     At fair Loans and used for Liabilities at 
     value receivables hedging amortised cost Total
At 31 July 2008    £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Financial assets:     
Trade and other receivables    – 38,308 – – 38,308
Cash and cash equivalents    – – – – –

     – 38,308 – – 38,308

     
Financial liabilities:     
Loans    – – – – –
Obligations under finance leases    – – – – –

     – – – – –

Interest rate risk
The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s long-term debt obligations with floating 
interest rates.

The Group’s policy is to manage its interest cost using a mix of fixed and variable rate debts. To manage this, the Group enters into interest 
rate swaps, in which the Group agrees to exchange, at specified intervals, the difference between fixed and variable rate interest amounts 
calculated by reference to an agreed upon notional principal amount. These swaps are designated as a cash flow hedge to hedge 
underlying debt obligations.

The interest rate profile of the financial assets and liabilities of the Group as at 31 July shows payable amounts as follows:

   Within Between Between Between  Between More than 
   1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years 3-4 years 4-5 years 5 years Total
At 31 July 2009  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Fixed rate:       
 Other loans  (1,171) (736) (103) – – – (2,010)
Obligations under finance leases  (153) (127) – – – – (280)
Floating rate:       
 Bank borrowings  (982) (10,000) (10,000) (132,758) – – (153,740)
 Cash in hand  52,426 – – – – – 52,426  
 Cash flow hedges  (4,362) – – – – – (4,362)

   Within Between Between Between  Between More than 
   1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years 3-4 years 4-5 years 5 years Total
At 31 July 2008  £000 £000 £000  £000 £000 £000 £000

Fixed rate:       
 Other loans  (1,165) (1,171) (736) (103) – – (3,175)
 Obligations under finance leases  (179) (173) (127) – – – (479)
Floating rate:       
 Bank borrowings  – (47,500) – – (86,240) – (133,740)
 Cash in hand  51,792 – – – – – 51,792
 Cash flow hedges  337 – – – – – 337
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23 Financial instruments (continued)
Interest rate risk (continued)
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a change in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit 
before tax (through the impact on floating rate borrowings). There is no impact on the Group’s equity.
         Effect 
         on profit
        Increase in  before tax
        basis points  £000

2009       0.25 384
2008        0.25 334

Foreign exchange risk
The Group has operations where transactions are denominated in foreign currencies. In these operations, the working capital facilities are 
maintained in local currency with funds being remitted back to the UK to minimise exposure to foreign exchange risk. The Group does not 
hedge against foreign currency exchange risk as balances in foreign currency are not significant to the Group. The extent of foreign 
currency exposure is monitored on an ongoing basis. All bonds and guarantees are funded out of the UK. 

At 31 July 2009, if the euro had weakened/strengthened by 1% against the UK pound with all other variables held constant, pre-tax profit 
for the year would have been £18,000 (2008: £22,000) lower/higher, mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of 
UK pound-denominated trade receivables. 

At 31 July 2009 if the UAE dirham had weakened/strengthened by 1% against the UK pound with all other variables held constant, pre-tax 
profit for the year would have been £19,000 (2008: £22,000) lower/higher, mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains/losses on translation 
of UK pound-denominated trade receivables.

Credit risk 
The Group’s principal financial assets are cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables and unbilled revenue. The Group does not hold any 
collateral as security. The Group manages these risks through a number of measures. Counterparty risk on cash deposits is managed by 
adhering to the guidelines set by the Board. Currently the limits are that up to £5,000,000 of cash can be deposited with any one UK 
counterparty. 

Trade receivables and unbilled revenue are managed through set-up and authorisation policies for new customers. It is the Group’s policy 
that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. An assessment of credit quality of the 
customer is made as appropriate taking into account their financial position, past experience, external agency ratings and other factors. 
Where possible, the risk is mitigated by use of advanced payments. Group policy is not to apply individual credit limits to trade and other 
receivables, although total exposure and payment performance are monitored monthly both at individual project and client level. The Group 
has a wide range of customers and in the view of management excluding the Middle East as discussed elsewhere in the Financial 
Statements, there are no concentrations of credit risk that cause concern.

        31 July  31 July
        2009 2008
        Balance Balance
Counterparty       £000 £000

Local government       57,194 53,148
Central government       25,356 23,761
Regulated industries       20,559 18,888
Private sector companies       77,518 49,583

        180,627 145,380

The table below shows the Group’s cash and cash equivalents balances at the year-end date classified according to the banks credit rating.
  
        2009 2008
Rating       £000 £000

AA        6,347   629 
AA-        6,701   1,813 
A+        29,360   49,313 
A         10,018   37 

Cash and cash equivalents        52,426   51,792 

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 July 2009
(continued)
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Liquidity risk 
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities and the availability of funding through an 
adequate amount of committed credit facilities. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying businesses, the Group maintains flexibility in 
funding by maintaining availability under committed credit lines.

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s liquidity reserve (which comprises undrawn borrowing facility and cash and cash 
equivalents) on the basis of expected cash flow. In addition, the Group’s liquidity management policy involves projecting cash flows and 
considering the level of liquid assets necessary to meet these and monitoring balance sheet liquidity ratios against internal and external 
regulatory requirements.

On 1 August 2007, an unsecured revolving credit facility of £125.0m was put in place jointly with Royal Bank of Scotland and Lloyds TSB  
to finance the acquisition of HBS Business Services Group Limited and provide capacity for the future growth and development of the 
business. On 4 March 2008, the Group extended this facility to £185.0m, following the decision to acquire Hedra plc. With effect from  
30 March 2009, the Group’s credit facilities were amended and restated. As a result, the Group now has facilities totalling £190.0m  
with Royal Bank of Scotland, Lloyds TSB and Barclays. Of the £190.0m, £125.0m is in the form of revolving credit facilities which reduces 
by £10.0m in March each year, commencing March 2010, with the remaining balances of £30.0m expiring on 1 August 2012, and £65.0m 
expiring on 31 October 2012. The balance of £65.0m is in the form of a term loan which also falls due for repayment on 31 October 2012.  
As at 31 July 2009, the Group was in compliance with the financial covenants of the revolving credit facility.

The table below analyses the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities. Figures shown are undiscounted.

      On demand   
      or within Between Between Over
      1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years 5 years
2009     £000 £000 £000 £000

Finance leases     153 127 – –
Trade payables     58,834 – – –
Bank borrowings and other loans     2,153 10,839 142,758 –

      On demand   
      or within Between Between Over
      1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years 5 years
2008     £000 £000 £000 £000

Finance leases     179 173 127 –
Trade payables     47,610 – – –
Bank borrowings and other loans     1,165 48,671 87,079 –

Price risk 
The Group does not hold any equity securities that are available for sale and does not have any exposure to commodity price risk. 

Capital risk 
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide 
returns for shareholders, benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital  
to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

For capital management purposes, the Group monitors capital on the basis of the consolidated net borrowings to consolidated earnings 
before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA).

The table below presents quantitative data of the components the Group manages as capital:
        2009 2008
        £000 £000

Shareholders’ funds       67,211 118,890
Bank loans       153,740 133,740
Finance leases       280 479

At 31 July        221,231 253,109
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24 Lease obligations
Operating lease commitments – minimum lease payments 
 Group
 2009 2008 
       Vehicles,  Vehicles,
       plant and  plant and
      Property equipment Property equipment
      £000 £000 £000 £000

Commitments under non-cancellable operating leases payable:    
Within one year     10,118 5,438 7,827 3,262
Later than one year and within five years    23,648 7,506 14,704 4,017
After five years     10,637 – 2,333 –

      44,403 12,944 24,864 7,279

The Group leases various offices under non-cancellable operating lease agreements. The leases have various terms, escalation clauses 
and renewal rights. The Group also leases vehicles, plant and machinery under non-cancellable operating lease agreements.

The Company had no operating lease commitments as at 31 July 2009 (2008: none).

At 31 July the Group had the following amounts due in respect of subleases on the above:
 Group
        2009 2008
        £000 £000

Leases which expire:  
Within one year       227 146
Later than one year and within five years      – 26

        227 172

25 Other non-current liabilities – trade and other payables
 Group Company
      2009 2008 2009 2008
      £000 £000 £000 £000

Other payables and deferred income     1,404 2,126 – –

26 Provisions for liabilities and charges
 Group  
     Restructuring Insurance Dilapidation Onerous  
     provisions provisions provisions  contracts Total
     £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

At 1 August    – 3,438 1,666 5,429 10,533
Amounts provided for during the year    5,069 2,337 1,876 4,961 14,243
Amounts utilised during the year    – (435) – (1,043) (1,478)

At 31 July 2009    5,069 5,340 3,542 9,347 23,298

 Group  
      Insurance Dilapidation Onerous  
      provisions provisions  contracts Total
      £000 £000 £000 £000

Balances previously included within creditors    1,256 706 – 1,962
Arising from acquisitions     250 313 6,597 7,160
Amounts provided for during the year     1,972 647 – 2,619
Amounts released to the Income Statement    –  – (900) (900)
Amounts consumed during the year     (40) – (268) (308)

At 31 July 2008     3,438 1,666 5,429 10,533

Restructuring provisions will unwind within one year. Insurance provisions will unwind when claims are settled. Dilapidation provisions 
unwind over the life of the lease which may be between one and 10 years. Onerous contract provisions will be released over the next  
five years.

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 July 2009
(continued)
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27 Share capital
 Group and Company
      No. 2009 No. 2008
      of shares £000 of shares £000

Authorised    
Ordinary shares of 0.25p     158,682,800 397 122,063,625 305

Allotted, called-up and fully paid    
Ordinary shares of 0.25p each at 1 August    112,088,261 279 109,737,714 274
Allotted under share option schemes     281,458 1 341,687 –
Allotted as equity consideration on the acquisition     
of Hedra plc      – – 2,008,860 5

At 31 July     112,369,719 280 112,088,261 279

During the year the Company received £674,000 from shares allotted under share option schemes. In the prior year it issued shares on the 
acquisition of Hedra plc with a value of £8,291,000. The excess of the consideration value over nominal value has been taken to reserves in 
accordance with section 612 of the Companies Act 2006.

28 Share premium
        Group and Company
        2009 2008
        £000 £000

Balance at 1 August       27,180 26,464
Issue of new shares       673 716

Balance at 31 July       27,853 27,180

29 Share-based payments
a Overview of schemes
Approved and Unapproved Executive Share Option Schemes (AES and UES)
The Executive Share Option Scheme applies to senior executives, including Executive Directors. For options granted, the option price is not less 
than the market value of an ordinary share, or the nominal value if higher. A performance condition has to be met before options can be exercised. 

No options were granted during the financial year ended 31 July 2009. For approved options granted between March 1997 and November 
2003, options are exercisable on condition that the Company’s adjusted earnings per share (EPS) increases by RPI +6% over a three-year 
period. For unapproved options granted between March 1997 and November 2003, options are exercisable on condition that the 
Company’s adjusted EPS increases by RPI +12% over a three-year period.

Co-Investment Plan
Details of the Co-Investment Plan terms and conditions can be found on page 47 of the Remuneration Report. As at 31 July 2009,  
there were conditional rights over 432,251 ordinary shares outstanding under the Co-Investment Plan. 

Performance Share Plan
Details of the Performance Share Plan terms and conditions can be found on page 48 of the Remuneration Report. As at 31 July 2009, 
conditional rights over 1,132,299 ordinary shares were outstanding under the Performance Share Plan.

Restricted Share Plan
Details of the Restricted Share Plan terms and conditions can be found on page 48 of the Remuneration Report. As at 31 July 2009, 
conditional rights over 153,004 ordinary shares were outstanding under the two-year Restricted Share Plan and conditional rights over 
91,392 ordinary shares were outstanding under the three-year Restricted Share Plan.

Sharesave scheme
The Sharesave scheme is a savings plan whereby employees contract to save a fixed amount each month with a savings institution over  
a three-year period. At the end of the savings term, the employees are given the option to purchase shares at a price set before savings 
began. The option must be exercised within six months of maturity of the savings contract, otherwise it lapses. Participants leaving for a 
qualifying reason have six months within which to exercise their option up to their savings amount. Options over 1,111,940 ordinary shares 
were granted under this scheme during the year, with 1,098,481 remaining at 31 July 2009.
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29 Share-based payments (continued)
b Annual bonus schemes
The fair value per option granted and the assumptions used in the calculations are as follows:

Scheme     RSP RSP CIP PSP
Grant date     May 08 May 08 Nov 08 Nov 08

Share price at grant date (p)      460.00 460.00 266.00 266.00
Exercise price (p)     – – – –
Number of employees remaining in schemes    8 13 121 34
Shares under option at 31 July 2009 (no.)    153,004 91,392 189,485 522,542
Vesting period (years)     2.00 3.00 3.00 3.00
Expected volatility     n/a n/a 28.50 28.50
Option life (years)     0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50
Expected life (years)     2.00 3.00 3.00 3.00
Risk-free rate (%)     n/a n/a 2.52 2.52
Expected dividends expressed as dividend yield (%)    1.15 1.15 2.29 n/a
Possibility of ceasing employment before vesting (%)    12 12 20 n/a
Expectations of meeting performance criteria (%)    70 70 75 100
Fair value per option (p)     277.20 273.50 198.40 157.00

  Options  Granted  Exercised  Expired Options   
  as at beginning during during  during as at end Option  Date of  
Scheme of year year year year of year price (p) grant Exercisable between

AES 50,902 – (8,613) – 42,289 214.50 11.2003 26.11.2006-26.11.2013
UES 21,315 – – – 21,315 214.50 11.2003 26.11.2006-26.11.2010
CIP 05 131,040 – (119,121) (11,919) – – 11.2005 29.11.2008-28.05.2009
PSP 05 212,028 – (173,062) (11,394) 27,572 – 04.2006 26.04.2009-25.10.2009
CIP 06 114,003 – (358) (274) 113,371 – 11.2006 24.11.2009-23.05.2010
PSP 06 216,771 – – (6,325) 210,446 – 11.2006 24.11.2009-23.05.2010
CIP 07 129,639 – (92) (152) 129,395 – 11.2007 23.11.2010-23.05.2011
PSP 07 382,124 – – (10,385) 371,739 – 11.2007 23.11.2010-23.05.2011
RSP 153,004 – – – 153,004 – 05.2008 23.05.2010-23.11.2010
RSP 91,392 – – – 91,392 – 05.2008 23.05.2011-23.11.2011
CIP 08 – 190,064 – (579) 189,485 – 11.2008 21.11.2011-21.05.2012
PSP 08 – 570,781 – (48,239) 522,542 – 11.2008 21.11.2011-21.05.2012

  1,502,218  760,845 (301,246) (89,267) 1,872,550   

The weighted average share price during the year was 296.47p (2008: 428.13p).

The weighted average life of the outstanding options at 31 July 2009 was 740 days (2008: 791 days).

c Sharesave schemes
The fair value of Sharesave options granted and the assumptions used in the calculations are as follows:

Grant date       Jun 08 Jun 09

Exercise from       01.08.11 01.08.12
Exercise to       31.01.12 31.01.13
Share price at grant date (p)       432.75 247.50
Exercise price (p)       472.17 261.00
Number of employees remaining in schemes      1,126 1,203
Shares under option at 31 July 2009 (no.)      506,156 1,098,481
Vesting period (years)       3.00 3.00
Expected volatility       26.39 42.26
Option life (years)        3.00 3.00
Expected life (years)        3.00 3.00
Risk-free rate (%)       4.40 1.09
Expected dividends expressed as dividend yield (%)       1.10 2.60
Possibility of ceasing employment before vesting (%)      – –
Expectations of meeting performance criteria (%)       100 100
Fair value per option (p)       77.21 65.07

Notes to the Financial Statements
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d Share option movements
Awards outstanding at the end of the year have the following expiry dates and exercise prices:
 
 2009 2008
      Weighted    Weighted
      average   average
    Weighted  remaining life: Weighted  remaining life:
    average  expected and average  expected and 
    exercise  No. of  contractual exercise No. of  contractual
Range of exercise prices (p)   price (p) shares (days) price (p) shares  (days)

0 – 100   – 1,808,946 699.01 – 1,430,001 696.55
101 – 200   – – – – – –
201 – 300   258.45 1,162,536 624.46 234.20 368,231 105.97
301 – 400   353.00 383,141 29.11 353.00 438,088 124.77
401 – 501   464.46 926,318 287.69 464.24 1,190,047 685.40

The weighted average share price during the period for options exercised over the year was 239.40p (2008: 216.22p).

Movements in the number of awards outstanding and their related exercise prices are as follows:
  
    AES  UES  CIP  PSP  Sharesave  RSP
   Weighted  Weighted  Weighted  Weighted  Weighted  Weighted
   average   average  average  average  average   average
   exercise    exercise   exercise    exercise   exercise   exercise
  No.  price (p) No.  price (p) No. price (p) No. price (p) No. price (p) No. price (p)

Awards outstanding             
 at 1 August 2008 50,902 214.50 21,315 214.50 374,682 – 810,923 – 1,924,149 248.51 244,396 –
Granted – – – – 190,064 – 570,781 – 1,111,940 261.00 – –
Exercised/transferred (8,613) 214.50 – – (119,571) – (173,062) – (281,458) 239.40 – –
Lapsed – – – – (12,924) – (76,343) – (346,240) 428.59 – –

Awards outstanding  
 at 31 July 2009 42,289 214.50 21,315 214.50 432,251 – 1,132,299 – 2,408,391 353.89 244,396 –

   
The Group recognises an expense for employee services received that is settled by the issue of equity instruments. The expense is 
measured by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments settled at the date of grant and is recognised on a straight-line basis over 
the vesting period. Adjustments are made as appropriate for leavers and non market vesting conditions to the number of shares expected 
to vest.

The accounting treatment applies to all grants of equity instruments after 7 November 2002 that were unvested as at 1 August 2004.  
The total expense recognised in the year for these schemes was £1,043,000 (2008: £1,230,000).
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30 Statement of changes in equity
 Group  
     Share Share  Other  Retained  
     capital premium reserves earnings Total
     £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Balance at 1 August 2007    274 26,464 12,845 70,725 110,308

     
Loss on sale of own shares held in employee share trusts  – – – (284) (284)
Tax relief on shares issued to employees   – – – 196 196
Actuarial loss on pension scheme valuations   – – – (23,372) (23,372)
Deferred tax on movement in pension scheme valuations  – – – 6,586 6,586
Changes in fair value of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges  – – 337 – 337
Currency translation differences    – – 318 – 318

Net income/(expense) recognised directly in equity   – – 655 (16,874) (16,219)
Profit for the year    – – – 19,552 19,552

Total recognised income and expense for 2008   – – 655 2,678 3,333

     
Employee share option schemes:     
– proceeds from shares issued    – 716 – – 716
– sale of own shares by employee share trusts   – – 593 – 593
Share-based payments    – – – 1,415 1,415
Equity consideration issued    5 – 8,286 – 8,291
Dividends    – – – (5,766) (5,766)

Balance at 31 July 2008    279 27,180 22,379 69,052 118,890

     
Balance at 1 August 2008    279 27,180 22,379 69,052 118,890 

     
Loss on sale of own shares held in employee share trusts  – – – (78) (78)
Actuarial loss on pension scheme valuations   – – – (34,036) (34,036)
Deferred tax on movement in pension scheme valuations  – – – 7,203 7,203
Changes in fair value of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges  – – (4,699) – (4,699)
Currency translation differences    – – (1,350) – (1,350)

Net expense recognised directly in equity   – – (6,049) (26,911) (32,960)
Loss for the year    – – – (12,991) (12,991)

Total recognised income and expense for 2009   – – (6,049) (39,902) (45,951)

     
Employee share option schemes:     
– proceeds from shares issued    1 673 – – 674
– sale of own shares by employee share trusts   – – 96 – 96
Share-based payments    – – – 686 686
Release of revaluation reserve on sale of property   – – (3,212) 3,212 –
Dividends    – – – (7,184) (7,184)

Balance at 31 July 2009    280 27,853 13,214 25,864 67,211

       
Included in other reserves are accumulated negative translation reserves of £674,000 (2008: positive reserve of £676,000).

Included within other reserves are ESOP reserves of £446,000 (2008: £542,000). More detail on these reserves can be found in note 31. 

Notes to the Financial Statements
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 Company  
     Share Share  Other  Retained  
     capital premium reserves earnings Total
     £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Balance at 1 August 2007    274 26,464 4,689 311,286 342,713

     
Profit for the year    – – – 71 71

Total recognised income and expense for 2008   – – – 71 71

     
Employee share option schemes:     
– proceeds from shares issued    – 716 – – 716
Share-based payments    – – – 274 274
Equity consideration issued    5 – 8,286 – 8,291
Dividends    – – – (5,766) (5,766)

Balance at 31 July 2008    279 27,180 12,975 305,865 346,299

Balance at 1 August 2008    279 27,180 12,975 305,865 346,299

Profit for the year    – – – 7,097 7,097

Total recognised income and expense for 2009   – – – 7,097 7,097

     
Employee share option schemes:     
– proceeds from shares issued    1 673 – – 674
Share-based payments    – – – 85 85
Release of revaluation reserve on sale of freehold property  – – (3,212) 3,212 –
Share-based payments granted to subsidiary employees  – – – 888 888
Dividends    – – – (7,184) (7,184)

Balance at 31 July 2009    280 27,853 9,763 309,963 347,859

31 ESOP reserves
The ESOP reserve arises because Mouchel Trustee Limited holds shares in Mouchel Group plc as agent for the trustees of the Mouchel 
Employees’ Share Ownership Plan Trust. Also, Halifax EES Trustees International Limited holds shares in Mouchel Group plc as trustee for 
the Mouchel No. 2 Employees’ Share Ownership Plan Trust. Shares held by the ESOP trusts are available for distribution to the employees 
of the Group at the discretion of the trustees. In accordance with SIC 12, the investment in own shares arising out of ESOP trusts has been 
shown as a reduction in the reserves of the Group.

As at 31 July the shareholding in own shares was as follows:
        Nominal Market
       Cost value value1

2009     No. £000 £000 £000

Mouchel Employees’ Share Ownership Plan Trust    404,800 124 1 644
Mouchel No. 2 Employees’ Share Ownership Plan Trust   1,032,044 322 3 1,641

        Nominal Market
       Cost value value1

2008     No. £000 £000 £000

Mouchel Employees’ Share Ownership Plan Trust    413,413 71 1 1,634
Mouchel No. 2 Employees’ Share Ownership Plan Trust   1,511,891 473 4 5,976

1 Based on a share price on 31 July 2009 of 159.00p per ordinary share (2008: 395.25p).

Movement on ESOP reserve
 Group
        2009 2008
        £000 £000

Balance at 1 August        (542) (653)
Sale of shares       96 111

Balance at 31 July        (446) (542)
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32 Cash generated from operations
 Group
        2009 2008
        £000 £000

(Loss)/profit for the year       (12,991) 19,552
Adjustments for:       
– income tax (credit)/expense       (515) 6,761
– depreciation       8,406 7,731
– gross (profit)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment     (5,516) 4
– amortisation of intangible assets – arising from business combinations    7,361 5,651
  – software and other acquired intangibles    4,231 4,039
– impairment of goodwill and intangible assets arising from business combinations   17,141 –
– other exceptional costs       34,576 6,799
– interest receivable       (1,565) (4,756)
– finance costs       8,834 7,708
Changes in working capital:  
– increase in trade and other receivables including unbilled revenue (before exceptional impairment charges)  (32,512) (16,915)
– increase in trade and other payables       5,351 1,421

Cash generated from operations before exceptional items     32,801 37,995
Exceptional items       (7,585) (6,799)

Cash generated from operations       25,216 31,196

 Company
        2009 2008
        £000 £000

Profit for the year       7,097 71
Adjustments for:  
– depreciation       – 15
– finance costs       874 972
Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment      (5,516) – 
Changes in working capital:       
– decrease in intercompany debt       (2,455) (1,058)

Cash generated from operations       – –

Receipts and payments for the Company are received or paid by other Group companies. Therefore the Company has no cash flows and 
as a result no cash flow statement has been presented.

33 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts are analysed as follows:
 Group Company
      2009 2008 2009 2008
      £000 £000 £000 £000

Cash and cash equivalents      52,426 51,792 – – 

Of the above cash balances, £22,874,000 is restricted by virtue of it being held within our joint ventures and captive insurance company 
(2008: £18,057,000).

The Group has an unsecured overdraft facility of up to £5,000,000 with the Royal Bank of Scotland, and overseas facilities of AED 
1,500,000 with HSBC and AED 1,000,000 with Standard Chartered. Within the Group’s joint ventures there is also an overdraft facility  
of £500,000 with the Royal Bank of Scotland.

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 July 2009
(continued)
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34 Acquisitions
a Current year
There were no acquisitions in the current year.

b HBS Business Services Group Limited
On 6 August 2007, the Group acquired 100% of the issued share capital of HBS Business Services Group Limited. Following acquisition, 
the Company was renamed Mouchel Business Services Limited (MBS).
       Carrying values Fair value  
       pre acquisition adjustments Fair value 
       £000 £000 £000

Net assets acquired:   
Intangible fixed assets      9,571 12,900 22,471
Plant, property and equipment      4,315 (738) 3,577
Investments      (101) – (101)
Deferred tax assets      – 4,708 4,708
Trade and other receivables      10,852 1,247 12,099
Intra-Group loan acquired      23,890 – 23,890
Cash and cash equivalents      16,232 – 16,232
Current liabilities      (23,966) (589) (24,555)
Non-current liabilities      (5,680) – (5,680)
Provisions for liabilities and charges      – (7,040) (7,040)
Retirement benefit obligations      (19,243) 5,957 (13,286)

       15,870 16,445 32,315
Goodwill        39,096

Gross consideration        71,411
Liabilities acquired        (23,890)

Net consideration        47,521

The fair value adjustments represent changes to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Mouchel Group, together with 
intangible valuations arising on acquisition. 

Intangible assets were recognised in respect of customer contracts and relationships. Goodwill arose on acquisition from the skilled 
workforce and synergy benefits identified, which do not meet the criteria for recognition as an intangible asset. 

         £000

Satisfied by: 
Cash        46,240
Acquisition costs        1,281

Consideration        47,521

The outflow of cash and cash equivalents upon acquisition is calculated as follows:
         £000

Cash consideration including costs        47,521
Cash acquired        (16,232)

Net cash outflow        31,289
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34 Acquisitions (continued)
c Hedra plc
On 5 March 2008, the Group acquired 100% of the issued share capital of Hedra plc. Following acquisition, the Company was renamed 
Mouchel Management Consulting Limited.
      Provisional  Further
     Carrying values fair value  Provisional fair value 
     pre acquisition adjustments fair value  adjustments Fair value
     £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Net assets acquired:   
Intangible fixed assets    4,363 15,337 19,700 – 19,700
Plant, property and equipment    518 – 518 (50) 468
Trade and other receivables    10,998 (88) 10,910 (598) 10,312
Cash and cash equivalents    2,184 – 2,184 – 2,184
Current liabilities    (9,592) (200) (9,792) (300) (10,092)
Non-current liabilities    (1,040) – (1,040) – (1,040)
Provisions for liabilities and charges    – (120) (120) (50) (170)
Deferred tax liabilities    2 (1,689) (1,687) – (1,687)

     7,433 13,240 20,673 (998) 19,675
Goodwill      30,283 998 31,281

Consideration      50,956 – 50,956

The fair value adjustments represent changes to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Mouchel Group, together with 
intangible valuations arising on acquisition. There were no changes to cash consideration but upon finalising the provisional fair values of  
the Hedra acquisition, further immaterial fair value adjustments were made as detailed in the table above. These adjustments have been 
reflected in goodwill.

Intangible assets were recognised in respect of a non-compete agreement with the vendors and customer contracts and relationships. 
Goodwill arose on acquisition from the skilled workforce and synergy benefits identified, which do not meet the criteria for recognition 
as an intangible asset. 
         £000

Satisfied by: 
Cash        41,709
Shares        8,291
Acquisition costs        956

Consideration        50,956

The outflow of cash and cash equivalents upon acquisition is calculated as follows:
         £000

Cash consideration including costs        42,665
Cash acquired        (2,184)

Net cash outflow        40,481

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 July 2009
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35 Retirement benefit obligations
The Group operates several occupational pension schemes for its employees. These schemes are a combination of defined benefit,  
defined contribution and third-party defined benefit schemes. 

a Schemes accounted for on a defined contribution basis 
The Legal and General GPP Scheme, Parkman Defined Contribution Scheme and the Parkman Ireland Pension Scheme (DC section)  
are defined contribution schemes. Upon the acquisition of HBS Business Services Group Limited and Hedra plc the Group became 
responsible for their defined contribution schemes. 

Some employees who transferred to the Group under the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations (1981) as 
amended (TUPE) remain members of their previous schemes, which are pre-funded defined benefit schemes. Where under the terms  
of the contracts, the defined benefit liability effectively remains with the relevant council, the Group accounts for these schemes as defined  
contribution schemes. Cash contributions are recognised as pension costs and no asset or liability is shown on the balance sheet.

b Schemes accounted for on a defined benefit basis – third-party schemes
MBS have admitted body status in the Teesside pre-funded defined benefit scheme, as employees of MBS who were previously employed 
by the local council remain members of the Teesside Pension Fund. The assets and liabilities of this scheme are identified under retirement 
benefit obligations on the balance sheet and disclosed as third-party schemes in section d overleaf.

c Schemes accounted for on a defined benefit basis – Group schemes
The Mouchel Business Services Limited Pension Scheme (MBS), the Mouchel Superannuation Fund (MSF) and the Mouchel Staff  
Pension Scheme (MSPS) are funded defined benefit schemes and are disclosed as Group schemes in section d overleaf. For the three 
principal defined benefit schemes that the Group is now responsible for, the future liabilities for benefits are provided for by the accumulation 
of assets held externally to the Group in separate, trustee-administered funds. The cost of these schemes is determined in accordance  
with the advice of independent, professionally qualified actuaries on the basis of formal actuarial valuations using the projected unit  
credit method. In line with normal business practice these valuations are undertaken on a triennial basis.

All schemes are closed to new entrants except for employees transferring to the Group under TUPE, where the Group is required to provide 
benefits which are broadly comparable to those provided under the Local Government Pension Scheme or another defined benefit scheme 
provided by the transferring employer. 

Given the membership of the schemes, under the projected unit credit method the current service cost would be expected to increase as 
the members of the scheme approach retirement. 

The most recent full actuarial valuations for all of the schemes took place in March 2007.

The key assumptions used in valuing the retirement benefit obligation at the end of the year were:
        2009 2008
        % %

Discount rate       6.0/6.0 6.6/6.5
Expected rate of increase in pensionable salaries      3.0/3.3 5.6/5.3
Expected rate of increase in pensions in payment      3.2/3.3 3.6/3.8
Expected rate of price inflation       3.3/3.3 3.6/3.8

Note: Data for Group schemes is given first, followed by data for third-party schemes.
        2009 2008
        Years  Years

Life expectancy at age 65:  
– current pensioners: male       87.0/87.0 87.0/87.0
 female       89.9/89.9 89.8/89.8
– future pensioners: male       88.1/88.1 88.1/88.1
 female       90.9/90.9 90.9/90.9

Note: Data for Group schemes is given first, followed by data for third-party schemes.
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35 Retirement benefit obligations (continued)
c Schemes accounted for on a defined benefit basis – Group schemes (continued)
The sensitivity associated with these assumptions is as follows:
 Effect on deficit
       Mouchel Group MBS Group Third-party
       schemes scheme schemes
      Change £000 £000 £000

Discount rate     –/+ 0.1% +/– 3,900 +/– 1,300 +/– 1,100
Expected rate of price inflation     –/+ 0.1% –/+ 3,400 –/+ 1,200 –/+ 1,100
Life expectancy     –/+ 1 year –/+ 5,700 –/+ 1,300 –/+ 2,400

The trustees of each scheme determine the investment strategy for the assets held by the scheme, in consultation with the principal employer.

The expected return on the scheme assets in the forthcoming year is as follows:
         %

Equities        8.8/8.8
Bonds, gilts and cash        4.9/3.0
Property        6.8/6.8

Note: Data for Group schemes is given first, followed by data for third-party schemes.

d Defined benefit pension schemes
The amounts recognised in the balance sheet are as follows:
 Group  
      Group Third-party  
      schemes schemes Total Total
      2009 2009 2009  2008
      £000 £000 £000  £000 

Equities     141,161 40,299 181,460 186,881
Bonds and gilts     64,495 5,458 69,953 62,759
Cash     7,664 3,469 11,133 14,742
Property     4,744 1,786 6,530 10,049
Unpaid contributions     (857) – (857) (636)

Fair value of plan assets     217,207 51,012 268,219 273,795
Present value of obligations     (272,098) (56,408) (328,506) (308,356)

Liability in the balance sheet     (54,891) (5,396) (60,287) (34,561)

Current liability     (857) – (857) (636)
Non-current liability     (54,034) (5,396) (59,430) (33,925)

Total liability in the balance sheet as above    (54,891) (5,396) (60,287) (34,561)

Movements in the defined benefit obligation are as follows: 
      Group Third-party  
      schemes schemes Total Total
      2009 2009 2009  2008
      £000 £000 £000  £000 

Retirement benefit obligations at the beginning of the year   (247,583) (60,773) (308,356) (188,670)
Retirement benefit obligations at date of acquisition    – – – (115,273)
Service cost     (6,076) (1,658) (7,734) (8,120)
Interest cost     (16,572) (3,987) (20,559) (17,419)
Employee contributions     (2,936) (605) (3,541) (3,568)
Benefits paid     9,082 1,081 10,163 8,916
Movement in unpaid contributions at the year-end    – – – (149)
Actuarial (loss)/gain     (8,013) 9,534 1,521 15,927

Retirement benefit obligation at the end of the year   (272,098) (56,408) (328,506) (308,356)

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 July 2009
(continued)
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Movements in the fair value of plan assets are as follows: 
      Group Third-party  
      schemes schemes Total Total
      2009 2009 2009 2008
      £000 £000 £000  £000 

Plan assets at the beginning of the year     219,821 53,974 273,795 170,666
Plan assets at date of acquisition     – – – 101,987
Expected return on plan assets     17,007 4,198 21,205 20,337
Employee contributions     2,936 605 3,541 3,568
Company contributions     13,955 1,443 15,398 25,452
Benefits paid     (9,082) (1,081) (10,163) (8,916)
Actuarial loss     (27,430) (8,127) (35,557) (39,299)

Plan assets at the end of the year     217,207 51,012 268,219 273,795

      Group Third-party  
      schemes schemes Total Total
      2009 2009 2009  2008
      £000 £000 £000  £000 

Current service cost     6,076 1,658 7,734 8,120
Interest cost     16,572 3,987 20,559 17,419
Expected return on plan assets     (17,007) (4,198) (21,205) (20,337)

Total recognised in the Income Statement    5,641 1,447 7,088 5,202

The principal employer, after consulting with the actuaries, has agreed with the trustees of each of the schemes appropriate recovery plans.

Of the amount recognised in the Income Statement, £767,000 (2008: £805,000) has been included in administrative expenses and 
£6,967,000 (2008: £7,315,000) has been included in cost of sales. The net amount of interest income of £21,205,000 (2008: £20,337,000) 
and interest cost of £20,559,000 (2008: £17,419,000) has been included in finance income.

The expected contributions payable to all defined benefit schemes for the forthcoming year is £17,581,000.

Actuarial gains and losses recognised in the Statement of Recognised Income and Expense are as follows:
   
      Group Third-party  
      schemes schemes Total Total
      2009 2009 2009 2008
      £000 £000 £000  £000 

Actual return less expected return on pension scheme assets   (27,430) (8,127) (35,557) (39,298)
Experience gains and losses arising on scheme liabilities   – – – (6,524)
Effect of changes in assumptions on the present value of scheme liabilities  (8,013) 9,534 1,521 22,450
Deferred tax on movement in scheme deficits    7,596 (393) 7,203 6,586

Total recognised in the Statement of Recognised Income and Expense  (27,847) 1,014 (26,833) (16,786)

Cumulative actuarial losses recognised in the Statement of Recognised Income and Expense total £43,685,000 (2008: £9,649,000).

Five-year summary
The amounts recognised in the balance sheets are as follows:
     2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
     £000 £000 £000  £000  £000

Defined benefit obligation    (328,506) (308,356) (188,670) (200,847) (189,244)
Fair value of plan assets    268,219 273,795 170,666 152,556 137,713

Retirement benefit obligation    (60,287) (34,561) (18,004) (48,291) (51,531)

History of experience gains:
     2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

Experience gain/(loss) on scheme assets (£000)   (35,557) (39,298) 3,493 1,607 13,383
Percentage of scheme assets    (13.3)% (14.4)% 2.0% 1.1% 9.7%

Experience gain/(loss) on scheme liabilities (£000)   – (6,524) (833) 854 3,911
Percentage of scheme liabilities    0.0% 2.1% 0.4% (0.4)% (2.1)%

On 6 August 2007, the Group acquired HBS Business Services Group Limited and became responsible for their defined benefit schemes. 
Assets increased by £101,987,000 and the defined benefit obligation increased by £115,273,000 as a result.
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35 Retirement benefit obligations (continued)
e Defined contribution schemes 
Contributions to the defined contribution schemes are between 3% and 14% for the employer and between 2% and 10% for the employee. 
Contributions are dependent on age.

The pension charge for contributions payable to the defined contribution schemes was £10,070,000 (2008: £8,713,000).

36 Contingent liabilities
Contingent liabilities at 31 July 2009 in respect of guarantees and indemnities in the normal course of business totalled £26,997,000
(2008: £24,080,000).

In addition, bank overdrafts of subsidiaries were guaranteed at 31 July 2009 up to £5,907,000 (2008: £5,709,000); the amount overdrawn 
at that date being £nil (2008: £nil). These overdrafts are unsecured.

The Company and various of its subsidiaries are, from time to time, parties to legal proceedings and claims which arise in the ordinary 
course of business. Provisions are maintained by the Group having regard to the size and nature of the claims and the Group’s best 
estimate of the likely settlement. The Directors do not believe that the outcome of these proceedings, actions and claims, either individually 
or in aggregate, will have a materially adverse effect upon the Group’s financial position.

The Group has an unlimited intercompany composite guarantee between Mouchel Group plc, Mouchel Finance Limited, Mouchel Limited, 
Mouchel Ewan Limited, Mouchel Rail Limited, Mouchel Traffic Support Limited, Mouchel Holdings Limited and Mouchel Business Services 
Limited. This guarantee is in respect of the revolving credit facility detailed in note 21.

37 Post-balance sheet events
Dividends
The Directors are proposing a final dividend post year-end, details of which can be found in note 9.

38 Related party transactions
Group
The following transactions were undertaken with the joint venture entities to which the Group is party:    
        2009 2008
        £000 £000

Sales to joint venture entities       16,778 15,708 
Purchases from joint venture entities       222 1,863 
Net amount due to the Group at the year-end      8,468 7,502

Loans to related parties:
        2009 2008
        £000 £000

Balance at 1 August        1,144 1,479
Loans advanced during the period       2,846 3,580
Loan repayments received       (2,991) (3,926)
Interest charged on loans       4  11

Balance at 31 July        1,003 1,144

The loans to related parties are to joint venture companies.

The Group made contributions of £15,398,000 to the defined benefit pension schemes during the year (2008: £25,452,000).

No expense has been recognised in respect of bad or doubtful debts due from any joint ventures in the year ended 31 July 2009  
(2008: £nil) and no amount has been provided in relation to amounts outstanding at the year-end (2008: £nil).
 
Key management compensation is disclosed in note 6.

Company
During the year, the Company sold £13,297,000 (2008: £12,667,000) worth of goods and services to subsidiaries. These goods and 
services were in respect of providing management services, systems and offices to the subsidiaries. At the year-end, the Company owed 
£4,682,000 (2008: £6,083,000) to subsidiary undertakings and was owed £41,299,000 (2008: £38,308,000) by subsidiary undertakings. 

39 Corporate information
The Consolidated Financial Statements of Mouchel Group plc for the year ended 31 July 2009 were authorised for issue in accordance with  
a resolution of the Directors on 16 October 2009. Mouchel Group plc is a public limited company incorporated in England and Wales whose 
shares are publicly traded on the London Stock Exchange.

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 July 2009
(continued)
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Summarised Group Income Statement for the year ended 31 July

     2005 2006 20072 20083 20094

     £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Group revenue    308,021 374,020 448,381 656,743 740,550
   
Underlying operating profit1    21,174 26,774 32,974 41,715 47,325
Net finance income/(costs)    (241) 592 (584) (2,952) (7,269)

Underlying profit before tax1    20,933 27,366 32,390 38,763 40,056
Exceptional items (net)    (457) (919) 15,742 (12,450) (53,562)

(Loss)/profit before tax    20,476 26,447 48,132 26,313 (13,506)

     
Underlying operating margin1    6.9% 7.2% 7.4% 6.4% 6.4% 
Effective tax rate1    31.3% 29.9% 29.0% 26.7% 26.0%
Adjusted earnings per share1    13.5p 17.8p 21.0p 25.7p 26.4p

Summarised Group balance sheet as at 31 July
     
     2005 2006 2007 2008 2009
     £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Non-current assets    61,400 63,940 107,519 229,966 223,763
Current assets    115,051 134,629 141,364 219,176 235,459
Current liabilities    (73,496) (77,737) (111,057) (133,719) (140,428)
Non-current liabilities    (54,780) (51,358) (27,518) (196,533) (251,583)

Total equity    48,175 69,474 110,308 118,890 67,211

1  Underlying operating profit, underlying profit before tax, underlying operating margins, effective tax rate and adjusted earnings per share all exclude those items which the Group 
presents as exceptional items in the accounts – see note 3 of the Financial Statements for full details. Exceptional items include charges for the annual amortisation of intangible 
assets arising from business combinations of £457,000 in 2005, £919,000 in 2006, £2,448,000 in 2007, £5,651,000 in 2008 and £7,361,000 in 2009.

2  In addition to the annual amortisation of intangible assets arising from business combinations detailed above, exceptional items in 2007 included a net gain arising on retirement 
benefit changes of £18,190,000. 

3  In addition to the annual amortisation of intangible assets arising from business combinations detailed above, there were further exceptional costs of £6,799,000 in 2008.  
These costs principally comprised integration and transition costs arising as a result of acquisitions. The integration of the acquired companies resulted in a small number  
of staff redundancies, the closure of a loss making business and other transition costs. 

4  In addition to the annual amortisation of intangible assets arising from business combinations detailed above, exceptional items in 2009 included impairment of goodwill  
and intangible assets arising from business combinations of £17,141,000. A further £32,874,000 was incurred in respect of restructuring costs and asset impairment charges. 
The Group completed the sale of its freehold property in the year, giving rise to a net exceptional gain of £3,814,000. 
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Shareholder Information

Mouchel Group plc
Registered in England and Wales
Company number: 95369

Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
1 Embankment Place
London WC2N 6RH

Financial Advisors and Joint Brokers
RBS Hoare Govett
250 Bishopsgate
London EC2M 4AA

Joint Brokers
JPMorgan Cazenove Limited
20 Moorgate
London EC2R 6DA

Lawyers
Freshfields Bruckhaus Deringer LLP
65 Fleet Street
London EC4Y 1HS

Financial PR
Finsbury
Tenter House
45 Moorfields
London EC2Y 9AE

Registrars
Equiniti
Aspect House
Spencer Road 
Lancing
West Sussex BN99 6DA

Group Company Secretary and Registered Office
Amanda Massie
Mouchel
Export House
Cawsey Way
Woking, Surrey
GU21 6QX

E-communications
As an alternative to receiving documents through the post, Mouchel 
offers shareholders the option to receive communications from the 
Company electronically.

Please register with www.shareview.com and follow the instructions
on screen.

If you require assistance with Shareview, please contact our 
Registrars, Equiniti, on 0871 384 2651.

ShareGift
If you hold only a few shares and feel that it would be uneconomical  
or not worthwhile to sell them, you could consider giving them to 
charity. ShareGift is a free service for shareholders wishing to give 
small holdings of shares to charitable causes. There are no capital 
gains tax implications on gifts of shares to charity and it is also possible 
to obtain income tax relief.

Further information can be obtained at www.sharegift.org or from 
our Registrars, Equiniti.

Duplicate accounts
If you receive two or more copies of the Annual Report and 
Accounts and/or multiple cheques for each dividend payment,  
it means that you have more than one shareholder account.

To receive just one Annual Report and Accounts and one  
cheque for each dividend payment, please contact Equiniti on  
0871 384 2651 and ask for your accounts to be amalgamated.

Individual Savings Accounts (ISAs)
Single Company ISAs (both Maxi and Mini) for Mouchel are 
available from Equiniti. Further information and brochures may  
be obtained by calling 0870 600 3970.

Financial calendar
Ex-dividend date  21 October 2009
Record date 23 October 2009
Final dividend payment date 18 December 2009

Unsolicited investment advice
Be wary if you receive unsolicited phone calls regarding your 
Mouchel shares. While some communications may be genuine, 
others may be an example of a ‘boiler room fraud’ specifically 
designed to elicit monies from you by convincing you to buy 
overpriced, untradable or non-existent shares.

To reduce the potential risk of fraud happening to you, please 
consider the following:

•  If you are buying or selling shares, only deal with brokers registered  
in the UK. 

• Ensure all your certificates are kept in a safe place. 
•  Keep all correspondence from the Registrars which contains  

your shareholder reference number in a safe place. Destroy 
correspondence by shredding. 

•  If you change your address inform the Registrars. If you receive  
a letter from the Registrars regarding a change of address and  
have not recently moved house, please contact them immediately.  
You may be the victim of identity theft. 

•  Know when the dividends are paid. Consider having your 
dividend paid directly into your bank to reduce the risk of cheques 
being intercepted or lost in the post. If you change your bank 
account, inform the Registrar of the details of your new account. 
Respond to any letters the Registrar sends you about this.
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Mouchel is a consulting and business 
services group that improves the 
day-to-day lives of millions of people  
by providing many of the design, 
management and operational skills 
needed to maintain our essential 
infrastructure and services.

Our aims are to deliver better quality 
public services; to improve the way in 
which public infrastructure is planned, 
designed, constructed and operated;  
to play a part in creating the sort of 
communities in which people want to live; 
and to make a positive and sustainable 
difference through what we do.

We go the extra mile – and more – to do 
the right thing for our clients, lead the 
way in our markets, keep our promises  
to our people and make a fair return for 
our investors. 

Company number: 95369

Designed and produced by The College www.thecollege.uk.com 
 
Illustrations by Patrick Morgan
 
The paper used in this Report is Cocoon Offset, comprising of 100% (FSC) 
recycled fibres sourced entirely from post consumer waste.
 
Printed in the UK by Empress Litho using vegetable based inks which have lower 
VOC (Volatile Organic Compounds) emissions, are derived from renewable 
sources and less hazardous than oil-based inks. The printer is ISO 14001 
accredited and Forest Stewardship Council (FSC) chain of custody certified. 
Under the framework of ISO 14001 a structured approach is taken by the 
company to measure, improve and audit their environmental status on an 
ongoing basis. FSC ensures there is an audited chain of custody from the tree in 
the well-managed forest through to the finished document in the printing factory.
 
The Report is available on our website: www.mouchel.com

If you have finished reading the Report and no longer wish to retain it please 
pass it to interested readers, return it to Mouchel or dispose of it in your 
recycled paper waste.
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